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Asiaray Media Group Limited (the “Company”) (H ) k Code: 1993) isan
outstanding out-of-home media company with a Strategic focus on airport, metro *
line and high speed rail advertising. We are also one of two out-of-home resources =

companies operating in the metro lines segment in Hong Kong. With an extensive R

nationwide network of media resources covering more than 40 cities in Greater China,

we leverage on the well-developed space management model to deliver integrated;—
~“creative out-of-home media solutions to aq_\ig_r_t_i_s;gr custemers; ‘Sfﬂ'\?irig to build a closer

connection with the general public.
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ASIARAY AT A GLANCE

HRKERES
EBNFH
The year we
started our
advertising
business

1993
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&
1,100*

Employees

i 3n: 2B
B HY
2019FBER
Air passenger traffic of
Asiaray’s exclusive airport
resources in 2019

309:!

MILLION
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407

BEWMNEE
Cities where we
have operations

+ EZE20209F3A278
As at 27 March 2020

BXASTREREN
U 88 A2 R
Metro lines with exclusive
concession rights

197

BRAFEFAEE S
(BfEEE=DRE
B PR M35 25 A U A )

Airports with exclusive
concession rights
(including Sanya Phoenix
International Airport Terminal 2)
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MEDIA NETWORK

Urumgi B8R K

BEREEA

Cross—Boundary Transport Hub

&

His
Airport
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Hh 4842 Xi'an BZ K

Metro Line

BERRRERIZES
Billboard and Building Solution

Hubei #dt%& K/
Yichang HE&
B+ Wuhan EZ

Bus /
I@ Yunnan  ZEFEE K W+
Kunming 28
Dali KIE
BEEFARAE Mangshi B

Key Account Office Bagshan ol Chengdu P K
Pu'er EE
& Zhaotong RRE
@0 Lincang oy
Lijiang BL
Tengchong i)
Diging i) =) Guangxi Btz BRE K
Xishuangbanna 7§ iz 4% Nanning 752
Wenshan 3 Guilin 1A
Luguhu T Liuzhou  #p4
Cangyuan BIR Beihai it
Lancang A
Singapore 714 G g
*As at 27 March 2020 \

*BE20206F3H27H

**The KMB/LWB operation will be started in July 2020
N B/REED T EBERN202057 ALK
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OUR PHILOSOPHY
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JiigEs

SPACE MANAGEMENT

We view ourselves as the managers of the space, which distinguishes us from the traditional

“Buy Wholesale, Sell Retail” approach in media resource distribution.

Our well-developed space management approach enables us to create value for our advertising customers,
media resources owners and passengers.

Advertising customer — enhance the overall impact of the advertisement
Media resource owner — enhance the overall ambience and optimize the commercial value
Passenger — extend beyond the visual to stimulate senses of smell, touch, hearing and taste,

making up an exuberant journey

Estee Lauder
IS i B8

Airport Media Resources

Lancome
HeiS e R

Airport Media Resources
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52

NIKE

RERIZES
Building Solution

ZEER - WIFRE
Emporio Armani
BRER (FBR)

High Speed Railway (Hong Kong Section)
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YAHOO

LEDRE
LED Screen

ABIRRAE (FgOF)
Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge
(Zhuhai-Macau Boundary-Crossing
Artificial Island)
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2EE

Country Garden
U R E IR

Metro Media Resources

Huawei BN LM e
KB IHRBER - :

Airport Media

Resources

;:].z'g
22
Diesel

BELiiREER
Bus Shelter
Media Resources
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AERER
EVENTS OF THE YEAR

FEE1BIAIRBRES
HE e o K QT K 42
B[ 2 KREE] -
Honoured nine
awards including

the “"Annual Grand
Prix Awards” at the

g , DN %y
= BB E 14RO IR R B R A R M BUEBS R IEE ERBR 19th 1Al International
i o g o Advertising Awards.
Obtained exclusive operation rights on Obtained exclusive operation rights
media resources of Beijing Metro Line 14. on media resources of Wenzhou Metro
n BOXHHESEAEE - Line S1. m AN 5 5R AR IE R
Haikou Meilan Airport has been duly IEE RIS T LE o i e
operated. Qionghai Boao Airport has been duly Hangzhou Metro
operated. Line 5 has been duly
launched.
AUGUST
FEBRUARY
ZHhsany Bl - BREREARIS 15
R BN \ | W) N TERENEEERE
: 2 Obtained exclusive

operation rights on
media resources of
Terminal 1 of Kunming
Airport again.

m REH EIRRABINE RO FKE

wENE] -

Successfully held the media promotion

conference of the Zhuhai Highway Port = fEThe Spark Awards

of Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge. HPEEMEERFME &

BRI R o

Honoured the Gold
and Bronze Awards in
two categories of The
Spark Awards.
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BB ES R - RBFROEE
Obtained operation rights on media
resources of Singapore MRT Thomson
— East Coast Line.

R I EiRubicon Project & EZ=AIZFIE

JEIR X ED S 7 BB BAIRE - B AR ERNE B R
*%%@r‘@f?ﬂ%@ I3 B BRSO 5 B D SRR B T A
HVREE BRI EHE o TEFIEMEE -

Obtained operation BENEREEEL Completed a programmatic

rights on media @?%ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ% transformation project with Rubicon
resources in the %%ﬁ; ° ‘ Project, enabling Asiaray to

arrival area of Obtaln.ed e.xcluswe programmatically trade its Digital Out-of-
Chengdu Shuangliu operation rights on Home (DOOH) display and video inventory
International Airport. media resources of KMB across Hong Kong and Singapore.

I A B S T 5t A% o and LWB buses.

Beijing Daxing Airport has been duly
operated.

10A 12H 2R

FEBRUARY

OCTOBER DECEMBER

HISETRTKRE B
eI A A ERBEARER - .,
Secured Ant Financial
as a strategic

Eoredoto R

Corporate Achievement Award

’A5|aray ﬁASIah | shareholder through
the Compl‘?ti?” of ERTSG—HNERBERBRCERE -
the subscription Obtained exclusive operation rights on
agreement. media resources of MTR Tuen Ma Line
Phase 1.

= RNES EHOREARE2019 - B
BIFTHE] -
Won the "Outstanding Import & Export

Enterprise Awards 2019 — Corporate
Achievement Award”.

n BERERAEERENETHRBEREEHE -

Obtained operation rights on media

resources of the buses of Kunming

. e Ai E .
A T HERTYENERE |BlAME Iport Express

MIER -
Became the founding organization and
secretariat of “China Urban Influence Lab”.
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RIARSKE

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

FEMXEHERER

WINNING TWO PROMINENT AWARDS

1A BB &5 88

IAl International Advertising Awards

R EEREAE . 88 R R BEEHEEE
Won 9 Awards Including Annual Grand Prix, Gold Award,
Silver Award, Bronze Award, Excellence Award

m EEEL2ESEER  ERARAERNEHEISE
BIRR R 2 B B ERPITE - HhaEERAE
H¥EH%E BAYENNERE  PEESRRES
BES R WNES(AE)BAK08A
Participated in 15 international and national advertising
showcase awards with strong recognition in the industry,
including the internationally renowned ECI Awards, the
influential ROl Festival and China Advertising Great-wall
Award, etc., and won more than 90 gold, silver, bronze
and outstanding (shortlisted) awards.

o B % 5 1% 18 Y+ ) 5F L it 8%
China Advertising 40th Anniversary Awards
KR T ARSABEYENEHERD ]
W AT EESEYEERER
Won “Top 10 Most Influential Marketing Cases”,
Listed in the Collection of “Advertising Museum of China”

L EL LT
GROUP CHAIRMAN'’S
RECOGNITIONS

 BRESHENE
Member of International Advertising Association
R ARENLHEEEZBENE
Member of the Basic Law Promotion Steering Committee
n EERFIAEAIASER
Chairman of HKMMCCI
" PETESHEEABME - LETESHE
Individual Contribution Award of Shanghai Advertising
Association - Shanghai Advertising Association
n RERAAGKE
Member of the Cultural Tourism Experts Association
m AR RS RERTZ
Expert Judge of International Advertising Awards
= FEEREERIRTE
Expert Judge of Shanghai International
Advertising Awards
B ERRGART  ARIT201943A16H - 10A6H
Ry (hEBE)
Interviewed by CCTV on “Xinwen Lianbo” on 16 March
and 6 October, 2019

HAEEEEEBERAT 2019 3] 14

e B3
GROUP AWARDS

ERORRAR2019(FHAFER) - BETELELODE
Outstanding Import & Export Enterprise Awards 2019
(Corporate Achievement Award) — The Hong Kong
Chinese Importers & Exporters Association

 BEREEHARBRB(RRIAAR) - REEHEES
Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence
- Excellence Award (Media and Communication Category)
- Environmental Campaign Committee

" PETESMERTEM(LERLSE) - LETESHE
Shanghai Advertising Association commendation unit
(Shanghai Asiaray) - Shanghai Advertising Association

= PR FIMEBA G EI5 R B KE
China OOH communication conference Metro
Scenario head media

= NEPIMEIER G IS5 KA
China OOH communication conference
Airport Scenario head media

» PEPIMERE RS+ RFT R348 - Radius Displaysi @&
LEDFF1E
Top 10 New Technology and New Media of China
OOH communication conference - Radius Displays
LED Screen Column



SERH
GROUP QUALIFICATIONS

®CNAA | (hEI-REE X)) ERRSE(LERLE)
CNAA | (Advertising Agency - Level 1) Media Service
(Shanghai Asiaray)

m CNAA | (B - ESHE) KEBREGE(ZRHELSE)
CNAA | (Advertising Agency - Level 1) Media Service
(Yunnan Asiaray)

= GB/T9001-2015/1SO9001:2015:R & & ( LR 4)
GB/T9001-2015/1SO9001:2015 International Certificate
of Registration (Shanghai Asiaray)

n B ORI
Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification

B EETELHR(LEREE)

Famous Trademark in Shanghai (Shanghai Asiaray)

" ERE( ERELSE)

Renowned Brand in Shanghai (Shanghai Asiaray)

n PEESREREEM( LERLE)

China Advertising Association Council Members
(Shanghai Asiaray)

D EEEGEENEREFEEM(LERILR)

China Advertising Association Standing Committee
Unit of Outdoor Committee (Shanghai Asiaray)

n DETESHEEBEEEL( ERLSE)

Standing Member of the Outdoor Advertising Committee
of Shanghai Advertising Association (Shanghai Asiaray)

n TR ENERENEREN
Secretary General Unit of China Urban Influence Lab

AR ENERERIFEEN
Deputy Director Unit of China Enterprise Influence Lab

u %E?ﬁﬂEﬁﬁ_ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@@]@ﬁﬁfﬁ
- hEtgRNEREREHE
Vice President Unit of the Child Welfare and Protection Council
- China Association of Social Welfare and Senior Service

FHIRIF
CAMPAIGN AWARDS

m EREERE - REPIBIFESE
RIEERPE PN
The Spark Awards - Best Outdoor Innovation Gold Award,
Best Media Campaign Out-Of-Home Bronze Award
B HE - BAR
ECI Awards — Bronze Award, Merit Award
mEIRE - AR
ROI Festival - Finalist
m TopDigital 1375 - IZTHIAEE - ]2 - 52
TopDigital Innovation Awards - Innovation Award,
Silver Award, Bronze Award
B RIBEEMN - RRELEDSSRIF M TR R - i1 - BFE
GREAT-WALL “PHOENIX" - Best LED Scene Innovation
Technology Award, Bronze Award, Merit Award
" SERBHEOIL - S BE . G
OOH Contextual Marketing Award - Gold Award,
Silver Award, Bronze Award
n REAMEE R - (EA
Public Advertising Huanghe Awards - Merit Award
m iTEME AN - RAT - AT . IR
MAWARDS - Silver Award, Bronze Award, Finalist
m BREER - R R BEFHE
MAD Awards — Silver Award, Bronze Award, Merit Award
n LEERESS - @ AER
Shanghai International Advertising Awards
— Bronze Award, Finalist
= L RERAIEE - £ - RU . A ERS
Beijing International Creative Awards — Gold Award,
Silver Award, Bronze Award, Merit Award

SRERIF
GROUP AWARDS

m HEEAR - AEE
China Benefit Corporation - Finalist

= 2019FBEPHMESZR(BGEAEBRANBEERSER)
- RS EEERRAA
2019 The Best Outdoor Advertising in China (Ultra Thin
Single-sided Advertising Light Box with the Largest Area
of Airport) - Shenzhen Airport Asiaray Media Company
Limited

= 2019 EIFINES  R(RRHSRHEBFINEEES)
- BERCEREERATF
2019 The Best Outdoor Advertising in China (The Earliest

Outdoor Advertising Light Box of Duty Free Airport)
- Hainan Asiaray Company Limited

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2019 Annual Report 15
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RElA

COMBINED REVENUE
Hﬁéir%n{_ﬁion

18784 7520 MR

2019
I 7 I VK] 2,799. 7
2018

m EEEHUWA Group's consolidated revenue  ® EE AT A Associate companies’ revenue

Ket#lR RIR - -HERMHWHERF
EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAX,
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

BEATT
HKD million
2019
2018
REESRAE2EIUA
REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY OPERATING SEGMENT
Eﬁiﬁion
219.8 1,878.4
2019
226.3 1,928.9
2018

m 35 Airports m #hEEBERREEE Metro Lines & Billboards Hfth Others

HAEEEEEBERAT 2019 3] 16



EREBE

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

¥ EE
RAAZBBREARFIREMBAR (5 [ 1
g sk [ARNEE )EZ2019F 124318 1EF
EREFEELE -

BE—F 2REEARETEEZEME
BRE BREIHERRECBERNE - &
BORAEATHFHEHEMIIERY
& yEBAFHKE K - A HAEEER
EES CENPINERBELRNERILRE
M2SEMBRENARERLR - KWEGFR
Ml aR R (TR RARBRE) - BEF - &
PRZ T EERERE - BREREENERN
MRERBTHREEEZRMIIARBIRE
ERBESRANRERES - BBEOXH
WERIBSEERSNREERE - RMR
EENSRAESMARYS - RIBSHBEERY
BE - A hkEMNER(BEESEEAER)A
FXRHEY - BOXHBRESEZEEEAR
BRRENTIENH 2 - RRBRIBARK
ERHEFANERBALE - HFTFER
BOXHHENEE2EOEE RBERRK
BR(FHNEEHERSBRB)NER - FAR
MERNEEEZSHHEENARNHEEX
FoBEBOXMRSREOBFENETR
ROFIEE 22— HEUERMREANVNFERE
FE o REBEDERIBRE AR KIEE N
FHREFRSNN  REBEFENRES MR
TTHBEEZA45.08 88T - HAIR(E &
BERAMMBIRN RS FROK - BER
FAHEERREREE - BEMISES -

BUSINESS REVIEW

| wish to hereby present the annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Asiaray” or the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Over the past year, global economic conditions have
remained erratic owing to the US-China trade war,
compounded by various uncertainties. In Hong Kong,
conditions were further impacted by social unrest in
the second half year that led to a drop in MTR revenue.
Nonetheless, leveraging our indomitable spirit, extensive
out-of-home media network, and depth of experience that
comes from operating in the industry for over 25 years,
we managed to generate modest revenue growth, when
excluding depreciation of the renminbi. Moreover, we
have achieved breakthroughs on several fronts, spanning
the advancement of our pioneering Online and Offline
("O&0O") New Media operations and the introduction of
the strategic investor Ant Financial to the expansion of our
media portfolio. In securing the media resources at Haikou
Meilan Airport and Qionghai BoAo Airport, we now have
coverage of all the airports in Hainan Island. Under the
Hainan Offshore Duty-free Policy, domestic and foreign
visitors including residents of Hainan province are able to
enjoy duty-free shopping. Haikou Meilan Airport is one of
the major locations on the Island that includes duty-free
shops and is under a provincial state-owned enterprise,
with permit for the sale of duty free goods. We see the
Haikou Meilan Airport as also significant in enriching our
comprehensive network, and facilitating future growth
especially in the area of duty free products. The advertising
of such duty free products is supported by strong sales
generated from the venues. Even though Haikou Airport
was among the new projects that underwent ramp-up
during the review year, such impact on our performance
will be temporary. The Group remains in a healthy financial
position, and has achieved a net cash position for the
sixth consecutive year, with total cash and bank balances
amounting to HKD445.0 million as at the review year. We
trust that the combination of our strong financial position
and accomplishments made over the years will enable us
to seize upcoming developments opportunities, including
market consolidation.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2019 Annual Report 17



FREE  CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EHEMITRER

REBFE - FAPIR K [ B A0 &/ #F
BEBREARERINEEERER(GTHE37
E#5 - BFE30EE®S N EE =EREEEK
5 MRV BRI ERE) - URR
191 EAR - S RER(FER) RBKEKX
BOREBOR)EFEBERNBREIFRE
B WRBEREGREZSHRHT - MAB
FRERIZRERR HXERERES AL
EENERBENNREBERRALTHRS
BNEN - BEEBEAN [ZHEE IR
CENAARBREESERNAE  WHEEH
EHAFENEBRREER - BBERN
Hh o WA B ERFIBERE  BREAR
FHEREBUAEHETEHIE - ZEAH
BT 71 A] 38 7 P9 A AT H AT 44 R NIKE B 3 /9
HEF - ¥ The Spark Awards 20195 51|7&
MREIFTPIINEHRB @ R R REPINER
TR B g

RARERRE

BH—ERETEER  URNEFRES—
AR B THREAMEEBNE - X
RIFIE R LB - BENDEHESNE S
B BAIRE INREE R R E IR B ([ FERR
RBEERDEFE R - RERRGER2020
FIANEERFARER)WESEFFREHE -
BRIRERES - R Y% SRR
RAFOEN - BREERER ERR TR
EREEMEBRETS HMEABERAE
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Bagn T BEA o thAT > RASEARH
MR HERARA D MEREILIRE - A
BRREATPIINREMSIERSE - LBH
ZREBEN [EMERIER  BFEE
BRBERTREARERE TR RN
B NEESENPINESIER -
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A leader through and through

As at the review year, we held exclusive concession rights
to operate media resources covering more than 40 cities
in Greater China, with 37 airports (including exclusive
concession rights at 30 airports and the Sanya Phoenix
International Airport Terminal 2 in Hainan), and exclusive
concession rights to mainstream media resources at 19
metro lines, the High Speed Rail (Hong Kong Section)
and the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge (Zhuhai Port).
This network of media resources covers the full range of
city tiers. By capitalizing on our unique organic growth
strategy, our professional management team has been able
to utilize this valuable network of resources to enhance
overall performance and raise profitability continuously.
And combined with our distinct “Space Management”
approach, ample experience in public transport advertising
and capacity to innovate, this amalgamation will result in
sustainable growth in business and revenue. Apart from
financial growth, this amalgamation has already allowed
us to earn numerous honors, ranging from internationally
renowned accolades to major Chinese awards. Testaments
to the success of our approaches can further be found in
campaigns we developed for Coca-Cola and NIKE, which
garnered Gold and Bronze awards from The Spark Awards
2019, for best outdoor innovation and best OOH media
campaign respectively.

Increasing breadth and depth

Always at the vanguard of industry developments, we
have achieved another breakthrough in the past year,
stepping outside of our strongholds in Mainland China and
Hong Kong and establishing a beachhead in Singapore.
Capitalizing on our extensive background in metro
advertising, we secured advertising concession rights
with Singapore Land Transport Authority (“LTA") for the
Thomson-East Coast Line, which will open in stages starting
in January 2020. Unlike traditional advertising, we will adopt
a more innovative approach along the metro line, including
the use of a digital media platform that aligns with our online
and offline ("O&0O") strategy. This important milestone
is set to serve as the launching pad for our development
outside Greater China, including major hubs along the
Belt and Road. Before such time, we will be leveraging
the concession agreement in Singapore to buildout our
presence in the niche market, followed by the grasping
of opportunities in the OOH media market in Southeast
Asia. This will call for the promotion of our unique “Space
Management” approach, extensive media resources network
and capacity to seamlessly integrate O&O solutions that
culminate in exceptional OOH advertising campaigns.
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Aside from growing our business footprint, we have been
exploring different opportunities to expand our arsenal of
advertising mediums. In 2018, we entered a new frontier by
winning the exclusive media resources for the High Speed
Rail (Hong Kong Section) and the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao
Bridge (Zhuhai Port). And in 2019, we entered another
new frontier through the awarding of media resources
by The Kowloon Motor Bus Co. (“"KMB") and Long Win
Bus Company Limited (“LWB"). Since 2008, when we first
entered the metro media market, we have been building
a major metro media network in the region, on top of the
airport media network that we have been constructing since
1993. We look forward to building still more extensive media
networks for the high speed rail, major transport hubs and
bus lines in the coming years.

Allies and allegiances

Yet another accomplishment worthy of note involves the
diversification of our shareholder base, which has always
been our interest since the Group was listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong stock exchange back in 2015. We
are particularly pleased that Ant Financial has elected to be
a strategic shareholder of Asiaray. Ant Financial has a strong
foundation established in the online realm, underpinned
by their hallmark product Alipay, a well-known payment
gateway in Mainland China, hence a perfect complement to
Asiaray’s extensive offline resources. We and Ant Financial
are exploring opportunities for cooperation in innovative out
of home advertising.

Also in relation to fruitful ties, | am pleased to note that the
Group completed a programmatic transformation project
subsequent to the review year. Involving Rubicon Project,
one of the world’s largest advertising exchanges, Asiaray
will therefore be able to programmatically trade its DOOH
display and video inventory with advertisers in Hong Kong
and Singapore. This marks another significant breakthrough
for the Group and the industry, revolutionizing the OOH
buying model. We will duly leverage this cooperative tie
to offer more tailored campaigns, facilitating the creation
of content that achieves all-round success for advertisers,
consumers and Asiaray.
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Pioneering Online & Offline (O&0O) new media

Asiaray is a firm believer that the future of media lies in a
combination of O&O, with offline being OOH media. Hence
over the years we have been a pioneer in exploring different
combinations of this O&O strategy, leading to tremendous
success in terms of winning various awards and delivering
excellent results to advertisers. Now with the arrival of our
new shareholder, Ant Financial, we will be able to remain
at the vanguard of efforts in creating O&O new media: the
next frontier in advertising. Armed with the expertise of the
two parties, we are well on the way to delivering innovative
advertising solutions that capture the public’s imagination
and create new possibilities for advertisers.

Cause for concern and optimism

In the coming year, uncertainties about global economic
growth will likely rise. Despite concerns over China-US
trade tensions having moderated with the signing of a
phase 1 trade deal, the COVID-19 coronavirus outbreak has
introduced a new and potentially more significant negative
force, extending beyond the economic realm. Its impact will
likely be felt during the first half year, posing challenges
around the world, including the OOH market in Greater
China. Despite of this, we maintain the view that there are
opportunities amid the challenges, including prospects
arising from an acceleration in market consolidation.
Leveraging our strong business foundation, as well as
healthy net cash position, we are in a favorable position to
benefit from market adjustments, and will take the necessary
steps to achieve long-term growth. Having experienced
various economic cycles over 25 years of operation, we have
the essential components of diverse client mix, extensive
media resources and innovative advertising solutions that
will enable us to rise above whatever challenges which may
come.
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Our principal focus in the coming year will be on building
media resources at airports, metro lines and high speed
train stations. This will be paramount in ensuring that we
are fully prepared to capitalize on opportunities that arise
once the COVID-19 epidemic is under control. As public
desire to travel returns, there will invariably be an upturn
in infrastructure development. The Chinese Government
has already launched a new initiative that will bring forward
RMB 1.0 trillion in local government special bonds for
2020 to avert a sharper economic slowdown, and is to be
used to finance infrastructure projects. With the resultant
transportation infrastructure development boom, there will
be a rise in number of airports and metro lines, which will
in turn drive demand for OOH media coverage and create
greater opportunities for Asiaray. Opportunities are by no
means limited to Mainland China, as our increasingly strong
presence in Hong Kong will also be conducive to tapping
growth prospects. With the awarding of rights to operate
media resources at the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge
(Zhuhai Port) and High Speed Rail (Hong Kong Section),
as well as the recently secured rights to the MRT Tuen Ma
Line Phase 1 subsequent to the review year, our market
exposure has further grown. What is more, our cooperation
with KMB and LWB has added a new dimension to our
media resources. Armed with a wealth of media assets and
expansive network coving all city tiers in China, Hong Kong,
and now Singapore, together with outstanding DOOH
solutions, Asiaray is well-equipped to capture opportunities
in the coming year.

As we enter 2020, we will be fully committed to upholding
our corporate culture, which is based on our three core
values of Integrity, Excellence and Benevolence. At the
same time, we will build a cohesive and sustainable team,
leveraging the unique organic growth approach. This
will enable us to grow our business footprint and seize
opportunities for cooperation; resulting in synergies for
reinforcing Asiaray’s leading market position.

| would like to take this opportunity to thank the many
stakeholders of the Group for their support in enhancing
strategic cooperation with our partners. | would also like to
extend my appreciation to all staff members for their support
and diligence. The Group will continue to hone all facets of
operation, explore different business avenues, and capitalize
on sound management to sustain growth and create value
for its shareholders.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the macroeconomic
environment has remained challenging, owing to the Sino-
US trade war and economic slowdown in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Nonetheless, with the Group’s solid
business foundation and well developed network, it was
able to achieve stable revenue inflows, which amounted to
HKD1,878.4 million (2018: HKD1,928.9 million) even in the
face of challenging conditions. Excluding RMB depreciation,
the Group's revenue managed to record modest growth.
Due to the fluctuating business environment in the second
half of 2019, the Group recorded a gross profit of HKD397.8
million, with gross profit margin at 21.2%. Furthermore,
EBITDA (Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization) amounted to HKD808.7 million, representing
an increase of 312.6%. The combined revenue, which
provides a more concise representation of total business
scale by including consolidated revenue and revenue of
all associated companies, amounted to HKD2.630 billion
(2018: HKD2.799 billion). However, as several newly secured
project were still at a ramp-up phase during the review year,
including Haikou Meilan Airport, Beijing Metro Line 14,
Hangzhou Metro Line 5 and Wenzhou Metro Line, and the
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 16 Leases became
effective as of 1 January 2019, the combination of factors
led to an initial heavy impact on the Group's performance as
reflected by a loss of the Company of HKD108.7 million in
2019.

2019: Another milestone year

Despite the industry slowdown, the Group was still able
to outperform the peers through various breakthroughs,
including the Group’s expansion overseas, specifically
to Singapore through ties with Land Transport Authority
("LTA") involving the new Thomson East Coast Line (“TEL"),
as well as the recording of increased revenue from certain
existing projects, including Kunming Airport, Zhuhai Airport,
Urumgi Airport, Wuxi metro, Hangzhou metro, Hong Kong
billboards and High Speed Rail (Hong Kong Station).
Asiaray’s entry into the Singapore market, in particular, is a
significant milestone, and will enable the Group to benefit
from a first mover advantage that it will seek to capitalize on,
including the country’s strategic position along the One Belt
One Road route.
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Another breakthrough in 2019 involves the securing of
agreements between the Group and The Kowloon Motor Bus
Co. ("KMB") and Long Win Bus Company Limited (“"LWB"),
which will enable it to expand its footprint in Hong Kong
while tapping a new medium — bus advertising.

Aside from bolstering its depth and breadth of media
coverage, the Group entered into a subscription agreement
with a wholly owned subsidiary of 3T 5%/ ik & @l AR
EERMAR 27 (Ant Small and Micro Financial Services
Group Co., Ltd.*), ("Ant Financial”) - owner and operator of
the world’s leading payments and lifestyle platform Alipay.
Under this agreement, Ant Financial became a strategic
shareholder of Asiaray. Ant Financial has a solid online
presence while Asiaray has extensive offline resources. This
strategic move is expected to add value to both parties
as the future of Asiaray will depend on implementing and
maintaining an effective online and offline (“O&QO") strategy.
This will also enable the Group to explore cooperative
opportunities in fields that can generate synergies with the
Group's existing businesses.

With the Group’s years of experience in adopting O&O
strategy to its advertising solution, it has built a wide-
ranging project portfolio. Riding on the cooperation, the
Group officially launched its pioneer "O&0O new media”
strategy, which aims to further enrich its offline Out Of Home
(OOH) media base and provide comprehensive advertising
solutions. Already, several projects are currently underway.
With market consolidation opportunities ahead, these new
projects are expected to benefit subsequent to their ramp-
up period. At the same time, Asiaray will utilize proceeds
from the share subscription of Ant Financial to fund projects
in Mainland China and Singapore, as well as for general
working capital.

*  For identification purpose only
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Update of business segments

Metro lines and billboards

Over the past year, the Group has continued to direct
focus on increasing sales contributions from its existing
metro lines. However, affected by the weakened operation
environment, and a decline in revenue experienced by
its business partner, MTR Corporation Limited, which was
greatly affected by social unrest in Hong Kong in the second
half of 2019, as well as a shortfall faced by the Shenzhen
Metro Lines due to the negative impacted brought by
Sino-US trade war, revenue of this segment decreased to
HKD919.3 million (2018: HKD974.9 million), with segment
gross profit recorded at HKD136.7 million (2018: HKD184.3
million) and gross profit margin at 14.9%. Nevertheless, the
Group secured a number of new media resources during
the first half of 2019, including Beijing Metro Line 14, thus
expanding its business presence in the key transportation
hubs of Mainland China, particularly the Beijing-Tianjin-
Hebei region. This was followed by the addition of the
Wenzhou Metro Line S1 and Hangzhou Metro Line 5, which
will allow the Group to broaden the business presence in the
Yangtze River Delta. In the second half year, Asiaray secured
an advertising concession right with LTA of Singapore for the
Thomson-East Coast Line, which will commence operation
in January 2020. It has become the Group’s first business
foothold outside of Greater China. Asiaray has thus again
strengthened an already robust business network in the
Greater Bay Area, with media resource found at Shenzhen
Metro lines (No.3 and No.4), Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macau
Bridge (Zhuhai port), High Speed Rail (Hong Kong Section)
and several metro lines in Hong Kong.

With regard to the billboard operation, Asiaray has numbers
of media resources in Hong Kong, including at the Star
Ferry Carpark in Central, 1 Leighton Road, Laforet and Lin
Fook House in Causeway Bay, and Sim City in Mongkok.
During the review year, the Group has added several new
billboards, including some LED resources and building
wraps that are new mediums for the Group, and represent
more value-added media solutions for advertisers. Some of
the significant projects include 5 Canal Road, Firfort North
Point and 8 Russell Road. It is worth noting that the Group
also secured media resource of two billboards in Macau,
including the Emperor Nam Van Centre and Hotel Inn,
marking the first operation in Macau.
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Airport

Revenue from the airport media advertising business
has increased 1.6% to HKD739.3 million during the year.
Excluding the impact of RMB depreciation, segment growth
of 5.7% was recorded, which was attributed to the improved
performance of existing projects, including Yunnan airports,
Zhuhai Airport and Urumgqi Airport together with new
projects such as Haikou Airport and Beijing DaXing Airport,
which helped offset the discontinuation of the Hangzhou
airport. Gross profit margin of 29.4% was recorded, with
gross profit amounting to HKD217.3 million for the review
year. Following the strategic planning and subsequent
awarding of media resource at the first SKYTRAX five-star
airport in China, i.e. Haikou Meilan Airport, and the securing
of media resources at the Qionghai BoAo airport and Sanya
Phoenix International Airport Terminal 2, it now possesses
media resources covering the entire Hainan Island. With the
benefit of the offshore duty-free policy in Hainan Island,
Haikou Meilan Airport is one of the very few locations in the
Island operated under a provincial state-owned enterprise
with permit for duty free goods operation. In view of this
strategic location and its ability to enrich the comprehensive
network of the Group, as well as enable premium brands
tap advertising opportunities, the Group has placed
considerable effort on the advertising operation in the
Haikou area. Furthermore, the Group once again secured
the exclusive concession rights to continue operating media
resources in the Kunming Airport since its first operation in
2006, which is one of the 50 busiest airports in the world in
terms of passenger traffic. Although the new airport wins
are in their ramp-up period while the renewal of Kunming
Airport led to a short-term impact, these latest concession
rights will further strengthen the Group’s business presence
in South and Western China, and reinforce its leading
industry position in Greater China.

Innovative advertising solutions

During the past year, Asiaray has continued to deploy both
the online and offline strategies to maximize the impact of
its DOOH business, hence to provide integrating strategies
for a seamless audience experience. The O&O strategy
along with the programmatic DOOH platform are apparent
given its high level of flexibility and the capacity to deliver
measurable results. The programmatic aspect is also
appealing in that advertisers have complete access to all the
digital media resources and can readily book placements to
launch their advertising campaigns. It can provide a more
interactive advertising experience for the audience while
generating useful data to advertisers for analysis.
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In 2019, the advantages of our integrated O&O strategy
and existing programmatic DOOH platform were among
the factors that attracted Ant Financial to the Group. Ant
Financial has a solid foundation built in the online realm,
which, along with Asiaray’s unique “Space Management”
approach, can create an effective bridge linking advertising
solution from the physical world to the virtual domain. Over
the years the Group has been exploring different O&O
strategy with great success and won numerous awards. The
Group along with this tradition commenced collaborations
with key opinion leaders ("KOLs"), complemented by
mobile applications including TikTok that echo the offline
campaigns. Leveraging the strengths of the Group, including
its rich experience in O&O strategy, combined with the
attributes of the Ant Financial, it is expected to bolster its
existing businesses while exploring new avenues, supported
by the synergies between the two parties.

New mediums

In 2018, Asiaray was awarded the exclusive media resources
of High Speed Rail (Hong Kong Section) and the Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge (Zhuhai Port), which marked new
business frontiers for its comprehensive media resources
portfolio to tap. Subsequent to the two national projects,
the Group has secured another new advertising medium via
exclusive concession rights with KMB and LWB in November
2019. The exposure and impact of bus advertising can be
highly significant and effectual given its easy reach to a
huge swathe of the population, comprising young and old
and of all income levels. By leveraging its unique 'Space
Management’ approach, and ample experience in public
transport advertising, it is believed that the cooperative ties
with KMB and LWB will maximize all parties’ strengths and
enable opportunities to be seized in the public transport
advertising industry. Moreover, these new frontiers will
provide a solid foundation for reinforcing the Group's
market leading position.
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Awards

The Group has proven time and again of its ability to create
advertising campaigns and powerful, innovative solutions
that set industry standards. In 2019, Asiaray has garnered
total 91 awards. The Group state-of-the-art advertising
campaigns earned strong recognition from various circles,
including the Annual Grand Prix Awards at The 19th IAl
International Advertising Awards, marking the Group's
strongest showing of the year — capturing nine awards
in total. Another distinction of note was the garnering
of a Certificate of Merit at the 2018 Hong Kong Awards
for Environmental Excellence from Business Environment
Council, which is a testament to its commitment to green
management, including Asiaray’s outstanding performance
in environmental innovation. The Group will continue to
effectively utilize its unique “Space Management” approach
to create an all-encompassing immersive experience,
at the same time, implement strategies that advance
environmental sustainability and promote green initiatives.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the global economy is expected to
experience significant headwinds led by the Sino-US trade
war and the outbreak of the COVID-19 novel coronavirus,
yet, despite such glum projections for the global economy,
with infections gradually stabilizing and pent consumption
demand continuously building, the Group remains optimistic
on the long-term outlook. With a new era of consolidation
likely to commence in the wake of COVID-19, it is expected
to see an economic rebound which lead to enormous
opportunities. Asiaray will leverage its robust network
that covers all range of city tiers, as well as its strong cash
position and sophisticated management to facilitate and
capture opportunities that arise. Further, armed with the
strong collaboration among the new strategic investor,
it enables the Group to expand its business outreach.
Especially in Mainland China, the Group will continue to take
a long-term approach, spare no effort to further enhance its
extensive business footprint, and provide a comprehensive
network to maximize advertising value, thus to capture the
favorable opportunities.

In Hong Kong, the Group remains optimistic about the OOH
media industry, despite ongoing political and economic
uncertainties. Its dynamic mix of media solutions, comprising
metro lines, billboards, High Speed Train stations and now,
bus advertising, will stand the Group in good stead in coping
with whatever challenges that may come. Moreover, with the
Group's outstanding O&O experience, it is able to provide
more value-added advertising solution to the customers.
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What is more, it will continue to bolster these business
facets, as demonstrated by the securing of exclusive
concession rights at MTR Tuen Ma Line Phase 1 subsequent
to the review year. The rights will enable the Group to
operate media resources at the new MTR Tuen Ma Line
Phase 1, which connects Wu Kai Sha and Kai Tak. Asiaray will
look to further strengthen the foundation to better penetrate
the public transport advertising market, as well as seize
new opportunities that reinforces its leadership in the OOH
advertising industry in Hong Kong.

Having established a beachhead in Singapore during the
review year, the next objective will be to leverage this
geographical position as springboard for expanding the
Group's footprint in Southeast Asia. Consistent with this
objective, the Group will direct more resources to reinforce
its presence in the Lion City, as it also strives to enhance ties
with other mass transit operators.

According to market research, e-commerce is forecasted
to account for 42.4% of all digital advertising spending by
2020." This trend aligns with its own long held view that
the online world possesses enormous opportunities. Such
a view is reflected in the completion of a programmatic
transformation project with Rubicon Project in January
2020, which is one of the largest advertising exchanges
in the world. Consequently, Asiaray will be able to
programmatically trade its DOOH display and video
inventory across Hong Kong and Singapore, and enhance
its O&QO capabilities and strategy. In respect of advertisers,
they will be able to place dynamic and responsive
advertisements that can adapt quickly to the fast-changing
preferences of commuters on the Thomson-East Coast Line,
Phase |, which is set to commence operation by the end
of January 2020. The programmatic transformation project
creates a win-win situation with great synergies for both
Asiaray and advertisers; achieving exceptional reach and
facilitating data-enriched buying options that are essential
for realizing DOOH campaign goals. Going forward, Asiaray
will seek more opportunities for cooperation and strive to
develop even more effective O&O solutions that cater for
advertisers’ needs.

Although the business environment is expected to be highly
challenging, with Asiaray’s solid foundation, strong client
portfolio, outstanding business network and unparalleled
leadership, the Group remains optimistic about the Group'’s
prospects and will spare no effort in turning challenges into
successes.

' https://www.dentsuaegisnetwork.com/cn/zh//china-ad-spend-gowth-3.9
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 decreased from approximately HKD1,928.9 million
to approximately HKD1,878.4 million, representing a year-
on-year decreased of 2.6%. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the depreciation of Renminbi. Other than
the exchange impact, the decrease in revenue in the metro
and billboards segments partially offset by the increase
in revenue in airport segment. The combined revenue of
the Group, which includes the consolidated revenue of
the Group and the total revenue of the Group'’s associated
companies engaged in the media business as an operating
information, reached approximately HKD2,630.4 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 6.0%.

The airports segment increased by 1.6% from approximately
HKD727.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2018
to approximately HKD739.3 million in 2019 mainly due to
Yunnan group airport and Haikou airport contributed a
significant result. In addition, new projects such as Beijing T2
airport contributed a satisfied revenue during 2019.

The metro and billboards segment decreased by 5.7% from
approximately HKD974.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately HKD919.3 million in 2019.
This was primarily attributable to the sharp decrease from
Shenzhen metro lines but partially offset by the increase
of billboards in Hong Kong. Hangzhou metro lines 2 and
4 recorded a steady growth after the ramp-up period.
Besides, Wenzhou metro lines S1, High Speed Rail (Hong
Kong section) and billboards of Hong Kong are contributed
significant revenue during 2019.

The others revenue decreased by approximately HKD6.5
million or 2.9%, from approximately HKD226.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
HKD219.8 million in 2019, which was primarily attributable
to the decrease in our agency business in respect of sales of
advertising spaces in media resources operated by certain
associated companies and other companies.

Cost of Revenue

The cost of revenue increased by approximately HKD35.9
million, or 2.5%, from approximately HKD1,444.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
HKD1,480.6 million in 2019. The increase was primarily due
to (a) the initial cost at Haikou airport and Wenzhou metro
lines; and (b) the increase of concession fee payable under
the concession rights contract of Kunming group airports,
Xinjiang airport which were renewed during 2019.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 decreased from approximately HKD484.1
million to approximately HKD397.8 million and the Group's
gross profit margin decreased from 25.1% in 2018 to 21.2%
in 2019. The decrease in gross profit margin was due to: (1)
the initial cost of new projects such as Haikou airport ; (2) the
revenue decrease in metro lines of Shenzhen and Beijing.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

The selling and marketing expenses increased by
approximately HKD19.8 million, or 12.1% from
approximately HKD164.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately HKD183.8 million in 2019.
This increase was primarily attributable to the increase in
employee benefit expenses and set up expenses as a result
of the growth and expansion of our business operations.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses increased by approximately
HKD7.4 million, or 4.1%, from approximately HKD180.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately HKD187.8 million in 2019. The increase was
primarily attributable to the increase in employee benefit
expenses, office rental expenses and legal and professional
fee due to expansion of our business operation.

Finance Costs, net

Net finance cost was approximately HKD183.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019, compared with
approximately HKD4.0 million in 2018. This was primarily
attributable to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 16
and the additional bank borrowings.

Share of Results of Investments in Associates

The share of results of investments in associates for the
year ended 31 December 2019 slightly increased 3.2%
from approximately HKD12.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately HKD12.9 million in 2019
due to increased revenue from media under the exclusive
concession rights to the advertising spaces located at Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge (Zhuhai Port).

Income Tax Credit/Expenses

Income tax credit was approximately HKD16.1 million in
2019 while there is income tax expenses was approximately
HKD26.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2018.
The changes was represented the recognition of tax losses
which was recorded during 2019. Higher effective tax rate
in 2019 was primarily due to tax losses from loss-making
subsidiaries.
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Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and
Amortisation (EBITDA)

The EBITDA of the Group increased by approximately
HKD612.7 million, or 312.6%, from approximately
HKD196.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately HKD808.7 million in 2019. This was primarily
attributable to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 16.

Loss/Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company
Loss attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HKD126.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2019, compared to profit attributable to owners
of the Company approximately HKD63.0 million in 2018. The
loss in profit was the net effect of the increase in gross profit
of the Group and as fully explained in the above.

Financial Impact of HKFRS 16
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet

MA20194%F
12A31H
FERER
MR &
#ER|ZE165%

A20194F
12831H
I
%R &
X2 RIE165%

20184
12H31H
B mE
AERIZE 1657
Without
HKFRS16

With Without

HKFRS 16 HKFRS16
As at 31 As at 31 As at 31
December December December
2019 2019 2018
T8 FiB Fis
HKD’000 HKD’'000 HKD’'000

EREEE Non-current assets 320,605
MENE E Current assets 1,278,851
BEE Total assets 1,599,456
ERBEE Non-current liabilities

mEIEE Current liabilities

wmaeE Total liabilities 1,024,279

nE(BE) EEFE
RRBVEA ARG @S

s

Net current (liabilities)/assets
Total equity attributable to

owners of the Company
Total equity
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Gearing ratio @

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY
POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative approach for cash
management and investment on funds.

As the Group carries out business in the Mainland China
and Hong Kong, most of our receipts and payments were
denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. As the
conversion of Renminbi into foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government, the directors of the
Company consider that there is no significant exposure on
the foreign exchange risk. The Group will closely monitor
foreign exchange exposure and consider hedging significant
exposure should the need arises.

Dividend Policy

The Company endeavours to maintain a balance between
meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy. The
Company adopts a dividend policy, which is based on
the profit attributable to owners of the Company, and the
distribution amount is up to 100% of the profit attributable
to owners of the Company.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank
deposits and restricted cash was approximately HKD445.0
million as at 31 December 2019, representing an increase
of approximately HKD9.5 million compared with that as at
31 December 2018. As at 31 December 2019, the financial
ratios of the Group were as follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December

2019%F 20184
2019 2018

1.36
Net cash
FERE
Notes:
(M Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current

liabilities.

(2) Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net debt by total equity.
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Borrowings

The Group had bank borrowings as at 31 December 2019 in
the sum of approximately HKD272.6 million. Out of the total
borrowings, approximately HKD152.2 million was repayable
within one year, while approximately HKD120.4 million was
repayable after one year. The carrying amounts of bank
borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi.

No financial instruments were used for hedging purposes,
nor were there any foreign currency net investments hedged
by current borrowings and/or other hedging instruments.
The weighted average interest rate (per annum) was 4.2% for
non-current borrowings and 4.5% for current borrowings as
at 31 December 2019.

Exposure to Interest Rate Risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing
short-term bank deposits and bank borrowings. Short-
term bank deposits and bank borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Bank
borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk.

The Group's interest rate risks arise primarily from variable
rates bank borrowings. The management manages interest
rate risks and controls such risks within a reasonable level by
closely tracking changes in the macroeconomic environment
and monitoring changes in current and projected interest
rates on a regular basis, taking into account conditions in the
domestic and international markets.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the Group pledged its buildings
and land use rights with carrying amount of approximately
HKD22.6 million (31 December 2018: approximately
HKD24.1 million), respectively to secure borrowings of the
Group. The total secured borrowings as at 31 December
2019 amounted to approximately HKD3.1 million (31
December 2018: approximately HKD4.3 million).
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Fund Raising Activities/Use of Proceeds

Subscription of perpetual subordinated convertible
securities under general mandate

On 7 September 2017, the Company entered into
the subscription agreement which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue the perpetual subordinated
convertible securities (the "PSCS”) in the principal amount
of HKD50,000,000 convertible into conversion shares at the
initial conversion price of HKD3.54 per conversion share
under general mandate. The intended use of proceeds
were disclosed in the circular issued by the Company
dated 30 November 2017 and 10 June 2019. The issuance
of the PSCS in the principal amount of HKD30,000,000
and HKD20,000,000 was completed on 28 December
2017 and 28 June 2019 respectively. The net proceeds
of approximately HKD49,400,000 was received. As at
31 December 2019, the PSCS in the principal amount of
HKD50,000,000 has not been converted into conversion
shares. For details please refer to the announcement and the
circular issued by the Company dated 7 May 2019 and 10
June 2019 respectively.

Subscription of new shares under general mandate

On 20 November 2019, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding
Limited (“Antfin”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
T 58/ MU S R AR TS = B M9 B R A B (Ant Small and Micro
Financial Services Group Co., Ltd.*) (the “Ant Financial”),
pursuant to which Antfin has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, and the Company has conditionally agreed
to allot and issue, a total of 35,675,676 subscription shares
at the subscription price of HKD4.10 per subscriptions
share. The net proceeds are estimated to be approximately
HKD142.8 million and which is intended to be used by the
Company as general working capital and for funding its
projects in the PRC and Singapore. For details please refer
to the announcement issued by the Company dated 20
November 2019.

*  For identification purpose only
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K2019F12H31H As at 31 December 2019

ERAER  FEFERE
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Whether the

proceeds are

Expected to be used

timeframe for  according to

Intended application of the intention
Net proceeds use of the Actual Unutilized  the unutilized previously
raised net proceeds used amount amount proceeds disclosed
(#45) (#4) (#4) (#5)
Thn TEn TEn TR
(approximately) (approximately) (approximately) (approximately)
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

29700 —feELS General working capital
(Issue of fist — (HEEEHER (Improvement of advertising
tranche of PSCS)  ETHAZER) fixtures and office renovation)
(BE-#
KARRT AR
25)
~h=g4e General working capital (New

(FRREERA) recruitment and salary costs)

~Hh=g4e General working capital (Bank
(RERRMEFR)  charges and interest expenses)

19700 ~K=E4E General working capital
(Issue of second (R 4ErEEFUE) {Payment of concession fee)
tranche of PSCY)
(BhE=H
KARRT AR
2%)

142800 —fEEES General working capital
(sueof  (BHRERIMEER (Working capital and funding
subscription ~ EERABEEESE)  projectsinthe PRC and
shares) Singapore)

(BaBh)
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(Improvement of advertising
fixtures and office renovation)

As at 31 December 2018

proceeds are

Expected to be used
timeframe for according to
Intended application of ~the intention
use of the Unutilized  the unutilized previously
net proceeds amount proceeds disclosed
30 % % )
(approximately) (approximately)  (approximately)
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
15,000 15,000 Nil N/A Yes
(used as intended) z N S
(RBERERR)
10,000 10,000 Nil N/A Yes
(used as intended) Z N 2
(RRERERR)
4,700 4,700 Nil N/A Yes
(used as intended) Z TEH 3
(REERERER)

Capital Expenditures

The capital expenditures primarily comprise cash
expenditures for property, plant and equipment, such as
advertising facilities and furniture and office equipment. Our
capital expenditures for the year ended 31 December 2019
and 2018 were approximately HKD27.7 million and HKD60.6
million, respectively.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities outstanding
as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

Subsequent Events

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19
outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of precautionary
and control measures have been and continued to be
implemented across the China. The Group will pay close
attention to the development of the COVID-19 outbreak
and evaluate its impact on the financial position and
operating results of the Group. As at the date on which this
set of financial statements were authorised for issue, the
Group was not aware of any material adverse effects on the
financial statements as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lam Tak Hing, Vincent, aged 60

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (“Mr. Lam”) was appointed as the
Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the Executive
Director and Chairman on 12 June 2014 and serves as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Lam is
the founder of the Group and is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and development of the Group. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Lam graduated from the University of Sydney with a
Bachelor of Science Honours degree in March 1984 and
subsequently obtained a Master’s degree in Commerce from
the University of New South Wales (“UNSW") in Australia in
April 1987. Mr. Lam is also a member and a director of the
UNSW Hong Kong Foundation Board. He is a fellow of the
CPA Australia.

Mr. Lam is a director of the Christian Action. He was also re-
appointed as a panel member of the Administrative Appeals
Board for a term of three years with effect from 15 July 2018.
In addition, he was appointed as the Chairman of Hong Kong
Macau and Myanmar Chamber of Commerce and Industry
with effect from 9 December 2019 and a Non-official Member
of Basic Law Promotion Steering Committee for a term of two
years with effect from 1 January 2020.
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Lam Ka Po, aged 46

Executive Director and Chief Operation Officer

Mr. Lam Ka Po (“Mr. K. P. Lam”) was appointed as the
Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the Executive
Director of the Company on 12 June 2014. Mr. K. P. Lam
is also the Chief Operation Officer of the Company. He
joined the Company in December 2007 and is responsible
for the overall operations in Hong Kong and marketing
management of the Group. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. K. P. Lam worked for Euro RSCG Partnership Ltd, an
advertising agency under the Association of Accredited
Advertising Agencies of Hong Kong ("HK4As"), as the
senior media planner from 1996 to 1998. He then worked
as the media supervisor and media manager of Motivator, a
HK4As advertising agency, from 1999 to 2002. He was the
media manager of Zenith, a HK4As advertising agency, from
2003 to 2004. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. K. P. Lam
acted as the associate business director of OMD, a HK4As
advertising agency, from 2004 to 2007.

Mr. K. P. Lam graduated from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree in Integrated BBA (Marketing concentration) in April
1996.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wong Chi Kin, aged 46

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Chi Kin (“Mr. Wong") was appointed as the Non-
executive Director of the Company on 24 March 2017. Mr.
Wong has over 20 years of accounting, banking and finance
experience with commercial banks and investment banks
(including ING Bank, UBS and Morgan Stanley) as well as
various listed companies in Hong Kong and the UK.

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree
in Finance from The City University of Hong Kong in
December 1996, a Certificate in Consecutive Interpretation:
Putonghua/English from The School of Professional and
Continuing Education of The University of Hong Kong in
March 2001, a Master’s degree in Practising Accounting
from The Monash University, Australia in November 2001,
and a Master of Business Administration degree (Executive
MBA Programme) from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in December 2010 (Dean'’s list: 2009/2010). Mr. Wong
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of CPA Australia and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Wong was the chief financial officer of Orient Victory
Travel Group Company Limited (formerly known as Orient
Victory China Holdings Limited) (“Orient Victory”) (Stock
Code: 265) during the period from October 2014 to October
2018. Prior to joining Orient Victory, Mr. Wong held various
positions at China Qinfa Group Limited (Stock Code: 866)
including (i) deputy chief financial officer (from April 2011 to
September 2011); (ii) chief financial officer (from September
2011 to October 2014); and company secretary and
authorised representative (from July 2011 to August 2014).
Moreover, Mr. Wong was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited (“Tsui
Wah") (Stock Code: 1314) on 5 November 2012 and was
re-designated as non-executive director of Tsui Wah on 1
November 2016.
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On 9 July 2018, Mr. Wong was appointed as an independent
non-executive director and the chairman of the independent
board committee of Shenzhou Space Park Group Limited
(formerly known as China Household Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 692) (“Shenzhou Space”), mainly responsible
for providing independent advice to Shenzhou Space on
resumption proposal. At the request of the Securities and
Futures Commission, all dealings in the shares of Shenzhou
Space have been suspended since 17 July 2017. Moreover,
on 13 December 2018, a creditor’s winding-up petition was
presented at the High Court of Hong Kong against Shenzhou
Space. For details of the winding-up petition, please refer to
the announcements of Shenzhou Space dated 21 December
2018 and 13 February 2019. Mr. Wong had resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Shenzhou Space with
effect from 31 July 2019.

Yang Peng, aged 43

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yang Peng (“Mr. Yang"”) was appointed as the Non-
executive Director of the Company on 4 December 2019.

Mr. Yang, holds a degree of Master of Business
Administration from Curtis L. Carlson School of Management
of the University of Minnesota, United States of America and
a Bachelor’s degree in Economics in International Trade and
Finance (B[R E 5 & B R4 EZ) from Lingnan (University)
College of Sun Yat-sen University (FF 1L K E2 585 (K22 ) E2p7).

Mr. Yang was a vice president of Dell Technologies Group
during the period from 1999 to 2018 and is currently a vice
president of MTIFE U SRRBEERHER QT (Ant
Small and Micro Financial Services Group Co., Ltd.*). He is
also a director of Linewell Software Company Limited (whose
shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock
code 603636).

*  For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung, aged 78

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung ("Mr. A. Ma") was appointed
as the Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 12
June 2014. He is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company.

Mr. A. Ma is a founder and former director of AMA
CPA Limited (formerly known as Andrew Ma DFK (CPA)
Limited) in Hong Kong. He is presently a director of Mayee
Management Limited. He has more than 40 years of
experience in the fields of accounting, auditing and finance.

Mr. A Ma is currently also an independent non-executive
director of C. P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. (stock code: 43), China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
836), Chong Hing Bank Ltd. (stock code: 1111), C-MER
Eye Care Holdings Limited (stock code: 3309) and S.A.l.
Leisure Group Company Limited (stock code: 1832). He was
an independent non-executive director of Asia Financial
Holdings Limited (stock code: 662) from September 2004 to
May 2019.

Mr. A Ma received his Bachelor’s degree in Economics
from the London School of Economics and Political Science
(University of London) in England in 1966. He is a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
and The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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Ma Ho Fai GBS JP, aged 68

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP ("Mr. Ma") was appointed as the
Director on 20 May 2014 and designated as the Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 12 June 2014.
He is also the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company.

Mr. Ma is a senior partner of Woo Kwan Lee & Lo, a local law
firm in Hong Kong, and was admitted as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in 1984, England and Wales in 1987, Australian Capital
Territory in 1988 and the Republic of Singapore in 1990. Mr.
Ma has been appointed by the Ministry of Justice as a China-
Appointed Attesting Officer since 2000 and a Civil Celebrant
since 2006. He has also been appointed by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as the
chairman of Home Purchase Allowance Appeals Committee
Panel since 2014, the chairman of the Protection of Wages
on Insolvency Fund Board since 2018 and the chairperson
of the Travel Industry Authority since 2020. In addition, he
is a Deputy of the 11th, 12th and 13th National People's
Congress of the PRC. In recognition of his distinguished
public and community service, Mr. Ma was appointed as a
Non-Official Justice of the Peace in 2005 by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and was
awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star in June 2017. Mr. Ma was
also appointed as a non-executive director of the Insurance
Authority in 2015. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Goldbond Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 172).
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Mak Ka Ling, aged 50

Independent Non-executive Director

Ms. Mak Ka Ling (“Ms. Mak”) was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on
5 May 2017. She is also a member of each of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company.

Ms. Mak has over 20 years of experience in human resources
and organization effectiveness consulting. She had worked
at Korn Ferry Hay Group ('"Hay Group”), which is the global
people and organizational advisory division of Korn Ferry
International, a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE: KFY), for the last 13 years. Ms. Mak was
an associate director and an associate client partner of Hay
Group from December 2014 to May 2016 and May 2016 to
April 2017, respectively. During her tenure at Hay Group,
she advised boards on market best practices on human
capital related issues; and worked with organizations to help
clarify strategy priorities, develop people and organization
transformation solutions and consulted on human resources
implementation plans to support organization changes.

Ms. Mak started her career as an executive management
trainee of Jardine, Matheson & Co., Limited (the ""Jardine
Matheson’’), a subsidiary of Jardine Matheson Holdings
Limited listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange (SGX:
J36), in September 1993. During her employment with
Jardine Matheson until February 2002, Ms. Mak held various
managerial positions, including working as a business unit
head at the subsidiaries of Jardine Matheson as well as a
human resources management leader in the head office of
Jardine Matheson.

Ms. Mak obtained a Bachelor of Science (Joint Honours)
degree in Computer Science and Accounting from the
University of Manchester in July 1992, a Master of Business
Administration degree from the business school of Imperial
College, University of London in November 1993. She is an
associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) is committed
to uphold a high standard of corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth in its business in
accordance with all applicable rules and regulations. The
Board believes that good corporate governance is important
in balancing the interests of shareholders, customers and
employees and the success of business.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code")
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”). Throughout the year, the Company has
complied with the CG Code except for deviations from code
provisions A.2.1 and A.6.7. The deviation from code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code is explained in the paragraph headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive” of this annual report.

Under code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, Independent
Non-executive Directors should attend general meetings
of the Company and develop a balanced understanding of
shareholders’ view. Due to other business engagement, an
Independent Non-executive Director was unable to attend
the general meetings of the Company.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is mainly responsible for formulating the Group's
long term strategy and development plan, deciding major
financial and capital project and reviewing internal control
and risks.

The Board delegates certain aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management for implementing
day-to-day operation. It has given clear directions to the
management as to its powers, in particular, with respect to
different circumstances. While allowing management to enjoy
substantial autonomy to run and develop the Company’s
business, the Board also plays a key role in structuring and
monitoring the reporting systems and internal controls.
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Composition
The Board currently comprises seven directors (“Directors”),
the composition is set out as follow:

Executive Directors:
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman)
Lam Ka Po

Non-executive Directors:

Wong Chi Kin

Yang Peng

(appointed on 4 December 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Mak Ka Ling

The biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 37
to 43 of this annual report. There is no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s)) among the Directors.

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has had three Independent Non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board, with one
Independent Non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has received annual
confirmation in writing of independence from each of the
Independent Non-executive Director and consider them to be
independence according to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Under the Company’s articles of association, the Board
may from time to time appoint a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any such new
Director shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and shall
then be eligible for re-election at the same meeting.

All Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-
executive Directors) are appointed for a specific term of
one year and all Directors (including Independent Non-
executive Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years and are subject to re-election in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer should be clearly established.
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Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent currently assumes the roles of
both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (the "CEQ") of
the Company. The Board considers that this structure could
enhance efficiency in formulation and implementation of
the Company'’s strategies. The Board will review the need
of appointing suitable candidate to assume the role of CEO
when necessary.

Board Diversity

The Company adopted a board diversity policy which set out
its approach to achieve diversity on the Board with a view
to achieving a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Company will also
take into account factors based on its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board. The Company has
considered board diversity policy in designing composition
of the Board.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board shall be responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties set out below or it may delegate the
responsibilities to a Board committee or Board committees:

. To develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

J To review the internal control system and risk
management system of the Group;

o To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

J To review and monitor the Company’s policies and

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

. To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual, if any, applicable to
employees and directors of the Company;

o To review the Company’s compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in the Listing
Rules and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
report; and

. To review the disclosure system of the Company.
During the year, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness

of the risk management and internal control system of the
Group.
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Exge= Board Meetings

EFeRNEBETFEANRTTEAAEH Ui During the year under review, the Board held seven meetings
RSB EEEREE MBR  HEPHRF to review the Group's overall strategies and policies, to
EHEE FRAEEIERFHEREE - & approve interim and final results, to discuss significant issues
EERHE2019F12A31REFEHRES and operation of the Group. The attendance (either in person
g% BiTZEg RERZET  FMZ or through other electronic means of communication) record
BegRkRRRe(THRESLHENERE of each director at the meetings of the Board, the Audit
tEFEBS ) REH AT Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration

Committee and General Meetings during the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out below:

HE/ GERLREERY
Number of meetings attended/Eligible to attended
Ezg EifZEE ReZEg FHMZEE RRBEAT  RREBAE

Annual  Extraordinary

Audit Nomination Remuneration General General
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting Meeting
HTEE Executive Directors
WER Lam Tak Hing, Vincent 5/7 TER 1/1 1/1 11 1/1
N/A
MEE Lam Ka Po 717 MaA TEA TEA 1/1 1/1
N/A N/A N/A
FHTES Non-executive Directors
B Wong Chi Kin 6/7 TER TR TR 11 1/1
N/A N/A N/A
g Yang Peng (ot " on TER T TR 0/0 0/0
N/A N/A N/A

BIFHTES Independent Non-

executive Directors

it Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung 6/7 3/3 T 1/1 1/1 17
N/A

E598 GBS JP Ma Ho Fai GBS Jp 717 33 11 1/1 171 1"

Eak Mak Ka Ling 5/7 33 1/1 1/1 0N 01

Note 1: Mr. Yang Pang was appointed as a Non-executive Director with effect from 4 December 2019

HiaE1: BHEELE2019F 12 H4AEEZ (T AIFHTTEF
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ESCHEBESXERR Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

BEEZENTEE (B SERHES A comprehensive, formal and tailored induction training will
H - FTANYTVEEZTEGAREE)N - =18 be given to every newly appointed Director, if any. Directors
EREEMARTEEULEERS LS (T will be provided with materials relevant to the Company’s
MER - o BTRESTHREENER business and director’s duties and responsibilities. In
FEHNSHER  RETFERHTISHEE addition, in order to allow the Directors to understand the
REEER - BERBE2019F12A318 1F latest development of regulatory and compliance issues, they
FE - BEHEEREEIINCEEZEH M are also provided with market news and regulatory updates. A
T summary of their records of continuous development training

during the year ended 31 December 2019 is as follows:

HEEEL
g BE a8
REESEER
BEZEBREH
Attending trainings/

briefings/seminars/
conference/
reading regulatory
updates relevant to

Name of Directors corporate governance
BITES Executive Directors
MR E Lam Tak Hing, Vincent v
MKRE Lam Ka Po v
FHITES Non-executive Directors
aEE Wong Chi Kin v
s (HaE1) Yang Peng (note 1) N
BYEHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
SRR Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung V
B XIEGBS JP Ma Ho Fai GBS JP N
HERRR Mak Ka Ling N

Note 1: Mr. Yang Peng was appointed as a Non-executive Director with effect from 4 December 2019 and a tailored induction material was
provided to him.

Hiat1: BEEELE2019F 1240 BEZERIHNTESE - Lkia TZ 5 MRAGLBMH

EEZES BOARD COMMITTEES
EFegRY T -EAZEe ISRt ZES The Board has established three Committees, namely, the Audit
@ IBEZTEeNTMEES - TRIEHSE Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
EEANHEZEEIKENER - Committee. The table below provides membership information
of these Committees on which each Director serves.
EEZER
Board Committees
B EEE EEEZES FMEES
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee
iR E Lam Tak Hing, Vincent i@ B C M
N/A
SRR Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung C AN M
N/A
BRIEGBS JP Ma Ho Fai GBS JP M M C
BER Mak Ka Ling M M M
Kt - Notes:
C EEEEZESER C Chairman of the relevant Board Committees
M HHEEEZESKE M Member of the relevant Board Committees
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and is chaired by Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung. Other
members are Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP and Ms. Mak Ka Ling. All
members of the Committee are Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include (1) to
review the Company’s financial statements and reports,
the changes in accounting policies and practices, and the
compliance with applicable accounting standards, the Listing
Rules and legal requirements; (2) to oversee the Group's
financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; and (3) to review the services and appointment
of the Company’s external auditor, the nature and scope of
auditing, and the related audit fees. The terms of reference of
Audit Committee are available on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year
under review. During the meetings, the Audit Committee
(i) reviewed the interim and annual financial statements and
reports; (ii) discussed and reviewed the risk management
and internal control systems; (iii) reviewed the corporate
governance issues; (iv) reviewed the continuing connected
transactions; and (v) made recommendation to the Board on
the re-appointment of the external auditor.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 6 December
2014 and is chaired by Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent, an
Executive Director. Other members are two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP and
Ms. Mak Ka Ling.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
(1) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy; (2) to report to the Board
the composition of the Board members and monitor the
implementation of the policy on board diversity; (3) to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
(4) to assess the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors; and (5) to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular
the chairman and the chief executive of the Company. The
terms of reference of Nomination Committee are available
on the Company’s website.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
year under review. During the meeting, the Nomination
Committee (i) reviewed the structure, size, composition
and diversity of the Board; (ii) reviewed the independence
of Independent Non-executive Directors; (iii) made
recommendations to the Board on the proposed re-election
of the retiring Directors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy (the “Policy”)
on 6 December 2014 which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity of the Board.

Under the Policy, the Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance.

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 6
December 2014 and is chaired by Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP,
an Independent Non-executive Director. Other members
are two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung and Ms. Mak Ka Ling and one
Executive Director, namely, Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee
include (1) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (2) to review and approve the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; (3) to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management; and (4) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of Non-executive Directors. The
terms of reference of Remuneration Committee are available
on the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the
year under review. During the meeting, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed and made recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
of the Company in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards. The Directors confirm that
suitable accounting policies have been used and applied
consistently, and reasonable and prudent judgement
and estimates have been made in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. The Board is not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may affect the business of the Company or cast doubts
on its ability to continue as a going concern.

The external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers,

acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 81 to 92.
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Risk Assessment

Risk Management and Internal Control

Responsibility of the Board

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain, and review the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems, where
management is responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management and internal control
systems to manage risk.

A sound and effective system of risk management and
internal control is designed to achieve the Group's strategic
objectives and safeguard shareholder investments and
the Group's assets. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve strategic
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The Board has the overall responsibilities of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.
With the support of the Audit Committee, the Board
monitors the Group's risk exposures, oversees the actions
of management and monitors the overall effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems on an
ongoing basis. Management is responsible for setting the
appropriate tone from the top, performing risk assessments,
and owning the design, implementation and maintenance of
internal control. Policies and procedures form the basis and
set forth the control standards required for functioning of
the Group's business entities. These policies and procedures
covered various aspects, including operations, finance &
accounting, human resources, regulatory & compliance,
delegation of authority, etc.

Risk Management and Enterprise-wide Risk Assessment
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the risk level of each key
risk and whether the
Group's existing
procedures and controls
are adequate.
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® Propose and recommend
mitigating controls for
each identified key risk
and assist process owners
or business units to
implement relevant
remedial measures.

3. MBRFEL

Risk Response

s MEFERANEERE
BHRMEITAREN
Report to the Board and
senior management on
the implementation of the
remedial measures.

BAEREBTMAELEE -

Follow-up on the
implementation status of
these remedial measures.
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An annual enterprise-wide risk assessment has been
performed to evaluate the nature and extent of the risks to
which the Group is willing to take in achieving its strategic
objectives. During the risk assessment process, the Group
has identified a number of key risks that may impact the
Group's strategic objectives in responding to the changes
in the business and external environment. These risks are
prioritized according to the likelihood of their occurrence
and the significance of their impact on the business of
the Group. Moreover, remedial measures and mitigating
controls are developed to manage these risks to an
acceptable level.

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Department is led by the Internal Audit
Manager, who reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The Internal Audit Department is primarily responsible for
conducting internal audit reviews on operational, financial
and compliance controls of the operating entities to ensure
their compliance with the Group’s risk management and
internal control policies and procedures.

Internal Audit Department is independent from operation
management and has full access to data required in
performing internal audit reviews. Audits are conducted
according to the three-year internal audit plan approved
by the Audit Committee to review our major operational,
financial, compliance and risk management controls. In
2019, Internal Audit Department performed audits on the
key operating entities located in China and Hong Kong.

During the process of the internal audits, the Internal
Audit Department identified internal control deficiencies
and weaknesses and proposed recommendations for
improvements. Internal audit findings and control
deficiencies are communicated to internal audit team and
the management, who is responsible for ensuring the
deficiencies are rectified within a reasonable period. A
follow-up review is also performed to ensure the remedial
actions are implemented.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholder investments and the Group's assets and with the
support of the Audit Committee, reviewing the effectiveness
of such systems on an annual basis.
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Key or major business units are required to perform an
annual control self-assessment to assess the effectiveness
of their internal control system within its key business
processes. The control self-assessment performed is in
the form of a questionnaire that sets out the key risks and
corresponding controls for each of key business process. The
Internal Audit Department reviews the completed control
self-assessment questionnaires and provide comments and
recommendations for management of the business units’
consideration.

During the year, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and considered the risk management
and internal control systems effective and adequate. In
addition, the Board has reviewed and is satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget.

Procedures and Controls Over Handling and Dissemination
of Inside Information

The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant
sections of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and
Listing Rules. An Inside Information Disclosure Policy
has been established to lay down practical guidelines on
definition and the scope of inside information; disclosure
and management framework; exemptions for disclosure;
receiving, reporting and disclosing of inside information;
confidentiality and records of such information. Pursuant
to the Inside Information Disclosure Policy, staff who have
access to inside information are required to follow the Inside
Information Disclosure Policy to keep the unpublished inside
information strictly confidential until such inside information
has been officially announced to the public in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Board will
review and approve the inside information to be disclosed
and the Company Secretary has the responsibility to monitor
and communicate with professional parties such as our
external lawyer and auditor during the process of inside
information discussion and announcement preparation.
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Audit services:
Non-audit services

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the fee payable to the
external auditor of the Company, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in
respect of audit and non-audit services is set out below:

20194
2019

FET
HKD’000

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and
that all the Directors confirmed their compliance with the
required standard set out in the Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ip Pui Sum (“Mr. Ip”), the Company Secretary, is an
external service provider to the Company and a Certified
Public Accountant practicing in Hong Kong. Mr. Ip’s primary
contact person at the Company is Mr. Lam Ka Po, the
Executive Director of the Company. During the year, Mr.
lp has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training to update his skills and knowledge. The Company
Secretary reports to the Board on corporate governance
matters and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable law, rules and regulations are
followed. All Board members have access to the advice and
services of Company Secretary.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company actively promotes effective communications
with shareholders and investors through the publication
of notices, announcements, circulars, interim and annual
reports on a timely manner via the websites of the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Board encourages shareholders to attend general
meetings to communicate any concerns they might have
with the Board or management directly. The Company has
also maintained a shareholders’ communication policy,
details of which are available on the Company’s website
under Corporate Governance section.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company endeavours to maintain a balance between
meeting shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital
management with a sustainable dividend policy. The
Company adopts a dividend policy, which is based on
the profit attributable to owners of the Company, and the
distribution amount is up to 100% of the profit attributable
to owners of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Company’s articles of
association, general meetings shall be convened on the
written requisition of any two or more members of the
Company deposited at the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event that
the Company ceases to have such a principal place of
business, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that
such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting,
the requisitionists themselves or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them
by the Company.

Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of
association or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for
shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with
the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of
the Company, please refer to the procedures posted on the
Company'’s website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time put forward any enquiries to
the Board of the Company, details are as follow:

Address: 16/F, Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower, 1 Kornhill Road,
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Email: ir@asiaray.com

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year, the Company has not made any changes to
its articles of association.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) have
pleasure in presenting their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are set out in the financial statements on pages 173 to 184.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019 are set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on page 95.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
HKDO0.025).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”,
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 17 to
21 and pages 22 to 36 respectively of this annual report.

The Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the Group, which
are provided in the “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 44 to 57 of this annual report.

SHARES ISSUED

During the year, the Company allotted and issued a total of
35,675,676 subscription shares at the subscription price of
HKD4.10 per subscription share. Details of the shares issued
during the year are set out in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis”.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
For the year ended 31 December 2019, no environmental
exceedances were recorded and there was no non-
compliance in relation to environmental and social aspects.
Given the business nature, the Group recognizes its daily
operation has an impact to the environment. The Group is
highly committed to make continuous efforts on efficient
use of natural resources, promotion of energy conservation
in its operations and offices, as well as minimization of its
overall emissions on the environment. Engagement with
stakeholders has resulted in raised concerns on key material
issues, which include: Employment, Occupational Health and
Safety, Development and Training, Consumer Data Protection
and Customer Service. The Group will continue to identify
areas of improvement for the concerned aspects and keep
close communication with its stakeholders for advancing
environmental, social and governance management.

The Company will separately publish the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31
December 2019 in compliance with Appendix 27 of the
Listing Rules in due course.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 230
of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2019, the Company'’s reserves available
for distribution amounted to approximately HKD606.8
million (2018: HKD482.9 million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s top
five largest customers accounted for 7.8% (2018: 7.0%) of
our revenues and the single largest customer accounted
for 2.0% (2018: 2.0%) of our revenues. The Group's top five
suppliers, who were the media resources owners, accounted
for 45.1% (2018: 48.7%) of our cost of revenue and the single
largest supplier accounted for 14.0% (2018: 14.4%) of our
cost of revenue.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of
the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in the Group's five largest customers
and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lam Ka Po (Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Chi Kin

Mr. Yang Peng

(appointed on 4 December 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Ms. Mak Ka Ling

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Yang Peng shall retire from office and being
eligible offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 16.18 of the Company’s articles of
association, one-third of the Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every
three years at the AGM of the Company.

As such, Mr. Lam Ka Po, Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung and
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP (the “retiring Directors”) shall retire by
rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, the retiring Directors,
who are being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set on the basis
of the employees’ merit, qualifications and competence.
The emoluments of the Directors and senior management
are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, with
consideration to the Group's operation results and individual
performance. The Company has adopted a share option
scheme to the eligible persons as an incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group, details of which are set
out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred
or sustained by him about the execution of the duties of
his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2019 Annual Report 61



EEE34  REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

fiR SR £ 1 5

BRES S

ERTERENRAFERRL A REEER
M RAFENE - CETBRENRTFER
EXTBPRERERNE REEX  EEAR
FHREE RN ABURIEDL A8 R A5 - %
S RBERNES I HBRELAFENE
TEREAZE HEAMPEBREERANE
E o BRABBE BN F BN AFRE215
E2178 o

KRR TR 3

7201799 A7H » A2 R]ESpace Management
Limited ([ Space Management ] » AR ¥ &
BRAZBESEPEIMRILZ AR BRERF
BARRAF5.04%R A B2 HITRAZ KR FE
RIERR)ETLRB W - AR EERBEASHE
#350,000,00078 JT .2 7K AR AR AT RRFE 55
AR VISR B B RIR I IR (7 3.54 87T (A] T
A DMt E % A HEE S 5 430,000,000
78 7T % 20,000,000 7T 2 #2 B i 17 ([ 32 88 16
EAD

2017 11 A 10 H + & 2 7 # Space
Managementa] SZ i 75 % @ &t - AR A
HiSpace Management[Al B & 5] B M 7% <
TGN HPeEREER  fEEER
BE : EKSpace ManagementBfE % —#t
KARBAIRRF S —FAFBEIRRAE
BIEE([HRBHE]) - FBKARKR AR
BE 78 HF2019F 6 A 25 B 8217 ) B /45 BI) K
gHOE c REE - RE _HRRF TR
75 H 0 BIR 2017812 A28 H & 2019F 6 A
28H5ERK ° R2019F12A318 » F—H R E
THUOK AR AR TR S M S 2 SR A I R
BT - RITEZKARBRAIBRBRES AN
# % 511 /%30,000,0007% 7T }2. 20,000,000/ 7T,

BHHEEEMERAT 2019 Fif 62

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share Option Scheme

The fair values of share options issued are measured on the
grant date based on the fair value of the underlying shares.
The valuation of the fair values of share options issued
mainly involves management judgements and estimates
about significant inputs subject to volatility, dividend yield,
annual risk-free interest rate etc. Changes in these estimates
and assumptions could have a material effect on the
determination of the fair value of the share options, which
may in turn impact the determination of the share options
expenses. Details of the share option scheme have been set
out on pages 215 to 217 of this annual report.

Perpetual Subordinated Convertible Securities ("PSCS")
On 7 September 2017, the Company and Space
Management Limited (“Space Management”), a company
incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin Islands,
being the controlling shareholder of the Company, holding
15.04% of the existing issued share capital of the Company
at that time entered into the Subscription Agreement in
relation to the subscription of PSCS in the principal amount
of HKD50,000,000 convertible into conversion shares at the
initial conversion price of HKD3.54 per conversion share
(subject to adjustments) in two tranches at the face value
of HKD30,000,000 and HKD20,000,000 respectively (the
“Subscription Agreement”).

On 10 November 2017, the Company and Space
Management entered into the Supplemental Agreement,
pursuant to which the Company and Space Management
agreed to amend certain terms of the Subscription
Agreement which include, among others, amendments, to
the material effects that the call for Space Management
to subscribe for the second tranche of the PSCS shall be
subject to the independent shareholders’ approval (the
“Supplemental Agreement”). The second tranche of PSCS
was approved at the extraordinary general meeting held
on 25 June 2019. The subscription of the first and second
tranches of PSCS were completed on 28 December 2017
and 28 June 2019 respectively. As at 31 December 2019, no
subscription right attached to the first and second tranches
of PSCS was exercised and the PSCS in the principal amount
of HKD30,000,000 and HKD20,000,000, respectively was
outstanding.
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Assuming there are no other changes, the shareholding
structure of the Company upon the PSCS rights being
exercised in full are as follows:

®2019%12A31A

Shareholders

RG#E

Number of
Shares

As at 31 December 2019
a4

Approximate
percentage

FREE-HRE—H
KARBARREZFHE 2
AEEERYTHA
Immediately upon
exercise in full of the
subscription rights
attached to the 1% and 2"
tranches of PSCS

BOE
(%)
Approximate
percentage
(%)

FRE-HAAARTRRES
WERRERTUTER
Immediately upon
exercise in full of the
subscription rights

attached to the 1* tranche

of PSCS
BHES
(%)
Approximate
percentage
(%)

(%) RAEE RAHE
Number of

Shares

Number of

(%) Shares

HER Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
(MEE]w ("Mr. Lam") ® 293,121,500 61.62 301,596,076 62.29 307,245,793 62.73
Media Cornerstone Media Cornerstone
Limited Limited 254,921,500 53.59 254,921,500 52.65 254,921,500 52.05
Space Management Space Management 38,200,000 8.03 46,674,576 9.64 52,324,293 10.68
ARBRE Public Shareholders 182,554,176 38.38 182,554,176 37.71 182,554,176 37.27
@t Total 475,675,676 100 484,150,252 100 489,799,969 100
Hiat Note:

1. M % 4 /% Space Management Limited ([ Space
Management]) )1 —J%E ° Space Management
752,324,293k Ikt R 5 A % - H#38,200,000
BAEERROER  ARRBEAFETBEMETD
RERETRAREE I RE HRKARKATR
% 78 F B AR S R 214,124,293 k15 - =
HAKARB AR EFERRRR 201996 A25
HETHARARRERIAREG E8E © toh - A
o4 RShalom Trust(R—HBMEEUMERT
ANFE WKL 2 ST - 58 A RUBS Trustee
(BVI) Limited » Em AR AMEERAN - HE
FREKE RATRETEE IMARE th A L) #9819
A+ Shalom Trust f # #% & Media Cornerstone
Limited ([ Media Cornerstone | ) & &8 2 % 77 i%
7K T Media Cornerstone # & 254,921,500 f%
MRt o BIZFEF RBEGD - KB AR BN Space
Management & Media Cornerstonef /5 425 i) I
DHEEER -

Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management Limited (“Space
Management”). Space Management holds interest in 52,324,293
Shares with 38,200,000 shares in actual Shares and conversion rights of
14,124,293 Shares pursuant to the completion of the first and second
tranches of subscription of PSCS under the Subscription Agreement
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement. The second tranche
of PSCS was approved by the shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 25 June 2019. In addition,
Mr. Lam is the founder of the Shalom Trust (a discretionary trust
established by Mr. Lam as settlor, of which UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited
acts as the trustee and beneficiaries, of which Mr. Lam, certain of his
family members and other persons who may be added from time to
time) which indirectly holds the entire issued share capital of Media
Cornerstone Limited (“Media Cornerstone”) which holds 254,921,500
Shares. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Space Management and Media Cornerstone are

interested.

Details of the above PSCS issue are set out in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BRLABTRARRARKRESR ZHBH
RE I EHRERMEET
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Non-listed Warrants

On 10 October 2016, the Company entered into a Strategic
Alliance Agreement (the “Strategic Alliance Agreement”)
with Great World HK Media Pte. Ltd. ("Great World HK") to
enhance the business collaboration between the Company
and L Catterton Management Limited, a private equity
firm formed by LVMH Moét Hennessy Louis Vuitton S.A.,
Catterton Holdings, L.L.C. and Groupe Arnault SAS. On the
same day, the Company and Great World HK entered into
a Subscription Agreement (as amended and supplemented
by a Supplemental Agreement dated 13 October 2016)
in relation to the allotment of 10,000,000 warrants at an
issue price of HKDO0.3 per warrant to Great World HK for
an initial warrant exercise price of HKD4.10 per warrant
share for a subscription period of 3 years commencing
from 29 December 2016 (the “Subscription Agreement”).
The aggregate warrant issue price in the amount of
HKD3,000,000 was regarded as the consideration in the
amount of HKD3,000,000 payable by the Company to
Great World HK under the Strategic Alliance Agreement.
The Subscription Agreement and the creation and issue of
10,000,000 warrants were approved by the Shareholders
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 22 December 2016. On 24 January 2018, Great
World HK transferred the 10,000,000 warrants to Space
Management. On 19 December 2019, Space Management
further transferred the 10,000,000 warrants to Grace
State Investment Limited. Pursuant to the Subscription
Agreement, the 10,000,000 warrants expired on 28
December 2019 and the subscription rights had not been
exercised.

The then Directors were of the view that the said issuance
of non-listed warrants represented a good opportunity to
raise additional funding for the Company while broadening
the capital of the Company. In addition to the business
opportunities contemplated under the Strategic Alliance
Agreement, equity capital will be raised upon the exercise of
the subscription rights attaching to the non-listed warrants
by the holder(s) thereof during the subscription period of the
non-listed warrants.

Details of the above warrants issue are set out in Note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.



EE2$RS  REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EERFIETHRABRAQIARMS - A
BAROREEEP 2EZR KA

MR2019F12A31H  EFER AR T ETT
BABRMBZE Z2HBEARARBRD ([
;1) s RRBISRETMEREE(EERES
FEAE GO ([ 55 R EE KM ) EBXVER) 2 18
RO EEETHEACEABREZSE N
EIEBIEI52EE FAEEFEE ELM - siBE
Bt X FraE s EmAR AT EWR A DK e+ At
HIMBTAZBSHETESR S ZIZESTR
(MZESFE ) BITHE AR QB KB FragfE
HEORBWT ¢

5 EmitE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE
COMPANY, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company and
their associate in the shares of the Company (“Shares”),
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFQ")), as recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”), were as
follows:

R20195

12A31H

ERABB BT

40 K A2 R 284
IR 2 BOHK?

Approximate

percentage of
issued share

Total capital of
number of the Company
Shares and as at
Capacity/ Number of derivative underlying 31 December
Name of Directors Nature of interest Shares (Share options) Shares 2019@
i Vites ZRETHAPAKR 307,245,793(L) #  307,245,793(L)" 64.59%
RG] EE R
Mr. Lam Founder of a discretionary Nil
trust and interest in
a controlled corporation
EnBEAA Eid 4,400,000(L) 4,400,000(L) 0.92%
Beneficial owner Nil
MR EmlEAA m 1,278,000(L) 1,278,000(L) 0.27%
Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner Nil
B ExnEAA &= 100,000(L) 100,000(L) 0.02%
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung Beneficial owner Nil
5 GBS JP EnEAA i 100,000(L) 100,000(L) 0.02%
Ma Ho Fai GBS JP Beneficial owner Nil
et Notes:
1. MY & BSpace ManagementfJ Il — &% © Space 1. Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management which holds

Management%ﬁ?@ 200,000 R B BB i fh - 1R 1K
TERRES M RE DK AORR A IRRES R
}ﬁ&ﬁﬂ&&&ZM 124,293 B D = WS - MR &
AShalom Trust(5— 8 s bhoc 4 LB B8 T A &
MR REETE - X5 ARUBS Trustee (BVI)
Limited * & ARIBMEERA « HBEF KKK
B RATRE TR AR H A +)BEIHEA - Shalom
Trustf& #% # & Media Cornerstone & #3 & 2 17 %
7%+ i1 Media Cornerstone 5 A 254,921,500 fi%
fefn o RIBEFRBAEED ﬁ?&ﬁﬁﬁ/\Space
ManagementMedia Cornerstone i 4 4z ) I%
DR ©

2. R20194 128318 - ARAEETRAA
475,675,676/ %17 -

e
[LIBFR

38,200,000 Shares in actual Shares and conversion rights of 14,124,293
shares pursuant to the completion of the first and second tranches of
subscription of PSCS. In addition, Mr. Lam is the founder of the Shalom
Trust (a discretionary trust established by Mr. Lam as settlor, of which
UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited acts as the trustee and beneficiaries, of which
Mr. Lam, certain of his family members and other persons who may be
added from time to time) which indirectly holds the entire issued share
capital of Media Cornerstone which holds 254,921,500 Shares. By
virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which
Space Management and Media Cornerstone are interested.

2. As at 31 December 2019, the issued share capital of the Company was
475,675,676 Shares.

Abbreviation:
“L" stands for long position

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2019 Annual Report 65



EEE34  REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

B FFrESE - 720195128318 - &
BEENARAEETHRAERKG - AAF
SEM WA EE(EEREFLPEKIE
XVE) 2 AR M EEEFHEEE AR
BREAELEENFEIS2EMEBEENERL
- SRR ESF R AN G A QR KB RFT
HIRER TR ©

B8

KRB ERERT S T IRIER2014F12 A
CHBBMBRE Y EMRFZRRM([ZT
2 FEEMNARZAETRATHEER
AT AREEFTER Al gE1EH A B B m %
LRBEHEEIRORK - B 2015F1 715
BAER - WiER2025F1 A148 E ©

RigZtE - EFGARBRASEEAE
BR B - RIBZAT 8P AR E 2 R
RIGHRBARRRD ©

(a) =&TEIZBH
ZETBMBMARESTSHEMAERA
THARSEMELKAERELNER®
WER B L O 3R

(b) ZETBIZz2EE
RIEZTE > ARBEFSREARY
BEEAENSERER  MAKEIE
AR B A R A m e RS 2 R =X
FAREHEFZENEELEES -~
SEEMKERT 2T, - (EfIFERA -
RAAIBERB AL ERZEMNES
FEE(BEARAXEMBLARZME
AAWB RS ZRITHIFNTESE)
BEYEkiE FHEEERTHBKRE
B BRARARHEMBARZZBK
RBER IEFEHDBRRILK
KRS AKREFLERZEMA
+o

BHHEEEMERAT 2019 Fif 66

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short position in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or which are required to be notified to the
Company and Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted pursuant
to a Shareholders’ resolution in writing passed on 6
December 2014 (the “Scheme”) for the primary purpose
of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons as
defined in the Scheme for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group. The Scheme took effect on 15
January 2015 and will expire on 14 January 2025.

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer
to any employee of the Group, options to subscribe for
shares of the Company subject to the terms and conditions
stipulated in the Scheme.

(a) Purpose of the Scheme
The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Board to
provide incentives or rewards to the eligible persons
for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Group.

(b) Participants of the Scheme

Pursuant to the Scheme, the board of the Company
may at its absolute discretion grant options to any
eligible employee, a supplier of goods or services to
any member of the Group or any director or employee
of such supplier, customer, any advisory, consultancy
or professional services to any member of the Group
or any director or employee of such entity (including
any director, whether executive or non-executive
and whether independent or not, of the Company
or its subsidiaries) who is in full-time or part-time
employment with the Company or its subsidiaries at
the time when an option is granted to such employee,
or any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board,
have contributed or may contribute to the Group.



EEEWE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(c)

(d)

(e)

RBZFTE A RITZROLH

2019128318 @ AQAR AR H
15,934,875 BB #E + H 12,544,875
DEERRRE M ARTTE © FA + 39,00015 18
R R - BREE FIERENEIE
T [ %8 & 44,000,000 P& P& 19 (#H 8 FA AR
NAERFEBITIRAN10%) KT ERH
ZEER2016F6A1TEMREBRAFAS
EERIE o

RIFEZET 8 AR BMEM E A F 81R
BRARITEZABBRIEETEM A T
BOIZBERARARNDHE FNEEEN
DA 2 TR A B30% ©

ESHEETRABZHESRHHE
BRIEE AR R IRIAZF BIPAETEZ T
A BRRNERT—EAHERA -
BUZ2EETEERZBERE(ERE
178~ MARTTERD FEHZBRE) M
BOIRBTRTZBNDER  THFEB
ARRREHITRMDAAZE1% -

TEBRERE
BEREAINEFTEETLNEEEARALZ
HARR M BE B AR IR A AT 81 2 IRFRITRE - %
HIRAITNE2 R HBREER Bt -
Ewm A NMSFER B BRER L A MR
AHTFRAR - BRESTHREAR LK
NHTE o et B8R TE B IRAETT AL
BUARA 2 &AHIR

(c)

(d)

(e)

Total number of shares available for issue under the
scheme

As at 31 December 2019, a total of 15,934,875 share
options were granted by the Company, of which
12,544,875 share options have not been exercised.
During the year, 39,000 share options were lapsed. An
ordinary resolution was passed at the annual general
meeting on 1 June 2016 relating to the refreshment
of scheme mandate limit of the share option to
44,000,000 shares, representing 10% of the then total
issued share capital of the Company.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and
any other schemes of the Company shall not exceed
30% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each
participant (including those exercised, outstanding
and cancelled options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the total number of shares
of the Company in issue, unless approved by the
shareholders of the Company in the manner as
stipulated in the Scheme.

Time of exercise of options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, which period may commence on the date on
which the offer for the grant of options is made but
shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the
date of grant of the option subject to the provisions
for early termination thereof. No minimum period
for which the option must be held before it can be
exercised as specified in the Scheme.
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(f)

(g9)

(h)

The subscription price per share

The subscription price per share in respect of an option
granted under the Scheme is such price as determined
by the Board of the Company at the time of the grant
of the options, but in any case the subscription price
shall not be lower than the higher of:

o the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

. the price being the average closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and

o the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Payment on acceptance of option

A non-refundable sum of HKD10 or other amount as
determined by the board of the Company by way of
consideration for the grant of an option is required to
be paid by each of the grantee upon acceptance of the
option.

Remaining life of the scheme

The Scheme will expire on 14 January 2025 and no
further options may be granted but the provisions
of the Scheme shall in all other respects remain in
force and effect and options which are granted during
the life of the Scheme may continue to exercise in
accordance with their respective terms of grant.
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TREEHRNERE 2 EH) The following table discloses movements in the share
options during the period:

THABFA AR 2 RRE

option to subscribe for shares of the Company

#2019% #2019%
1818 i 128318 BRfER
REARNZNS RHAH && LS Vs Bnf g { A
Balance Lapsed/ Balance Exercise
as at Granted cancelled Exercised as at price
Category or 1 January during during during 31 December per share
Name of Grantees Date of grant 2019  theperiod  the period the period 2019 Exercise period HKD
AR R
Executive share option plan
5% 2015558218 4,400,000 - - - 4400000 2016%1A1RZ 6.95
Mr. Lam 21 May 2015 202056 A9
1Jan 2016-
9 Jun 2020
EERERERRESH
employee and Contributor
share option plan
HEE 2015554218 1,278,000 - - - 1278000 201651 A1BE 6.95
Lam Ka Po 21 May 2015 2020456/981
1Jan 2016-
9 Jun 2020
it 2015554218 100,000 - - - 100,000 201651 A1EE 6.95
Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung 21 May 2015 20204567981
1Jan 2016-
9 Jun 20201
HFEGss Jp 2015554218 100,000 - - - 100,000 201651 A1EE 6.95
Ma Ho Fai 68 Jp 21 May 2015 20204567981
1Jan 2016-
9 Jun 20201
EERERE" 2015554218 6,705,875 - (39,000) - 6668875 2016F1A18% 6.95
Employees and contributors? ~ 21 May 2015 2020456981
1Jan 2016-
9 Jun 20201
12,583,875 - (39,000) - 12,544,875
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Notes:

1. All the above share options granted are exercisable during the

following periods:

(a) 30% of the share options shall be exercisable from 1 January
2016 to 9 June 2020 (both days inclusive); and

(b) the remaining 70% of the share options shall be exercisable
from 1 January 2017 to 9 June 2020 (both days inclusive).

The closing price per share immediately before the date of grant was
HKD6.93. Details of the value of options granted as above is set out in

Note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statement.

2. The share options were held by certain grantees who ceased to be the

employees of the Group during the year.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a Share Award Scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) on 17 May 2018. The purposes of providing
the Share Award Scheme are to recognise and reward the
contribution of certain eligible person(s), for the growth and
development of the Group and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group and attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

As at 31 December 2019, no Share has been granted under
the Share Award Scheme. Details of the above Share Award
Scheme are set out in Note 32(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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EERRNBR RAEERAD 2 R INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE

) SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

R2019%F 128318 » U TN ATRAARQ BN As at 31 December 2019, the following persons had an

SHARRAR ) HE B AR B E S L B &P 533614 interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares

AFEECMPREERIAE of the Company recorded in the register required to be kept

under Section 336 of the SFO:
REOREBRO 2T Long positions in the shares and Underlying shares

RAAT
BRITRE
BRERS BB 5 RSt E RHBE BRE LS

Approximate

percentage of
issued share

Number of capital in
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest shares the Company®
MEE 2REGETENEIIEA K 307,245,793 (L) 64.59%
REESEE S
Mr. Lam Founder of a discretionary trust and
interest in a controlled corporation
ESHEAA 4,400,000 (L)™ 0.92%
Beneficial owner
Media Cornerstone Limited BEnEAA 254,921,500 (L)@ 53.59%
Media Cornerstone Limited Beneficial owner
Shalom Family Holding Limited NS EE R RS 254,921,500 (L)@ 53.59%
Shalom Family Holding Limited Interest in a controlled corporation
UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited Shalom Trust Z3EA 254,921,500 (L)® 53.59%
UBS Trustee (BVI) Limited Trustee of Shalom Trust
Space Management Limited BEnEAA 52,324,293 (L)® 11.00%
Space Management Limited Beneficial owner
Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited Ezi#A A 35,675,676 (L)@ 7.5%
Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited Beneficial owner
MMEBEEREEZADERAF ey IVRE 0k F e 35,675,676 (L)@ 7.5%
(Hangzhou Yungiang Enterprise Interest in a controlled corporation

Management Consulting Co., Ltd.*)

*  For identification purpose only
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BREREE LB

Name of Shareholders

510 HEHEME

Capacity/Nature of interest

RAELQF
ERITRAEZ
BHBED S

Approximate

percentage of
issued share
capital in

the Company®

Number of
shares

ALIS%/ NS R RBER REEHEE 8 = 35,675,676 (L)@ 7.5%
R BRAF
(Ant Small and Micro Financial Interest in a controlled corporation
Services Group Co., Ltd.*)
MINEHEEBRNER AR MNEEHEE S = 35,675,676 (L)@ 7.5%
(Hangzhou Yunbo Investment Interest in a controlled corporation
Consultancy Co., Ltd.*)
BE MNEEHEE = 35,675,676 (L)@ 7.5%
Ma Yun Interest in a controlled corporation
* For identification purpose only
k=3 Notes:
1. M A F 201545 A 21 HIE % T 4,400,00017 85 I 1. Mr. Lam was granted 4,400,000 share options on 21 May 2015. For

B BEHHE B2RAFHBRESE -4 -

2. Media Cornerstone ¥ A 254,921,500 fi% % 15 - 2.
Media Cornerstone H Shalom Family Holding
Limited ([ Shalom Family]) & &% * fShalom
Family Bl g5 2 # {5 7T Shalom Trust 2 E# A& °
Shalom Trust B3 & & 4 1F /3 Bf & &% T A & UBS
Trustees (BVI) Limited £ &S 55 AR © Family
Trust 2 RZm ARBMELE - HETREKE KA
BETEEMAREMALT - REFHRBEKRY - 2
FEAM AR BRMedia CornerstonelE BRI

h B RS -

3. % 4 7B Space Management M — & 3 © Space 3.
Management£52,324,293 % & () i A 4z - H
74138,200,000 B0 A EER B )25 - LA AR IR A
HR2017F 11 B10R 2 MR HEAE ST R A

HEIA201769A7TH 2 REWZET

(REBE

J2 88 —#1t 7N %8 /330,000,0007% 7T £ 20,000,0007%
TLZ KRBT E 7 ([ AR B AR E S )

B R HE S I 2 14,124,293 B % 67

7]

20,000,0007% 7T #9 85 — #it sk AR A A #R iR 7 % (Bt
B5,649,717IRAR 5 # AL ) 201946 A 25 B 89X
TERASERFEE - B —HRE ZRKAXRK

BEiEcEs
28 HFEM °
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2RI 2017912 A28 H [ 2019F 6 A

further details, please refer to the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” of this annual report.

The 254,921,500 Shares are held by Media Cornerstone. Media
Cornerstone is wholly owned by Shalom Family Holding Limited
("Shalom Family”), which is in turn wholly owned by the Shalom
Trust, discretionary trust. The Shalom Trust established by Mr. Lam
as settlor and UBS Trustees (BVI) Limited as trustee. The discretionary
beneficiaries of the Family Trust are Mr. Lam, certain of his family
members and other persons who may be added from time to time. By
virtue of the SFO, the Trustee is deemed to be interested in the Shares
in which Media Cornerstone is interested in.

Mr. Lam is the sole shareholder of Space Management, which holds
interest in 52,324,293 Shares with 38,200,000 Shares in actual
Shares and conversion rights of 14,124,293 Shares pursuant to
the completion of the first and second tranches of subscription of
the Perpetual Subordinated Convertible Securities ("PSCS”) in the
principal amount of HKD30,000,000 and HKD20,000,000 respectively
under the Subscription Agreement dated 7 September 2017 as
amended and supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement dated
10 November 2017. The subscription of the second tranche of the
PSCS in the principal amount of HKD20,000,000 with conversion
rights of 5,649,717 Shares was approved by the shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting on 25 June 2019. The first and second
tranches of the PSCS were completed on 28 December 2017 and 28
June 2019, respectively.
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4, Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited#$%535,675,676
f& %15 o Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited &
MMNEECEEEFRAERARANZERE  MIMNE
BEEEXBEEFRAEFRAANEMIHEE LSRR
BEERNDAERRTZERA - MITHE VISR
RS EBERMHERAREMMERRBRESED
2 (BRAR)EEH21.53% L HMNEBHERE
AR E(BRER B L28.45% » ZME A AH
EEXERENMMNEHRREZABRRFNEZER
ﬁ °

5. 2019128318 » BEITHRAR475,675,6760%
Bt -

EEE
[LIBiFRE

B ESCRTIEEE SN 0 FR2019F12A318 » I
E|EAM A TRIRM BB PG RIEE
HE R EIEDIE336IKBEE 2 B Mt sk
ZHERIRA -

EERRG  THERENzEH

BRSNS RANE BF R R A BFE
BREMEDFEZBANEEXBEARBMA
NRAEAIEEMBE AR REPRNT - BARTA
EENHMEEBRNETERAMERAE
AEZZBEARS  RHRAH

() ARAEEZENBAR LSHLTHE
EERAB(EAFE) B gD E
HEAERAG(EAFXE)FTULULHE
W& AE A ARE114,000/ B AR
EBZBAE H2017FE781HER
2020F6 A30B L (BIEEREMA ) AH
=F RARFIMEEZENBATILR
HEHESHERAR(EARE)BEE
BRERAF(EAXE)FI L EE
Wi AE A AREE347,300/ AR
ERZPWAE - A2017F7A1B#EE
2020F6 A30H L (BIEBEEMA ) A H
—F HBRARAIBHA2017F6A
0B ZREANERE &

4. The 35,675,676 Shares are held by Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding
Limited. Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding Limited is wholly-owned by
MMEBCEERARNER2AA (Hangzhou Yungiang Enterprise
Management Consulting Co., Ltd.*), which is in turn wholly-owned by
AT Y5/ NS RS R B R AR 2 8 (Ant Small and Micro Financial
Services Group Co., Ltd.*) ¥L#E/ M eRBRBEEBRNHER D
A which is owned as to approximately 21.53% by Hangzhou Junao
Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) and approximately
28.45% by Hangzhou Junhan Equity Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership), which are wholly-owned by MM E#HZ EHFAER AR
(Hangzhou Yunbo Investment Consultancy Co., Ltd*), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Ma Yun.

5. As at 31 December 2019, the issued share capital was 475,675,676

Shares.

Abbreviations:
“L" stands for long position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, there
were no other persons who had an interest or short position
in the Shares, or underlying Shares which recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the following transactions, no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company or his
or her connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the
financial year:

()  the tenancy agreements between Shanghai Asiaray
Advertising Company Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, and
Asiaray China Media Limited, as landlord, to lease
the office in Shanghai for RMB114,000 per month
for a term of three years from 1 July 2017 to 30 June
2020 (both days inclusive); and It RHELHEESHR
A7) (Beijing Asiaray Advertising Company Limited®),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
as tenant, and Billion China International Limited, as
landlord, to lease the office in Beijing for RMB347,300
per month for a term of three years from 1 July 2017 to
30 June 2020 (both days inclusive) as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2017;
and

*  For identification purpose only
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(i)

(iii)

T

KRN A B EEEK B A 8 Genesis
Printing and Production Limited (E&
HE)RRERRAT(EAET )Y
HEIA201769 818 %20184%E3A1H
2 HE W - LAE A30,000 E7t(2017
FOATHEZE2018F2828H 1L (B1F
BEMHB)) &% A28,000/% T (20184F
3ATH##EE2020F6A308 IH(BEY
EMRA))AAMNREEZEE RIEE
i RARBIBEEZENBRARE AR
THESBRAR(EATRR)BRER
RARI(EREZ )T Lo HEwRE - B
2016%F2 A1 8 AE A14,00087C(2016
F3A1HMEZE2018F2828H 1L (B1F
HEEMAB)BEME)XFH 16,0008
(201853 A1HE20205F6 A30H (8%
BEMB))BAMNREBZERBA
HERAARBHAE2017F9A818 K
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(i)

(iii)

the tenancy agreements dated 1 September 2017
and 1 March 2018 between Genesis Printing and
Production Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, and Peaky
Limited, as landlord, to lease the warehouse and car
parking space in Hong Kong for HKD30,000 per month
from 1 September 2017 to 28 February 2018 (both days
inclusive) and HKD28,000 per month from 1 March
2018 to 30 June 2020 (both days inclusive); and Hong
Kong Asiaray Advertising Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, and
Peaky Limited, as landlord, to lease the warehouse in
Hong Kong on 1 February 2016 for HKD14,000 per
month for a term of two years from 1 March 2016 to 28
February 2018 (both days inclusive), and HKD16,000
per month for the term from 1 March 2018 to 30
June 2020 (both days inclusive) as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 1 September
2017 and 1 March 2018; and

the tenancy agreement between Tf/8 H (T4 3R 3 H1E
B A7F] (Zhuhai Asiaray Newspaper Media Company
Limited*), 60% of its equity interest held by the Group,
as tenant, and Mr. Lam, as landlord, to lease an office
in PRC on 1 March 2018 for RMB39,000 per month
for a term of two years and four months from 1 March
2018 to 30 June 2020 (both days inclusive) as disclosed
in the Announcement of the Company dated 1 March
2018, all of which Mr. Lam was interested in, as at the
31 December 2019.

*  For identification purpose only
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. Lam, Media Cornerstone, Space Management and
Shalom Family (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”)
entered into a Deed of Non-competition dated 22
December 2014 with the Company (the “Deed of Non-
competition”). Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition,
each of the Controlling Shareholder has undertaken that,
among other things, he/it shall not and shall procure his/
its associates not to, either alone or jointly with any other
person or entity, or for any other person, firm or company,
or as principal, partner, director, employee, consultant
or agent through any body corporate, partnership, joint
venture or other contractual arrangement, be engaged,
invested, or otherwise involved, whether as a shareholder,
director, employee, partner, agent or otherwise, directly or
indirectly, in the carrying on of any business in any form or
manner in Hong Kong or the PRC in competition or likely to
be in competition, directly or indirectly, with the business
operated by the Group in Hong Kong or the PRC. Mr. Lam
has further undertaken that he shall procure Main Element
Profits Limited to exercise all its voting power in & /&t
HEERMABM AT (Taiwan Asiaray Advertising Holdings
Company Limited)* (“Taiwan Asiaray”) to ensure that the
business of Taiwan Asiaray will not expand outside Taiwan.
Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders
— Non-Competition Undertakings” of the prospectus of the
Company dated 31 December 2014.

The Company has received confirmations from the
Controlling Shareholders of their compliance with the Deed
of Non-competition for the year ended 31 December 2019
(the “Confirmations”). The Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company have been provided with all
necessary information and have reviewed the Confirmations
and are satisfied that the Deed of Non-competition was
complied with and was effectively enforced during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year, none of the Directors is interested in any
business, apart from the Group’s business, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's business.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did
not have any significant investments.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did
not have material acquisitions or disposals.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties
regarded as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting
principles. These mainly relate to contracts entered into by
the Group in the ordinary course of business, which contracts
were negotiated on normal commercial terms and on an
arm'’s length basis. Further details are set out in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Some of these transactions also constituted non-exempt
“Connected Transaction” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions” under the Listing Rules, as identified below.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Kunming Airport Agreement

On 9 July 2019, EE=EHA#ESFEER AT (Yunnan
Airport Asiaray Information Media Company Limited*)
("Yunnan Airport Asiaray”), a subsidiary of the Company with
51% of its equity interest indirectly held by the Company,
entered into the Kunming Airport Agreement as leasee
with BEBRKBIREISZBEREE AT (Kunming Changshui
International Airport Limited Liability Company*) (“"Kunming
Airport Company”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of ZE %5
EEBRFEZAT (Yunnan Airport Group Limited Liability
Company*), as leasor, a connected person of the Group
at the subsidiary level, pursuant to which Kunming Airport
Company agreed to grant exclusive concession rights to
Yunnan Airport Asiaray to operate, manage, maintain and
sale of advertising and media resources located at terminal
1 of Kunming Changshui International Airport, for a total
consideration of approximately RMB919,033,000 (equivalent
to approximately HKD1,044,021,000) (VAT included) from
28 June 2019 to 27 June 2026, payable from Yunnan Airport
Asiaray to Kunming Airport Company. The details could be
referred to the announcement dated 9 July 2019.

*  For identification purpose only
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Perpetual Subordinated Convertible Securities (“PSCS")
On 7 May 2019, the Company proposed to call for
subscription of the second tranche of the PSCS by the
Space Management Limited as the subscriber at the
principal amount of HKD20,000,000, convertible into the
ordinary shares of the Company ("Conversion Shares”) at
the Conversion Price of HKD3.54 per Conversion Share.
The second batch of PSCS HKD20,000,000 has been issued
on 28 June 2019 after approval of EGM held on 25 June
2019. Since Space Management Limited is a controlling
shareholder of the Company and the sole ultimate beneficial
owner of Space Management Limited is Mr. Lam, who is
an executive Director and the controlling shareholder of
the Company. Space Management Limited is therefore a
connected person of the Company and the subscription
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For details of the PSCS,
please refer to notes 19 of the notes to consolidated
financial statements.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
entered into a number of transactions with entities which will
be regarded as connected parties of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the announcements dated 15 June 2015,
27 March 2017, 31 March 2017, 30 June 2017, 1 September
2017, 30 November 2017, 14 December 2017, 1 March 2018
and 20 November 2018, the annual cap of the concession
fees, rental expenses and service fee payable for the year
ended 31 December 2019 include:

i.  the agreement dated 12 June 2015 with A& 15 E
EHBMRZAF (Henan Airport Group Company Limited*)
("Henan Airport Group”) and its associates. The
annual cap for the agreement is RMB163.2 million.
Henan Airport Group is a substantial shareholder of
an indirect subsidiary of our Company, and each of
the Henan Airport Group and its associates is thus a
connected person of the Company. The concession
fee payable for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately RMB89.8 million;

ii. the cooperation agreement dated 6 January 2017 with
KEWEERILEBGR AT (Tianjin Metro Resources
Investment Company Limited*) (“Tianjin Metro
Resources”) and its associates. The annual cap for the
cooperation agreement is RMB35 million, Tianjin Metro
Resources is a connected person of the Company at
subsidiary level. The concession fee payable for the
year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately

RMB18.8 million;

*  For identification purpose only
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the tenancy agreements dated 30 June 2017 with
Asiaray China Media Limited (”Asiaray China”) and
Billion China International Limited (“Billion China").
The annual cap for the tenancy agreements is
RMB5,535,600. Asiaray China and Billion China are
both wholly-owned by Mr. Lam, an Executive Director
and controlling shareholder of the Company, and thus
Asiaray China and Billion China are both connected
person of the Company. The rental expense payable
under the tenancy agreements for the year ended 31
December 2019 was RMB5.5 million;

the tenancy agreements dated 1 February 2016,
1 September 2017 and 1 March 2018 with Peaky
Limited. The annual cap for the tenancy agreements
is HKD528,000. Peaky Limited is wholly owned by Mr.
Lam, an Executive Director and controlling shareholder
of the Company, thus Peaky Limited is a connected
person of the Company. The rental expense payable
under the tenancy agreements for the year ended 31
December 2019 was HKD528,000;

the framework agreement dated 26 November 2016
with RIS HECREEBR R F] (Shenzhen Airport
Asiaray Media Company Limited*) (the “Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray”). The annual cap for service fee
payable to Shenzhen Airport Asiaray for the advertising
services provided by Shenzhen Airport Asiaray to the
Group was revised to RMB172.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018, and the annual cap for
service fee payable to the Group for the advertising
services provided by the Group to Shenzhen Airport
Asiaray is RMB8.3 million. Shenzhen Airport Asiaray
is a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level. The service fee payable by the Group
to Shenzhen Airport Asiaray for the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately RMB119.9 million
and the service fee payable to the Group by Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray for the year ended 31 December 2019
was approximately RMB6.8 million; and

the framework agreement dated 21 October 2014
with Yunnan Airport Group Limited Liability Company
("Yunnan Airport Company”). The annual cap for the
framework agreement is RMB218.8 million. Yunnan
Airport Company is a substantial shareholder of an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
and each of Yunnan Airport Company and its
associates is thus a connected person of the Company.
The concession fee payable for the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately RMB141.2 million;
and

the tenancy agreement dated 1 March 2018, between
Zhuhai Asiaray Newspaper Media Company Limited
and Mr. Lam. The annual cap for rental payable to
Mr. Lam is RMB468,000. The rental payable for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was RMB315,000.
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REFD BT ARG LIRTF - IAEREE The Group has established internal controls and procedures
BRAEZSHFTE LMBRANETE - WHKEFIE to ensure the compliance of the continuing connected
REAERGMENERIGBELFE & transactions with the requirement of the Listing Rules.
B-EFe(BEBFRTES)DEHML Finance department has prepared monthly transaction
BRER I HERERZIRENEM : reports to ensure the annual caps not to be exceeded. The
Board, including the Independent Non-executive Directors,
has reviewed and confirmed that the continuing connected
transactions have been entered into and the fees paid were:
i BRASENATEBRE i.  inthe ordinary course of business of the Group;
i. EBE-REEEFITERAEE B ii. either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
FE=HIRMEEUSRTET & favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third party; and
i, WBEATAEBHANKEREIY  X&/E iii. in accordance with the terms of the Contract that
RARIRERE BRI o are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
BEESSHTMASHMNEEEFERE The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
BIIZ5300085% [ FF 5 B 75 & A 28 4% sk 28 B LAY Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
EE TR WAREERHBE740% [HE LT with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
FARTENSERES SHZEE RE] - &K "Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
NI BN RNEREERES SIE of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
HlRE - ZHAERERSHARIMER to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
NAEIFES FHHEBFE14A 6B AN EF N F Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
WETCZTSEFERNIFERER S - HHE Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
REBERB R - WEAEER NGRS - Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter
containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Grou
on page 76 to 78 of the Annual Report in accordance witE
paragraph 14A. 56 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
RRRZBMEMEFTGEEARRAE L The auditor of the Company has confirmed to the Board
REFERHRZEBR - in writing that the continuing connected transactions have
been entered into and the fees:
() DEEFgHE: (a) was approved by the Board;
(b) FTEAEERTEECE (b) was in accordance with the pricing policy of the Group;
() DRBRERGHMERRETIL 0 & (c) was entered into in accordance with the terms of the

agreements, governing the transactions; and

(d) THBABA2015F6A158 « 201745 (d) did not exceed the relevant cap amount for the
3H278 - 2017%F3A31H * 201756 year ended 31 December 2019 as set out in the
H30H ~ 2017F9H1H  2017F 11 A announcements dated 15 June 2015, 27 March 2017,
308 + 2017F12H148 20183 A1 31 March 2017, 30 June 2017, 1 September 2017, 30
A%2018F 11 A20 B WA EFMEEE November 2017, 14 December 2017, 1 March 2018
§£19¢12H31E¢¢F§E@ﬁ%§$§ﬁt and 20 November 2018.

BEEER B EXBEESEN  REHB%ER The Directors confirm that, save as disclosed above, none

7= PR 5T 33 P H A (Efr] B3 5 A2 S A AL | of the related party transactions set out in Note 33 to the

TR E T TNAEIE THBER 5 S5 E e consolidated financial statements constituted connected

25 o Riga M BmRMEI3MHEEI - transactions or continuing connected transactions under

AEEBHEI A AR REHREERE EH Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Saved as disclosed in note

HAARBERBENBEESFHEEEES 33 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had

5 o not entered into any connected transaction or continuing

connected transactions which are required to be disclosed in
this report pursuant to the Listing Rules during the Reporting
Period.
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ErRERE PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
BEBEARRIZEBERIASHEER I There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
EBLERE Z G XORTEARR B AL AIE Company'’s articles of association or the laws of Cayman
RBEREEBEEIRND - Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
DWMFRE PUBLIC FLOAT
BEAANTUNAFAEERGEcEHRIBES Based on the information that was publicly available to the
P RAFRBEH  ARFRELIFE L Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at
TRAMRETDRARE S EITERND25% the date of this annual report, there was sufficient public
Z R float of not less than 25% of the Company's issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules.
ANEIR HUMAN RESOURCES
AEFEMBESERPERENZERESRHER The Group offers competitive remuneration packages,
Wl W HFIES  BEE - BEREM including trainings, medical, insurance coverage and
RRAER] - PR2019F 124310 - "EE¥S retirement benefits, to all employees in Hong Kong and in
1,109%ZEE (20184 : 1,001 BEE) - RE Mainland China. As at 31 December 2019, the Group has
ZE2019F K2018F 12 A3 L FENH S 1,109 employees (2018: 1,001 employees). The total salaries
BERBBEKADNAE2069FEBTR and related costs for the years ended 31 December 2019
213.6B8ETT ° and 2018 amounted to approximately HKD266.9 million and
HKD213.6 million, respectively.
B DONATIONS
AEEFANZZEZIBHAA115000%8 T Charitable donations made by the Group during
(20184 : #J145,000/870) ° the year amounted to approximately HKD115,000
(2018: approximately HKD145,000).
HEROBE ST CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
BREBFAS(RREFKE]) Annual General Meeting ("AGM")
KRB AR 2020F 6 A22H (EH—) %2020 The register of members of the Company will be closed from
FoH26BH (EHR)HE(HEMABEERN) Monday, 22 June 2020 to Friday, 26 June 2020 (both days
TERIERBELTE  HABT@RIEE inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be
Al IR HBEE o effected.
RTEE A BN FE AR FIN202066 A26H (2 In order to determine who are eligible to attend and vote
HA)BTHRRBFASUAES FREAL at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held
ZEW® - ARARRAERABBE X ME on Friday, 26 June 2020, the shareholders of the Company
AAEBRETENR2020F6 198 (28 A) should ensure that all transfers accompanied by the relevant
THAUE=FDRAERARE 2B BRGD A share certificates must be lodged for registration with the
FPEREEAPRELFZLARAT - it Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare
BEBETEFRNERI183FAMPNTFE Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17121716 B APIBELFE - 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 19 June
2020.
BB AUDITOR
B ZE2019F 12 A31BIEFE 2 & BB EmE The consolidated financial statements for the year
ERHBEIRKESAMEBAERZ %A ended 31 December 2019 have been audited by
AIAEER ERFEAERBEEERERKRE PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire and being eligible,
RERG LBEXER HTREERREFRS offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.
b BIRESRAZRENEBE I KESTH A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM for the
EFATHEARR R 2 ZEED - re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the
Company.
RERESFE On behalf of the Board
MEE Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
FE Chairman
& - 20203 A27H Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
* For identification purpose only

BHHEEEMERAT 2019 Fif 80



B MV B E

£

=

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

e
pwc

B4 EEREERRATRR
(RASHSEME L ERAA])

=R
EMEELNAR

HEREEREEERAA (A THEREIER
ADREMBAR(ATSRREEEE])5IH
REIIE229AMA I BHRE - B :

o  A2019F12A3MAMAEHEEAGS

o BEZALFENAMHRANKNE
o BEZALFENAMEREDE

s HEZRLFEMAMHRERER R

o  AHBHRERME  BREAGITERE
BE -

RANER

BMRE  ZEEHUBRREBER B
AR ASEMNCEBUBRELELNDEEM
FERE T EEBER2019F12A31HKE
HUBRAREBEZBLEFENEHITG
RERAHRERE  WEBEBEREB(AAIE
Bl BB B IR e B R -

R ki

To the Shareholders of Asiaray Media Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Asiaray Media
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 93 to 229, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2019;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince's Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
("the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

o Impairment assessment of trade receivables
. Recognition of deferred income tax assets

*  Adoption of HKFRS 16 — Lease
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Refer to Note 3.1(b), Note 4(a) and Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had trade
receivables, net, of HKD441.4 million and provision
for impairment of trade receivables of HKD36.6
million respectively.

Management applied the simplified approach to
measure the lifetime expected loss allowance for
all its trade receivables. In developing the loss
allowances of trade receivables, management used
judgement in making the assumptions about the risk
of default and expected credit loss rate with reference
to the historical payment profiles of sales, the
corresponding historical credit losses rate, forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors. In
addition, management also reviewed the credit risk
of individual debtors by considering the nature of
transactions, relationship with customers and their
financial position, etc. to assess whether any increase
in credit risk which may trigger further specific
provision at the end of the reporting period.

Impairment of trade receivables was made based
on an assessment of the recoverability of trade
receivables. Provision for impairment of trade
receivables involved management’s judgement and
uncertainties of the actual outcome which may be
different from original estimates.

We focused on this area because significant
judgement and estimates are involved in the
determination of the recoverable amounts of trade
receivables.

In response to the key audit matter, we performed the
following procedures:

J We understood and evaluated the design of internal
controls over the provision for impairment of trade
receivables process including credit control, data
collection and analysis, determination and approval
for impairment provision, etc. We validated the
effectiveness of these key internal controls, on a sample
basis.

o We discussed with management and assessed the
reasonableness of the provision policy of trade
receivables and assessed any indicators for change
in credit risk characteristics from historical patterns.

J We analysed the aging profile and historical
loss allowance on trade receivables to assess
the reasonableness of expected credit loss rates
calculated by management.

J We challenged management for the assumptions
and data used in assessing the expected credit loss
rate, corroborated explanations with underlying
documentation and correspondence with the customers.

o We also interviewed supervisors in finance
department, sales department and legal
department to corroborate their explanations on
the doubtful receivable balances on a sample basis
to evaluate whether any increase in credit risk which
may trigger further specific provision.

J We compared the subsequent collection with the
original estimation to evaluate the reliability and
accuracy of management judgement and estimates
in the impairment assessment.

Based on the procedures above, we found that the

judgement and estimates applied by management was
supported by the evidence that we obtained.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Recognition of deferred income tax assets

Refer to Note 4(b) and Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The balance of deferred income tax assets as at
31 December 2019 was HKD153.6 million.

Management recognised deferred income tax
assets based on judgement that it is probable to
generate sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable
future against which the unutilised tax losses and
the temporary differences would be utilised. The
recognition of deferred income tax assets involved
management’s judgements and estimations about
the timing and the amount of taxable profits to be
generated during the forecast period.

Management has prepared a profit forecast to assess
the timing and amount of taxable profits in the
foreseeable future to utilise the tax losses. It involved
key assumptions such as revenue growth rate, gross
profit margin, unutilised tax loss and temporary
differences.

Management also exercised judgement to determine
the temporary difference due to the complex and
various deferred income tax categories and the tax
law enacted in the jurisdictions where the Group
companies operate.

We focused on this area because significant judgement
and estimates are involved in recognition of deferred
income tax assets.

In response to the key audit matter, we performed the
following procedures:

o We understood and evaluated the design of internal
controls over the preparation and approval of
the forecast used to support the recognition of
the deferred income tax asset. We validated the
effectiveness of key internal controls, on a sample
basis.

J We compared the current year actual results with
the forecast taxable figures included in the prior
year forecast to assess the reasonableness of
forecasts.

J We challenged the reasonableness of management'’s
assumptions of revenue growth rate and gross
profit margin by comparing them against historical
results of comparable business units or subsidiaries.

J We tested the accuracy of temporary differences
and tax losses by recalculating management’s
deferred income tax assets schedules and reviewing
the underlying documents, on a sample basis.

Based on the above, we found that the judgement and

estimates applied by management was supported by the
evidence that we obtained.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Adoption of HKFRS 16 - Lease

Refer to Note 2.2, Note 4(d) and Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Management adopted HKFRS 16 — Leases (“HKFRS
16") on 1 January 2019 by specific transition approach.
This approach required the Group to determine
the carrying amounts of the leases in existence as
at 1 January 2019 if those leases had always been
accounted for applying HKFRS 16 but not restated
comparative information for 2018 reporting period.

The lease liabilities were initially measured at
aggregated present value of the lease payments
relating to the right to use the assets during the lease
terms, which involved significant judgements and
estimates in determining the discount rates and the
lease terms with renewal options.

We focused on this area because significant effort
was spent auditing the lease liabilities recognised
due to the large volume of leases and the significant
judgements and estimates involved in determining
the appropriate discount rates and lease terms.

In response to the key audit matter, we performed the
following procedures:

e  We understood of and evaluated the internal
controls, including new processes and controls
in respect of the application of HKFRS 16. We
validated the effectiveness of these key internal
controls, on a sample basis.

*  We assessed the appropriateness of management'’s
assessments on the identification of leases based
on the contractual agreements and our knowledge
of the business.

J We obtained a summary of leases from management,
and tested, on a sample basis, the key terms of each
lease, including lease terms and lease payments, by
tracing such inputs to the underlying lease contracts.

J We assessed the judgements and estimates involved
in determining the lease terms with renewal options
based on the contractual terms, nature and condition
of the assets and our knowledge of the business.

. We assessed the appropriateness of discount rates
with the assistance of our internal valuation experts.

° We tested, on a sample basis, the calculation of
the lease liabilities based on lease payments, the
discount rates and the expected lease terms.

Based on the procedures above, we found that the

judgement and estimates applied by management was
supported by the evidence that we obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Corporate Overview, Asiaray
at A Glance, Media Network, Our Philosophy, Events of
the Year, Awards and Recognition, Financial Highlights,
Chairman’s Statement, Management Discussion and
Analysis, Director’s Profile, Corporate Governance Report,
Report of the Directors, Five-Year Financial Summary
and Corporate Information (but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report, and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, which is expected to be made available
to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to Audit
Committee and take appropriate action considering our
legal rights and obligations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ms. Cecilia, Lai Ting Yau.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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Notes
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6
Right-of-use assets 7
Land use rights 2.2
Investment properties 8
Intangible assets 9
Investments accounted for using
the equity method 12
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 10

Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive

income 10
Deferred income tax assets 14
Other receivables and deposits 15

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables 15
Short-term bank deposits

Restricted cash 16
Cash and cash equivalents 16

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Share capital 17
Reserves 18

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

20195 20184
2019 2018

TExT TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

106,235

23,724
8,785
21,400
38,136
5,943
7,619

92,937
15,826

320,605

2,444
840,865
6,122

49,489
379,931

1,278,851

1,599,456

44,000
418,619

462,619

112,558

575,177
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20195 20184
2019 2018

TExT TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

a8

Liabilities

FRBEE Non-current liabilities
EE Borrowings 20
HEAE Lease liabilities 7
BEEBHRAsE Deferred income tax liabilities 14
nREAE Current liabilities
FEAT BR 3R e H At FE A 3B Trade and other payables 21 573,053
BREE Contract liabilities 22 145,051
BAFEHAEZEERD Financial liabilities at fair value
TRAE through profit or loss 36 6,611
&R Borrowings 20 191,280
BIEAFRIS R A& Current income tax liabilities 27,704
HEAE Lease liabilities 7 _
maE Total liabilities 1,024,279
BEZREE Total equity and liabilities 1,599,456

A EAPHEE & BRIE BB —OFBIE -

FI00E229BNEHPBRREEEFTERN
20205F3 27 B ETIZE - WHIATESRK
REE -

M
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
E

Chairman
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The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 229
were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 27
March 2020 and were signed on its behalf.

MRE
Lam Ka Po
HITEE

Executive Director



SOtEE SRR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

L'ON
WA

E7
HERMSHERERX
TTHRFEX
SREERERIRFH

HAb YA
Hilzs - F8

HEFNHE

BEWA
B E A

BB - FER
EAESAARN D AR BE
NCIEbEENE

BRATSBLAT (B5E),FE
FrsBiEe,/ (FxX)

FEER) T

Revenue
Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Selling and marketing expenses

Administrative expenses

Net impairment losses on
financial assets

Other income

Other gains, net

Operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance costs, net

Share of net profit of associates
accounted for using the equity
method

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Income tax credit/(expense)

(Loss)/profit for the year

HtaF
Notes

23

23
23

25
26

27
27

27

12

28

HZ12A318LLEE

Year ended 31 December
20194

20184
2019 2018
TExT TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

1,928,866
(1,444,746)

484,120

(163,982)
(180,4006)

(7,998)

11,751
1,338

153,268

(26,553)

126,715
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Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss
Net gains/(losses) from changes in
financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive
income, net of tax
Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

(Loss)/profit for the year

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

(Loss)/earnings per share
attributable to owners of
the Company for the year
(expressed in HK cents per share)

— Basic and diluted

HtaF FHET
Notes

29

HZ12A318LLEE

Year ended 31 December
20194

20185
2019 2018

TAET

HKD’000 HKD’000

10

126,715

101,424

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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LNGIE PN
Attributable to owners of the Company
B % gt R it
Non-
Share controlling

capital Reserves Total interests Total
57 a7 57 7 57
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

R2018E1 R 1 &8 Balance at 1 January 2018 44,000 490,007 534,007 41,701 575,708
Feks Comprehensive income
EERE Profit for the year = 62,953 62,953 63,762 126,715
HitGEERE Other comprehensive loss = (21,102) (21,102) (4,189) (25,291)
FERANRAR Total comprehensive income
for the year - 41,851 41,851 59,573 101,424
FERERTE Capital injection by non-controlling
interests - - - 3,787 3,787
WENEARELNIEERES Non-controlling interests arising
(#1:£36) from acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 36) - - - 7,960 7,960
KRR AR E 57 K Distributions to perpetual
subordinated convertible
securities ("PSCS") - (1,743) (1,743) - (1,743)
e e IN G Purchase of shares for share
(H#32) award scheme (Note 32) - (17,336) (17,336) - (17,336)
RE(frz230) Dividends (Note 30) - (94,160) (94,160) (463) (94,623)
BEEANEREEASD Total transactions with owners,
ETNRZEHE in their capacity
as owners - (113,239) (113,239) 11,284 (101,955)
R2018F12 831 BRI &84 Balance at 31 December 2018 44,000 418,619 462,619 112,558 575177
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ADRER AL
Attributable to owners of the Company

fte

s EERER
Non-
controlling
interests
TR
HKD'000

VTS

Share
capital
THER
HKD'000

Total
TEx
HKD'000

Total
TAR
HKD'000

Reserves
TEx
HKD'000

Balance 31 December 2018,
as originally presented

Change in accounting policy
(Note 2.2)

Restated balance at 1 January 2019

Comprehensive loss
(Loss)/profit for the year
Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive (loss)/
income for the year

Issue of shares (Note 17)

Capital injection by non-controlling
interests

Distributions to PSCS

Issue of PSCS (Note 19)

Dividends (Note 30)

Total transactions with owners,
in their capacity as owners

Balance at 31 December 2019

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash
acquired

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Payments for financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Purchases of intangible assets

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets

Interest received

Dividends on financial assets received

Dividends received from an associate

Decrease in short-term bank deposits

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Distribution of PSCS
Payment for repurchase of shares for

share award scheme
Issue of shares, net of expenses
Capital injection by non-controlling interests
Dividend paid to owners of the Company
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
Principal elements of lease payments

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning

of the year
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end
of the year

31

31

16

BZ12A3MBLEE
Year ended 31 December

2019

20184
2019 2018
TR THT

HKD’000 HKD'000

162,569
(6,919)
(26,803)

128,847

279
(60,179

(326)
(342)

1,079
3,372
485
8,846
25,506

395,308
(268,283)
(881)

(17,408)

3,787
(94,160)
(30,236)

95,694

299,188
(14,951)

379,931

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Asiaray Media Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2014 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company's registered office is PO
Box 309, Ugland House Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares have been
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on 15 January 2015.

The Company is an investment holding company.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the development
and operations of out-of-home advertising media,
including advertising in airports, metro lines, billboards
and building solutions, mainly in the People’s Republic
of China (the “"PRC"), Hong Kong, Macau and
Southeast Asia.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“"HKD") and all figures are
rounded to the nearest thousand (HKD’000) unless
otherwise stated, and have been approved for issue by
the Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) on 27
March 2020.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.
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2.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622). The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
investment properties, which are carried at fair values.

The Group's current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by HKD34,074,000 as at 31 December
2019 (31 December 2018: net current assets of
HKD335,152,000), as a result of the recognition
of current portion lease liabilities amounting to
HKD779,164,000 as at 31 December 2019 in
accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Note 2.2). The
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
cash flow projections, which cover a period of twelve
months from 31 December 2019. The directors are of
the opinion that the Group's available sources of funds,
including the Group’s expected net cash inflows from
its operating activities in the next twelve months and
the continuous support from its banks by providing
loans and banking facilities to the Group, is sufficient
to fulfil financial obligations as and when they fall due
in the coming twelve months from 31 December 2019.
Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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2.1
(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

New standards, amendment to standards and
interpretation adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following new standards,
amendments to existing standards and interpretation
for the first time for their financial year beginning on 1
January 2019:

Annual Improvement
Project
HKFRS 16

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Leases

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Long-term interests to
Associates and Joint
Ventures

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 19

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The Group had to change its accounting policies as
a result of adopting HKFRS 16. The Group elected to
adopt the new rules retrospectively but recognised the
cumulative effect of initially applying the new standard
on 1 January 2019. This is disclosed in Note 2.2. Most
of the other amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and
are not expected to significantly affect the current or
future periods.
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2 BEASHBEMEE) 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
21 HmBEXE(E) 2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(b) EAEME E R IR A E F I SRR R (b) New standards and amendments to existing standards
B FTERI R B A 2EAINEET that have been issued but are not effective and have

not been early adopted by the Group

RUT ARz %
RN FERBER

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or after

BEEMBRERAEIR (BIX) IBZER 202051 H1H
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a business 1 January 2020
2018 F A MEBSIER RETHBREMSAER 20201 H1H
Conceptual Framework for Financial Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial 1 January 2020
Reporting 2018 Reporting
BEMBREENBI17H RBAEL 2021F1A1H
HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts 1 January 2021
BB BREERFE10RLEEG REFEABZNRRALAAZHANEEHRENTE #FE
RRIFE285 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor To be determined
HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture
iR BAKABITRZREDR The above new standards, amendments to existing
B RATKRN20195F1 A1 ABBREERE standards and interpretations have been published that
PRI S AN - EAREEWEIRES are not mandatory for the annual reporting periods
I o AT S YA B AT commencing 1 January 2019 and have not been
Sk R AR 40 2R 45 HA RS LA % AT T8 B ok AR 2 early adopted by the Group. These standards are not
SEATASE . expected to have a material impact on the Group in the

current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.
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2.2

(i)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS
16 "Leases” on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

As indicated in Note 2.1 above, the Group has
adopted HKFRS 16 Leases retrospectively from 1
January 2019, but has not restated comparatives for
the 2018 reporting period, as permitted under the
specific transition provisions in the standard. The
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from
the new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the
opening balance sheet on 1 January 2019. The new
accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2.32.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously
been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the
principles of HKAS 17 “Leases”. These liabilities were
measured at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019. The weighted
average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to
the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 5.71%.

Practical expedients applied

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group
has used the following recognition exemptions and
practical expedients permitted by the standard:

o the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics,

° reliance on previous assessment on whether
leases are onerous,

° the accounting for operating leases with a

remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at
1 January 2019 as short-term leases,

o exempting operating leases for which the
underlying assets are of low value,
o excluding initial direct costs for the measurement

of the right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application, and

o the use of hindsight in determining the lease term
where the contract contains options to extend or
terminate the lease.
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2.2
(i)

(ii)

ERGTBERMEE) 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

B BRE 2B (&) 2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

EfRAZAITH#E L (&) (i)  Practical expedients applied (Continued)

AEBTEZEIURVILZERBHPER The Group has also elected not to reassess whether

HBESHENGOELEFNTMH - 48 a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial

R siR@ERBATZNE0MmE application. Instead, for contracts entered into before

REBKBERTEGAERE17H N the transition date the Group relied on its assessment

AE (BB BRERELZEY) %8B made applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-4 “Determining

F4% [ BErTLHRAESHE [FEH whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”.

A e

FTEHEEE (i) Measurement of lease liabilities

TAT
HKD'000

MR2018F12A3MBHENKEHE Operating lease commitments disclosed
as at 31 December 2018
EFERRE X ER B BAE AR Discounted using the lessee’s incremental
EEEERRER borrowing rate of at the date of initial application
B REGEEERAFATEH LK  Less: short-term and low-value leases recognised
BEHE on a straight-line basis as expense
R2019F1 B 1B BEANEESE Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019
g Of which are:
—nE — Current
—IEnRE - Non-current

3,008,434

2,586,292

(93,947)

2,492,345

665,441

1,826,904

2,492,345
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2.2
(iii)

EXSTERBMER)

B BRE 228 (E)

AEEAREEE
HEZEREEEDRENELTE
B ARR —HERER - HMEREE
ENEEENHERBENSHENE - X
IRER2018F 12 A3 B EAHEESR
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HEMNRSBRETHE

ERANEHEEABREI/SEBAR
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20191718  EmRERAEEER
UTHEREERR :

2.2
(iii)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
Measurement of right-of-use assets

The associated right-of-use assets were measured on a
retrospective basis as if the new rules had always been
applied. Other right-of-use assets were measured at
the amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted by
the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments
relating to that lease recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet as at 31 December 2018.

Land use rights previously presented as a separate item
on the consolidated balance sheet is grouped as part
of right-of-use assets with effect from 1 January 2019.

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the
following types of assets as at 1 January 2019:

TAT
HKD'000

BEEE Advertising fixtures 2,119,289
I /NE Office 23,377
4 s A Land use rights 23,724

2,166,390
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2.2
(iv)

EXSTERRBMER)

SHBER 2B (E)

R2019F 1 A1 HHEAHEEER BXRIER
0Fks
SHBRREBHTETR2019F1A1HE
HEEAGBRNTHEE :

2.2
(iv)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
Adjustments recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet on 1 January 2019

The changes in accounting policies affected the
following items in the consolidated balance sheet on 1

SHEERER(HR)

January 2019:

20184

12A318

(WmREFZE5)
31 December

2018 as

originally

presented

FTHAT

Consolidated balance sheet

(extract) HKD'000

RnEE
FERE
RRIF165%

B 48
HR 2

Effects of

the adoption
of HKFRS 16
FHATT

HKD'000

20194
1A1H
]

1 January
2019
Restated
TET

HKD'000

FRBEE Non-current assets

TR R Land use rights 23,724 (23,724) =

EREEEK77) Right-of-use assets (Note 7) = 2,166,390 2,166,390

IRIEFTISTIAE (7L 14) Deferred income tax assets

(Note 14) 92,937 27,789 120,726

REEE Current assets

JEUBR R H b fEUgFKIE  Trade and other receivables 840,865 (32,945) 807,920
REBEE Current liabilities

MEREHE7) Lease liabilities (Note 7) - (665,441) (665,441)

JERTBR A R E A S FAIE  Trade and other payables (573,053) 261,400 (311,653)
EREBEME Non-current liabilities

HEBEMZ7) Lease liabilities (Note 7) = (1,826,904) (1,826,904)
PR ¥ Equity

REBBF(HF18) Retained earnings (Note 18) (184,450) 66,634 (117,816)

FEFERR Non-controlling interests (112,558) 26,801 (85,757)
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2 EBASHERBEE) 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 SHBE2EE(E) 2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(iv) HR2019F1HA1HEEHEE B BFXRER (iv) Adjustments recognised in the consolidated balance
T (&) sheet on 1 January 2019 (Continued)
UToEEEREREBEZSFTHREE The following segments results and loss per share were
BT E affected by the changes in the accounting policy:

BZ
20194
12A318 Lt
FENDE
E R4 hn
Increase in
segment

gross profit
for the year
ended

31 December
2019

FHERT
HKD’000

2 Airport business
b 88 K B A5 hE TS Metro and billboards business

BZE
20195124
31 LLEFEE
Year ended
31 December
2019

F#ExT
HKD’000

LER TR D

Decrease in operating expenses

B & Ak AN N Increase in finance costs
P15 % 5 S Rk Decrease in income tax expense
PiN/NEIE =N ) g~ pll Increase in loss attributable to owners

of the Company

AR ERBESM B REERF165% & Loss per share increased by HKD17.9 cents per share
Z22019F12A3M B ILFENEIRER for the year ended 31 December 2019 as a result of the
BEIR17.98E M - adoption of HKFRS 16.
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2 EASHBEBMEE) 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ApotREBEEERA 2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

2.3.1418B 2 7] 2.3.1Subsidiaries

MEBAREASEYEGEHENER
(BREBHEER) EAKEAXSEE
F2HEBRMBAEO®K - BFEN
BREHERBNRNZEZSZLRE
AIREEZESZER - (MEQR B2
BEBEAEEZHERGBTEEH
ME AR BEEGIER L BRE S -

SIHREEREEAKRBELNERS
PHEFTHIBR (AN T XX MRE2. 4574 )

RAMRS  #HEEERAMNZHH
REBUGEE T IAL S - RERBET
FEHY - REXXHROFABEER
BEEE  WBRARHRHBED NS
BEHEN R - AR IRBE
B -

P 2 S 4 R R 0 3 B 2
BIBBII TR A G A W% - A 0FiE
HEDERAGAEAME -

O A—
AN

BENRERENUEREARE SN - B
EIEHENER - —RBERT - BEW
20% Z50% R AE - R E QA
BB B AR AN R IR - B 1R DATE
BEEHEAR ©

Subsidiaries are entities (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group as
Note 2.4 below.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. When necessary, accounting
policies of the subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group's accounting policies.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated
balance sheet respectively.

2.3.2 Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting
after initially being recognised at cost.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(Continued)

2.3.3 Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in
other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in these entities. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.12.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(Continued)

2.3.4 Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the group. A change
in ownership interest results in an adjustment between
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and
any consideration paid or received is recognised in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of
the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of control
or significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This
fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced
but joint control or significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred,

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business,

o equity interests issued by the Group,

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:
o consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

) acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are
less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets
of the business acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.5

2.6

2.7
(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
directors of the Company (“Executive Directors”).

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKD, which is
the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
profit or loss.
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2.7
(b)

(c)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
Transactions and balances (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents and all other
foreign exchange gains and losses are are presented in
profit or loss within ‘other gains, net’.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets, such
as equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income, are included in other
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(i)  Income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations are taken to other comprehensive income.
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2.8

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation), all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share
of accumulated currency translation differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (that is, reductions in the group’s ownership
interest in associates or joint ventures that do not
result in the group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical costs less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment charge. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in
which they are incurred.
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2.8

2.9

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

20 years
Shorter of remaining lease
term or useful lives

Motor vehicles 5 years

Furniture and office 3-5years
equipment

Advertising fixtures 2-10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.12).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within ‘other gains, net’ in profit or loss.

Land use rights

Land use rights represents payment of land use rights
to the PRC's land bureau. Land use rights is carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided to write
off the cost of land use rights on a straight-line basis
over the periods of right which is 40 years. Land use
right previously presented as a separate item on the
consolidated balance sheet is grouped as part of right-
of-use assets with effect from 1 January 2019.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Investment properties

2.11
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Investment properties, principally freehold office
buildings, are held for long-term rental yields and are
not occupied by the Group. Investment property is
initially measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs.
Subsequently, they are carried at fair value. Changes
in fair values are presented in profit or loss as part of
other income.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 2.4.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included
in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of
goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation
is made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes, being the operating segments
(Note 5).

Software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software, and are amortised over their
estimated useful lives of 5 years.

Brand name

Brand name acquired in a business combination is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. It has a
finite useful life of 10 years.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not
yet available for use are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting date.

2.13 Financial assets

(i)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as
financial assets at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“OCI") or through profit or
loss), and at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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(ii)

(iii)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit
or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which the
Group classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in ‘other gains, net’ together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

o FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in ‘other gains, net’. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains, net and impairment expenses are
presented in profit or loss.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net within ‘other
gains, net’ in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group'’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group's right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in profit or loss within other gains, net.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses)
on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair value.
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(iv)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For
trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.

2.14 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated balance sheet
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis or realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously. The legally enforceable right
must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty. There is no offsetting
financial instruments as at 31 December 2019.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers or
agents for merchandise sold or services performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one year or less,
they are classified as current assets. Otherwise, they
are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less. Bank deposits with original maturities over three
months but less than one year are classified as ‘short-
term bank deposits’.

2.18 Share capital and shares held for employee share

scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
share options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's
equity instruments, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of
income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to
the owners of the Company as treasury shares until the
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration
received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects,
is included in equity attributable to the owners of the
Company. Shares held by the Share Award Scheme
Trust are disclosed as treasury shares and deducted
from contributed equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Perpetual subordinated convertible securities

PSCS issued by the Company gives the right to the
holder to convert those securities into a fixed number
of the Company’s shares at any time at a fixed
exercise price per share. The perpetual subordinated
convertible securities have no maturity date and are
redeemable at the option of the Company. These
securities are equity instruments.

2.20 Trade and other payables

2.21

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less. If not, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any difference
between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over
their period using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
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(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely
through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying amount
and tax bases of investments in foreign operations
where the company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the current and
prior periods.

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries and Hong Kong
subsidiaries contribute on a monthly basis to various
defined contribution plans and the mandatory
provident fund plan in Hong Kong, respectively. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they
are due. Assets of the plans of the PRC subsidiaries are
held and managed by the relevant PRC government
authorities; while assets of the plans of the Hong Kong
subsidiaries are held in separate trustee-administrated
funds in Hong Kong. The assets of the plans are
separated from those of the Group.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.
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(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments of the Group.

Employee options

The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

o including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or holding shares for a
specified period of time).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any,
in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to

equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the
purposes of recognising the expense during the period
between service commencement period and grant
date.
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2

(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital and share premium.

If an equity award is cancelled by forfeiture, when the
vesting conditions (other than market conditions) have
not been met, any expense not yet recognised for that
award, as at the date of forfeiture, is treated as if it had
never been recognised. At the same time, any expense
previously recognised on such cancelled equity awards
are reversed from the accounts effective as at the date
of forfeiture.

Employee share award scheme

Under the employee share award scheme, shares
issued by the Employee Share Trust to employees for
no cash consideration vest immediately on grant date.
On this date, the market value of the shares issued is
recognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in equity.

Share-based payment transactions among Group
entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an
increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with
a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity
accounts.

2.25 Warrant reserve

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled
by a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments are equity
instruments. The consideration from the issue of
warrants are recognised in equity (warrant reserve).
The warrant reserve will be transferred to share capital
and share premium accounts upon the exercise of the
warrants. When the warrants are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
the warrant reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits.
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow of resources will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow of resources with
respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.27 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured when or as the control of
the goods or services is transferred to a customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods and
services may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods and services is transferred
over time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

° creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to

the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.
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2.27 Revenue recognition (Continued)
If control of the goods and services transfers over time,
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revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. The Group
use the output methods to measuring the progress
towards, that recognise revenue based on direct
measurements of the value transferred to the customer.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods and
services.

Contracts with customers may include multiple
performance obligations. For such arrangements,
the Group allocates revenue to each performance
obligation based on its relative standalone selling
price. The Group generally determines standalone
selling prices based on the prices charged to
customers. If the standalone selling price is not
directly observable, it is estimated using expected
cost plus a margin or adjusted market assessment
approach, depending on the availability of observable
information. Assumptions and estimations have been
made in estimating the relative selling price of each
distinct performance obligation, and changes in
judgements on these assumptions and estimates may
impact the revenue recognition.

When either party to a contract has performed, the
Group presents the contract in the consolidated
balance sheet as a contract asset or a contract liability,
depending on the relationship between the entity’s
performance and the customer’s payment.

A contract asset is the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods and services that the Group has
transferred to a customer. A receivable is recorded
when the Group has an unconditional right to
consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before payment
of the consideration is due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

If a customer pays consideration or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional, before the Group transfers a good
or service to the customer, the Group presents the
contract liability when the payment is made or a
receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract
liability is the Group's obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration)
is due from the customer. Revenue is measured at the
fair value of the consideration received or receivable,
and represents amounts receivable for services
rendered, stated net of discounts and value-added
taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities
as described below. The Group bases its estimates
on historical results, taking into consideration the
type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement. The Group records
accounts receivables when the revenue recognized
since the Group has unconditional rights to payments
of advertising services which are due according to the
contract terms.

Advertising display services

Revenue from advertising display services is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
performance period for which the advertisements are

displayed.

Advertising production, installation and dismantling
services

Revenue from advertising production, installation and
dismantling services is recognised at a point in time
when the related advertisements is produced, installed
or dismantled.

Advertising consulting service

Revenue from rendering of consulting services is
recognised over the period in which the services are
rendered.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(d) Rental income
Rental income from operating lease of properties is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

(e)  Principal versus agent consideration

Determining whether revenue of the Group should
be reported gross or net is based on a continuing
assessment of various factors. When determining
whether the Group is acting as the principal or agent in
offering goods or services to the customer, the Group
needs to first identify who controls the specified goods
or services before they are transferred to the customer.
The Group is a principal and obtains control any of the
following: (i) a good or another asset from the other
party that the Group then transfers to the customer;
(ii) a right to a service to be performed by the other
party, which gives the Group the ability to direct that
party to provide the service to the customer on the
Group's behalf; (iii) a good or service from the other
party that the Group then combines with other goods
or services in providing the specified good or service
to the customer. If control is unclear, when the Group
is primarily obligated in a transaction, is subject to
inventory risk, has latitude in establishing prices and
selecting suppliers, or has several but not all of these
indicators, the Group records revenues on a gross basis.
Otherwise, the Group records the net amount earned as
commissions from products sold or services provided.

The Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities
of the Group in rendering the relevant services and
concluded that the Group has the primarily obligation
in rendering the services and has the sole latitude in
establishing prices. Accordingly, the Group records
the revenue driven through agents of other advertising
media space on a gross basis.

The transaction price allocated to the performance
obligations that are unsatisfied, or partially unsatisfied,
has not been disclosed, as substantially all of the
Group’s contracts have a duration of 1 year or less.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.28 Interest income

Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is
included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).

2.29 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.30 Government grants

2.31

Grants from government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grants will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Concession fee charges for advertising spaces

The Group enters into concession right agreements
with media resources owners such as metro lines and
airports, under which the Group obtains the right
to use the media resources owners’ spaces for the
display of the advertisements. The concession rights
agreement is accounted for according to Note 2.32.
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2

2.31

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Concession fee charges for advertising spaces
(Continued)

The concession fees payable to media resources
owners were typically comprised of a percentage
share of the revenue earned from the operations
(the commission fees). The commission fees were
recognised in the period in which they are actually
incurred.

2.32 Leases

As explained in Note 2.2 above, the Group has
changed its accounting policy for leases where the
Group is the lessee. The new policy is described below
and the impact of the change in Note 2.2.

Until 31 December 2018, leases in which a significant
portion of the risks and rewards of ownership were
not transferred to the Group as lessee were classified
as operating leases. Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor)
were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease.

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date
at which the leased asset is available for use by the
Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.32 Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees

e  the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.32 Leases (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received

J uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases
held by the Group, which does not have recent
third party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.
term, country, currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate,
which are not included in the lease liability until they
take effect. When adjustments to lease payments
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability
is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use
asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.32 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

. any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line
basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-
value assets comprise small advertising fixture and
small items of office furniture.

2.33 Dividends distribution

Dividends distribution to the shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements in the period in which the dividend is
declared and approved by the shareholders or the
Board, where appropriate.
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risk factors: market risk (including foreign exchange
risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by the senior management of the Group and approved
by the Board.

Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries carried out their
principal activities in the PRC in RMB. The
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government. The exchange differences arising
upon translation of net assets of subsidiaries
with functional currencies in RMB to HKD are
recognised as currency translation differences
and recorded as part of other comprehensive
income.

As less than 10% of the Group's entities’
transactions are denominated in currencies other
than their functional currencies, the directors
are of the view that exchange difference
recognised in profit or loss arise from transactions
denominated in other foreign currencies is not
material. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis for
these currencies is presented.
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3.1
(a)

Borrowings at fixed rate
Borrowings at floating rate

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk arises from interest-
bearing bank deposits and bank borrowings. Bank
deposits and bank borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. Bank borrowings at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Other than interest-bearing bank deposits, the
Group has no other significant interest-bearing
assets. The directors of the Company do not
anticipate there is any significant impact to
interest-bearing assets resulted from the changes
in interest rates, because the interest rates
of bank deposits are not expected to change
significantly.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group's
interest-bearing borrowings at variable rates and
fixed rates were as follows:

M12H31H

As at 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FExT TET
HKD’000 HKD’000
31,740 58,122
240,870 210,884
272,610 269,006
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3.1
(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019, if the
floating interest rate on borrowings had been
higher/lower by 100 basis points (2018: 100 basis
points) with all other variables held constant, the
post-tax loss (2018: post-tax profit) would be
approximately HKD1,534,000 higher/lower (2018:
HKD750,000 lower/higher) mainly as a result of
higher/lower interest expenses on floating rate
borrowings.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, if the
fixed interest rate on borrowings had been
higher/lower by 100 basis points (2018: 100 basis
points) with all other variables held constant,
the fair value of the borrowings would be
approximately HKD90,000 (2018: HKD211,000)
higher/lower mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expenses on fixed rate borrowings.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk because
of investments held by the Group, which are
classified as FVPL and FVOCI. The Group is not
exposed to commodity price risk.

The sensitivity analysis is determined based
on the exposure to price risk of the FVPL and
FVOCI at the end of each reporting period. If the
fair values of the FVPL held by the Group had
been 5% (2018: 5%) higher/lower, post-tax loss
(2018: post-tax profit) would be approximately,
HKD273,000 lower/higher (2018: HKD248,000
higher/lower) for the year ended 31 December
2019. If the fair values of the FVOCI held by the
Group had been 5% (2018: 5%) higher/lower, the
other comprehensive income, net of tax would be
approximately HKD337,000 (2018: HKD381,000)
higher/lower for the year ended 31 December
2019.
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3.1
(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk mainly arises from short-term bank deposits,
restricted cash, bank balances, trade and other
receivables excluding prepayments, FVPL and FVOCI.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the
consolidated balance sheet.

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Management
has policies in place and exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

To mitigate the risk arising from bank deposits, FVPL
and FVOCI, the Group places their bank deposits and
investments classified as FVPL and FVOCI to certain
reputable banks with a minimum rating of “investment
grade” ranked by an independent party or financial
institutions with high credit quality. The directors of the
Company does not expect any loss arising from non-
performance by these counterparties.

Trade receivables, other receivables and deposits are
continuously monitored by assessing the credit quality
of respective counterparties, taking into account its
financial position, past experience and other factors.
The Group does not obtain collateral from customers.
Impairment of financial assets

The Group has the following types of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss model:

o Trade and other receivables

o Restricted cash

J Cash and cash equivalents

. Debt investments at FVOCI
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3.1
(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss model
for all trade receivables from third parties and contract
assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due.

The loss allowances of trade receivables are based on
assumptions about the risk of default and expected
loss rate. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, mainly base on the historical payment
profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit
losses rate, current and forward-looking information on
macro-economic factors at the end of each reporting
period.

Other receivables and deposits are measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of
a receivable has occurred since initial recognition,
impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses. The allowance on impairment loss of other
receivables amounted to HKD4,467,000 (2018:
HKD4,818,000).

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the directors of
the Company was of the opinion that the impairment
loss is determined to be immaterial at 31 December
2019 and 2018.
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3 HXEBEEE) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 MERBEREE) 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) EEREEE) (b)  Credit risk (Continued)
SEMEERME(E) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
20194 201812 A31HEWER 2 The loss for impairment of trade receivables as at 31
BEBEETNT : December 2019 and 2018 was determined as follows:

16 52f
1 year to
2 years
TR
HKD'000

2RI
2 years to
3 years
Tin
HKD'000

B36fA
Up to
6 months
TiEn
HKD'000

6f8 AZ12f8R
6 months to
12 months
A7
HKD'000

31 December 2019

2019512A31H

Expected credit loss rate

RERE Gross carrying amount
BRERG Loss allowance

5568 oEAZ12EA 1E50% 2ERIE
Upto  6months to 1 year to 2 years to
20185127318 31 December 2018 6 months 12 months 2 years 3 years
AT TR T T
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
BHEEERX Expected credit loss rate 0.46% 0.58% 5.87% 22.49%
FEAE Gross carrying amount 397,028 69,027 21,675 11,407
EREE Loss allowance 1,826 401 1,272 2,565

IENL
Over

3 years
Tin
HKD'000

@t
Total
TiEn
HKD'000

IENE
Over

3 years
Ti7
HKD'000

93.91%
6,011
5,645

N/ATER
505,148
11,709

3R B 398 ST AT A A FEURBR FURA 201 94F
& 2018F 12 A31HMEREAE K EE

B R
December 2019 and 2018:

1552f
1 year to
2 years
TEn
HKD'000

2FE3F
2 years to
3 years
TEn
HKD'000

B%6fHA
Up to
6 months
TiEn
HKD'000

6fBAZ12(3R
6 months to
12 months
Tin
HKD'000

2019512A31H 31 December 2019

RAEAE
BRERE

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount
Loss allowance

5568 oHAZ12EA 1E50% 2ERIE

Upto 6 monthsto 1 yearto 2 years to

20185127318 31 December 2018 6 months 12 months 2 years 3 years
T T ThT ThT

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

BHEEERX Expected credit loss rate NAKER  NARNER 100.00% 100.00%
FEAE Gross carrying amount - - 1,041 4914
EREE Loss allowance = = 1,041 4914

The following table presents the balances of gross
carrying amounts and the loss allowance in respect
of the individually assessed trade receivables as at 31

3ENL
Over

3 years
-
HKD'000

&t

Total
Tin
HKD'000

3FHE

Over
3 years Total
AL T
HKD'000 HKD'000
100.00% N/ATER
10,951 16,906
10,951 16,906
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3.1
(b)

(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The loss allowance for trade receivables and other
receivables as at 31 December 2019 reconciling to the
opening loss allowances as follows:

JE UK BR R H b fE W R 1E
Trade receivables Other receivables
M®12H31H
As at 31 December

201945 20184 20194 20184
2019 2018 2019 2018
FHET TFET F&T TAT
HKD’'000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD’'000
28,615 27,344 4,818 1,739
8,911 4,728 (250) 3,270
(161) (2,199) - =
(780) (1,258) (101) (191)
36,585 28,615 4,467 4,818

Trade receivable and other receivables are written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group,
and a failure to make contractual payments upon
termination of projects.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and
cash equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group's finance department
maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate
cash and cash equivalents. The Group regularly
monitors compliance with lending covenants, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily
realisable marketable securities and adequate undrawn
facilities from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The Group continues its efforts to implement measures
to generating cash from new sales contracts, and to
further control capital and operating expenditures to
strengthen its working capital.
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B Borrowings
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BEaR Lease liabilities

it Total

2018512318 At 31 December 2018
B3 Borrowings
ERERRAMENE Trade and other payables
it Total
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

HME 152% 2555 SENE  HRKRER  AEREE

Between Between Total Carrying
Less than 1and 2and Over

contractual amount of
1 year 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows liabilities
T T T T T T
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

198,130 31,932 31,919 - 267,961 269,006
57,173 - - - 567,173 567,173
765,303 371,932 31,919 - 835,154 836,179

3.2 Capital management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns to the shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the
shareholders, return capital to the shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Capital management (Continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net (cash)/debt divided
by total equity. Net (cash)/debt is calculated as
total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current
borrowings’ as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity
represents the equity attributable to owners of the
Company and non-controlling interests.

RE® 20194 2018%F

Net debt 2019 AONK:]

TR THET

HKD'000 HKD’000

FRe Net cash 142,851 110,925
HErEs Total equity 513,280 575,177
FEKEERL R Net debt to equity ratio 28% 19%

3.3 AFEMRE
TREGEFEDMEAFEEYENE
BETE - TREFNERLT :

s RBEEEXARBINEERMSTHIR
BOREHRAR) (B1H) -

s ZBEXABAEZKBER)XE
Z(AIEERGL) BRNBAR
B(E 1R BREMORELRRIN (2
&) -
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3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried
at fair values, by valuation method. The different levels
have been defined as follows:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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BATES AR

ek

BAVEFIABRRR
TRARE
— ENEAKE

FVPL
FVOCI

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss
- Contingent consideration
payable

MN2018F12A31H - AEFAEA X
IR AFEAENEERERE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at 31
December 2019:

E—& -t E=R et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

FTER TER TER TER
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

The following table presents the Group's assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31
December 2018:

E— B FE=] Bt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

THAT THET TET TR
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

BRATESIABRR
BATE AR

R A Wk

BAFES ARZRA
TREE
— B ARE

FVPL
FVOCI

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss
- Contingent consideration
payable

- = 5,943 5,943
- - 7,619 7,619
- - 13,562 13,562
- - 6,611 6,611
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3 BMEEEEEZ) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 ATEMEGEE) 3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

W —IAXZHERGABIRL FFER A
BREMSEE  ARTARASIR -

BATEHENREMERE RS -

FA > B1RARFEIRRFEHERD R
ZEYEERSBMEEEY (20185 :
&) o

TR2HNEZE2019F % 2018412 A 31
HItEENEIRTEME L :

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

See Note 8 for disclosure of the investment property
that are measured at fair value.

There were no significant transfers of assets between
level 1 and level 3 fair value hierarchy classifications
during the year (2018: Nil).

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
2018:

HZ12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December
20194

20184
2019 2018
FET THIT
HKD'000 HKD’000

RAFEIIABRE FVPL

Mm1A18 At 1 January
RE Additions
NEEEE Fair value losses
M12H31H At 31 December

SFABERmME MR

Total losses included in profit or

FREM BB loss for assets within
other gains, net
B ATFEIIAEMERERE FVOCI
M1A1H At 1 January

NP ERE(ER)

Fair value gains/(losses)

M12831H At 31 December

AR A AR S WA
Wzt (BR) R

Total gains/(losses) included in
the other comprehensive income
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3
3.3

BMEEEEEZ) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
ATEGEE) 3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

HZE20195
12A31H
IEFE

Year ended

31 December
2019

FET
HKD’000

BAFEIIABHRD

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or

LRAEE—HARE loss - contingent consideration
M®1A18 At 1 January
N EER Fair value loss
Mm12H31H At 31 December
& U TR I8 % FE A BRI B 2R 0 RV BR E (B The carrying values less impairment provision of the
BREREEENTESERE - AR current portion of receivables and payables are a
BENVEEENAFEDNIZEES R reasonable approximation of their fair values. The fair
TANUARSERFERBOTSFIEAE value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
RRENRREMETED - BRIEALE estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows
VB TERX - at the current market interest rate that is available to the

Group for similar financial instruments, unless the effect of
discounting is immaterial.
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4

(a)

(b)

TR

B E T ET R A

AEBSEN GG A - XIRBE
REMEBAR(BREERREMANE
TR Em b ET KA -

FE W BR RS 1R B

& SRR R B LA R MR IR 2 IS IR B T
REEVRRELBAREBERR ZBRE
T ARERFEZEBRRIERRE
SAEBABER  REAKEZBEH
ENFKEE - BEENELREREN
RZ BUIE 1B RHE HIE -

TERREAABGATENFBERS
P TS IRRMIEE3.1(b) I RABHEER -

BN R IR A P 1§ B
AEBMAEETRIEZERBNAER
ERRXBBRETEARZ R REHT
EERKETENA - EETSEEER
RSB AR AREF2EHEEH
oo M FEHNREHBERERY)
AR BETE - A EEZRETERE
B R E 2 B RO P S SR RE AR IR
B e

AEERE LR LR REETR
P 55 L 0 2 51K B9 A B
ARTMAERIEERREDR) RR
EALFSHATE - BRBLAHEHEE
B REREYSEHABANAR
018 SR B R RO R & 5 88 9 2B R £
it o
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(a)

(b)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Loss allowance of trade receivables

The loss allowances for trade and other receivables is
made based on assumptions about the risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s
historical payment profiles of sales, historical default
history, as well as forward looking information at the
end of each reporting period.

Details of the key assumptions and inputs used
are disclosed in the table in Note 3.1(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. There are many transactions and events
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Significant
judgement is required from the Group in determining
the provision for income taxes in each of these
jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

The Group recognises deferred income tax assets
based on judgement that it is probable to generate
sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future
against which the unutilised tax losses and the
deductible temporary differences would be utilised.
The recognition of deferred income tax assets mainly
involved management’s judgements and estimations
about the timing and the amount of taxable profits of
the companies which had tax losses.
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(c)

(d)

RS eT RAM (&)

B ARE

M2018F10A30R » A&EE TR K
Radius Displays International Limited
([ Radius Displays ] ) B #& 1Tl 5 2
51% © Radius Displays & H [ff & 2 &
(%78 [Radius Displayste [ ) E 2% 7%
RRHEESERTR BEHREETH
PRE&RAT - TIRREMRY - BERE
HBHASE KB R EEFENF
BRI KELESEE - BEEIKER
NS AREAESL REKNEEREHE
N fhET

MR ERREE

AREEHAMNE  KEZEEGELTE
FERBZETTER IR ZRNEE
RBOMBSERBR  EREER
(FRLEEREERNHM)ESENARE
BEREMER(HTRIE) BN T
AEHA - BERKES RO ESA
HEaE AAEEaBHETHERIT
R(IPELE) - WEEBEAEHRERR
BEREEH P EART (4B BN AR AZES
#I5 - MeEMRMEZTE -

(c)

(d)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Contingent consideration payable

On 30 October 2018, the Group completed the
acquisition of 51% issued share capital of Radius
Displays International Limited (“Radius Displays”).
Radius Displays and its subsidiary (collectively as the
“Radius Displays Group”) is principally engaged in
the provision of advertisement solutions, signage and
urban furniture design engineering and consulting
services. The residual portion of the purchase
consideration in excess of the fair values of identifiable
net assets acquired by the Group was allocated as
goodwill. The purchase price allocation and the
measurement of contingent consideration payables
have involved significant management judgement and
estimation.

Lease term and discount rate determination

In determining the lease term, the Group considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not
exercise a termination option. Extension options (or
periods after termination options) are only included
in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to
be extended (or not terminated). Potential future cash
outflows have not been included in the lease liability
because it is not reasonably certain that the leases will
be extended (or not terminated). The assessment is
reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in
circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and
that is within the control of the lessee.
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(d)

(e)

T

B ECHfhat R A ()
HAREREEE(H)

MEEMBERME - RNFERBEHRER
ERAH  AEEAREBERMRREITE
ERHE - EFEtREREELEE R

B IR B AGRAF »

HELEEHHBRED R TBEBKREE
AREERRE - AEEEERAEEE
ME - BEMRREETRERRN BT
ELBEHBRMEBEAELZ @GR
fRR - BIREE PR EER &7 Al g R 1E
BEERMER SELRSROAER
FH - EeBRBEENBREEA) -
S—hE - FrEREREAEE RN KD
TH - ANEREEENASHREER
FHEL GG - ARBEBEBELRIA
BEBEAEMTNRERMAT - B
BEAKESE  AEEERZAER
RERPMOBRRIGT - IEOTNEHR
ERBLFHE(ER)

IHEEARAT 2019 £k 152

(d)

(e)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Lease term and discount rate determination
(Continued)

In determining the discount rate, the Group is required
to exercise considerable judgement in relation to
determining the discount rate taking into account the
nature of the underlying assets and the terms and
conditions of the leases, at both the commencement
date and the effective date of the modification.

Impairment of right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment

The Group reviews right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the related
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Determining
whether impairment has occurred typically requires
various estimates and assumptions, including
determining which cash flows are directly related to
the potentially impaired asset, the useful life over
which cash flows will occur, their amount, and the
asset’s residual value, if any. In turn, measurement
of an impairment loss requires a determination of
recoverable amount, which is based on management's
estimate with best information available. The Group
derives the required cash flow estimates from historical
experience and internal business plans. To determine
recoverable amount, the Group uses cash flow
estimates discounted at an appropriate discount rate,
quoted market prices when available and independent
appraisals, as appropriate.
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2 EBE R

TBELERRERUTES - ATES
EHAEE A RS AFERE LD
ER HTEFERBEZETREET

AA $/_\_LB

HTESRERNAEZEERY - 1E
EAKEHER TEENE

— BERE-KERSESRE

— WEHRESEES-KLSERE
EREREEERAEAZES -

FTEELERARETZERESLEED I
WA R ERNT(EEEDBHRIE - RE
W AREE KIS ER T BARE &
EBKE - HENRTISHER S MITI
MY ASEEDIAMERELNE HW
A AT RAAEELERKRED
ﬁﬁ&%ﬁ“%%ﬁ%%%“%%ﬁﬁ
EZE - ¢REERBEEERFE  Hib
WA~ HEihiess o F5E - BmEAAK  F
BREEHEAI TN TSR FER L ED

B -
BmmEEREREERESBDEER
& HER -

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Executive Directors have been identified as
the chief operating decision-maker. The Executive
Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in
order to assess performance and allocate resources.
Executive Directors has determined the operating
segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors considered the business from
product perspective, and determined that the Group
has the following operating segments:

— Airports business — operation of advertising
services in airports;

— Metro and billboards business — operation of
advertising services in metro lines; and billboards
and building solutions.

The chief operating decision-maker assesses the
performance of the operating segments mainly
based on revenue and gross profit of each operating
segment. Majority of the businesses of the Group
are carried out in Mainland China and Hong Kong
during the year. Selling and marketing expenses and
administrative expenses are common costs incurred
for the operating segments as a whole and therefore
they are not included in the measure of the segments’
performance which is used by the chief operating
decision-maker as a basis for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.
Net impairment losses on financial assets, other
income, other gains, net, finance costs, net and
income tax expense are also not allocated to individual
operating segment.

There are no segment assets and liabilities information
provided to chief operating decision-maker.
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5 2HBERGE) 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
EREEN N BELAT : The segment information for the operating segments is
as follows:

WER

BEXE BEIREHR Lfth
Metro and
Airports  billboards

business business Others Total
TART TET TET TART
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD’000

BZ2019F12H31ALLEE  Year ended 31 December 2019

WA Revenue
LN Cost of revenue
EH Gross profit

ERERENRODEHE DR Share of net profit of associates

HE R accounted for using the equity method
AHEE Segment results
HERTHHEERX Selling and marketing expenses
TBRAX Administrative expenses
CREBERERRFRE Net impairment losses on financial assets
Hb A Other income
Hivlhz - 58 Other gains, net
MEHRA Finance income
R Finance costs
REKAE Finance costs, net
BRATE A A Loss before income tax
AHER Segment information
EREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets
nE - BELRENE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
B EEEH Amortisation of intangible assets
Hib gk e At =Rma A - Others represents revenue from other media space.
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5 oEERGE) 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

wE &
Wl  EERER HAit Bt
Metro and

Airports Billboards

business business Others Total
THT TExT THT TAEx

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

EHZ2018%12A31HLEE  Year ended 31 December 2018

WA Revenue 727,684 974,917 226,265 1,928,866
W AR Cost of revenue (458,404) (790,618) (195,724)  (1,444,746)
ER Gross profit 269,280 184,299 30,541 484,120

ERRREARNHEBE AR Share of net profit of associates

opesilbd accounted for using the equity method 12,462 - = 12,462
AEBEE Segment results 281,742 184,299 30,541 496,582
HERMERERX Selling and marketing expenses (163,982)
THAX Administrative expenses (180,406)
SHEERBEBETE Net impairment losses on financial assets (7,998)
Hi A Other income 11,751
Hiplzs o 28 Other gains, net 1,333
BMERA Finance income 3,437
BERK A Finance costs (7,449)
BERA - 5 Finance costs, net (4,012)
BRETE R AIFE Profit before income tax 153,268
2HER Segment information
THATE RS Amortisation of land use rights - - 672 672
ME - BERREITE Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment 21,765 6,580 9,217 37,562
B EESH Amortisation of intangible assets - - 497 497
H g2k B A EE =M A - Others represents revenue from other media space.
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5 oEERGE) 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
WABEATEIE : Revenue consisted of the following:

BZE12A31BLEE

Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
Fi# b
HKD’000 HKD'000

= Advertising display revenue 1,711,649
BERUE - ZRRIFEHEA Advertising production, installation and
dismantling revenue 217,217
1,928,866
AEBWRANBAEREROT The timing of revenue recognition of the Group's

revenue was as follows:

BZ12A31HLLEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
F& T T
HKD’'000 HKD’'000

[4& B ] R R A LA Revenue over time 1,711,649

T 5 — B ) BERE R A A Revenue at a point in time 217,217
1,928,866
AEEW AR DMHAT : The geographical distribution of the Group’s revenue

was as follows:

BZ12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FET T
HKD’'000 HKD’000

1,506,010
422,856

Mainland China
o Hong Kong

1,928,866
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5 oSHERE) 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
AEFEHEEAERF  BEAMNEFE The Group has a large number of customers, none of which
BN B A AHI10%HIA L o contributed 10% or more of the Group's total revenue.
AEENERDEE(SRITAENERE The Group's non-current assets other than financial
FEHREERIN) LR P EKENE instruments and deferred income tax assets were
B AR located in Mainland China and Hong Kong as follows:

BZE12A31BLEFE

Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
TR THET
HKD’'000 HKD’000

R B K B Mainland China 173,852

EB Hong Kong

Hith Others

R2019F Kk 2018F12H3180 548 As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, contract liabilities
BXEAERENAEBEBRELSRES mainly include deposits received from customers under
M= EINEEIES the contracts for advertising services the Group's

business.
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6 WX BERRE 6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BRR

BEY RERE HENRRE / HORE

Furniture

Advertising Leasehold Motor and office

Buildings fixtures improvements vehicles  equipment

T Thr BT T

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

R20185151H At 1 January 2018

A Cost 31,583 217,969 11,533 11,899 26,057 299,041
ZithE Accumulated depreciation (3.632) (168,868 (6,723) (9,046) (21,766) (210,035)
REHE Net book amount 27,951 49,101 4,810 2,853 4,291 89,006

BZ2018E12831ALLEE  Year ended 31 December 2018

R RE Opening net book amount 27,951 49,101 4810 2,853 4291 89,006
NE Additions - 51,284 3,138 1,17 4,586 60,179
IRHBRR(H236) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 3¢) - - 47 _ 68 115
bk Depreciation (1,457) (29,466) (3,107) (942) (2,590) (37,562)
HE Disposals - (315) (872) (37) (215) (1,439)
RMBEET Currency translation differences (1,235) (2,404) (107) (115) (203) (4,064)
BRERFE Closing net book amount 25,259 68,200 3,909 2,930 5,937 106,235
H2018E12A318 R At 31 December 2018 and
201951718 1 January 2019

KA Cost 30,131 258,264 13,215 11,593 27,244 340,447
ZithE Accumulated depreciation (4872 (190,064) (9,306) (8,663) (21,307) (234.212)
REFE Net book amount 25,259 68,200 3,909 2,930 5,937 106,235

BZ22019%12831ALEE  Year ended 31 December 2019

BREFE Opening net book amount

hE Additions

ik Depreciation

HE Disposals

EEREET Currency translation differences
HREEYE Closing net book amount
#2019%12431R At 31 December 2019

A Cost

Zithe Accumulated depreciation
REFE Net book amount
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6

(a)

W% BERREE) 6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

FEXHREHGAKRARPETINER Depreciation charges were expensed in the following

RIZIVER S - categories in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income:

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
TERT TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

L ONDEN Cost of revenue 26,342

TR Administrative expenses

HE RIS HEERX Selling and marketing expenses

R2019F12A31H » BHERMEBREEES As at 31 December 2019, buildings of net book

9,525,000/ 7T (20184 : 10,364,000/% value of HKD9,525,000 (2018: HKD10,364,000) were

T B RS RIRITIE R R RITERD pledged as security for bank borrowings and bank

R o guarantees.

ERAEEEREEAE 7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

REHEEEBEREIRNE (a) Balance recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet

(AL E Right-of-use assets

IHERE RERIE

Landuse  Advertising

rights fixtures
THERT TAR 7 TARL
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

#20191818 As at 1 January 2019

SRR ED(H722) Change in accounting policy (Note 2.2)
201941 A18(FE5) Restated at 1 January 2019

NE Additions

ik Depreciation

EHpEER Currency translation differences
12019%12831R At 31 December 2019
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7 HEAREEREESEE#E) 7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(Continued)
(a) REHEEEBREIANER(E) (a) Balance recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet (Continued)
HEEE Lease liabilities

20195 20194
12A31H 1H1H
31 December 1 January

2019 2019
TR THET
HKD’000 HKD’000

BRERER Current portion 665,441

FEBNEAER &> Non-current portion 1,826,904

THEAERESE Total lease liabilities 2,492,345
(b) MEHGZEENBERTERANSE (b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income

Bz
20194
12A31H
LLFE
Year ended
31 December
2019
THERT
HKD’000
EREEENTERX Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
HEABMNEMAX Interest expenses on lease liabilities
R ETEE R X Expenses related to short-term lease payment
HERS N EERLS741,838,0008 The total cash outflow of lease was approximately
7% © HKD741,838,000.

() AEKEEHNHETH (c) The Group's leasing activities
AEBEEZREERE  MAERL The Group leases various advertising fixtures, offices
WERAE  EEREMPHAZTNHEES and land use rights. Rental contracts of advertising
HA—MIFVZ10FHRETZ - HEK fixtures and offices are typically entered into for a
RINERREREE  TESEETR period of 1 to 10 years. Lease terms are negotiated
G TR B A - A E T BEIW AT on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
I o different terms and conditions. The lease arrangements

do not impose any covenants.
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(d)

(e)

(f)

ERAEEEREERE#E)

R#AENK

A EE A BN RIE - BIEH R
ELHERR - RENERHRNS @ &%
100% &Y T & 1 5/ I% A] & SRR S &
% HEBDLNF4%E25% AT
BRIGREZHEH - BREBEHFE
BEEREMNBERAERE - BFHEM
TE B AT AR B N R B AN AR MR A
E AR B RRER -

HEE R AR IR
EEEFRENARESREFLEHE
HET - ZEGRFORLES/SEEEN
SEZEMEREELRERAZER
AN o PTISAE D B R ILEER B
AEETRE - HELEATAITRE -

HARBMREEREFHARNAE

AEEFBHARMBEDREED
EAENHENEBEERKRRESRHE
1,595,996,000/ 7T °

(d)

(e)

(f)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Variable lease payments

Some leases contain variable payment terms that are
linked to sales generated from a site. For individual
site, up to 100% of lease payments are on the basis of
variable payment terms with percentages ranging from
4% to 25% of sales. Variable payment terms are used
for a variety of reasons, including minimising the fixed
costs base for newly established advertising fixture.
Variable lease payments that depend on sales are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
condition that triggers those payments occurs.

Extension and termination options

Extension are included in a number of concession
lease agreement across the Group. These are used to
maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing
the assets used in The Group’s operations. The
majority of extension and termination options held
are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respective lessor.

Lease not yet commenced to which the lease is
committed

The future cash outflows to which the Group is
potentially exposed for lease not yet commenced
to which the lease is committed amounted to
HKD1,595,996,000.
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BEM=

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

TAT
HKD’000

M2018F1H1H At 1 January 2018 8,520
NEELEE) Changes in fair value 680
B R Currency translation differences (415)
A2018%512831H At 31 December 2018 8,785
#2019F181H8 At 1 January 2019 8,785
N EESH) Changes in fair value 1,276
BERMmE =5 Currency translation differences (215)
A2019%12A31H8 At 31 December 2019 9,846

R2019F KX 2018%F 128318 » A& B
HIEEME D FED B4 E9,846,000
B (Z BB ARS,820,000 7T )
1 8,785,000 T (BN AR
7,697,0007T) + AR RIEELRE
VEERBEMEMIE AP REEET
HEREEAREITNEEET - HE
KREEBELBIAETT  WREZMER
RIBRBAOKUAEA T KNERRT TR
HHE  URZ2BEBEMS EATAMHT
LESHER S - WEMENRFEFES
EBARNTFEBRFPHIEIH -
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The fair values of the Group's investment properties
was approximately HKD9,846,000 (equivalent to
RMB8,820,000) and HKD8,785,000 (equivalent to
RMB7,697,000) as at 31 December 2019 and 2018,
respectively, as determined by the directors of the
Company with reference to the valuation performed
by It REZEFEAEREELRA (China Appraisal
Associates*), an independent qualified professional
valuer. Valuation was performed using the direct
comparison method on the assumption that the
property can be sold in its existing state subject
to existing tenancies or otherwise with the benefit
of vacant possession and making references to
comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market. The fair value measurement of the
investment properties is categorised within level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

*  For identification purpose only
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8 REYUXRGE) 8 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
(a) RMEBGZEUNBRIPEANREYES (a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment
B properties

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

2019 20184
2019 2018
FTHET FHET
HKD'000 HKD'000
REWMEROESA Rental income from investment properties
R20194F K 2018F 128318 » A&EE As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had no
MESBREEREENHARBENS un-provided contractual obligations for future repairs
HWEE - and maintenance.
(b) HEZRH (b) Leasing arrangements
BEYEMRPRKE - 5 BIRIE A The investment properties are located in Mainland
KR2FEMREHEOEBETEAR - H2A China and leased to tenants under operating leases
BAYA - REMET A HEKEHE of approximately 2 years with rental payable monthly.
HTIHERREES0T - Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

operating leases of investment properties are
receivable as follows:

R12A31H

As at 31 December
20195 20184

2019 2018
TR TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

1A Within one year
BRI FERBIE2F Later than one year but not later
than 2 years
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9 B\BEEE 9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
5] [ e b
Brand Computer
Goodwill name software Total
THT BT Fhx FTAEx

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
R20185181R At 1 January 2018
A Cost = = 4,087 4,087
S Accumulated amortisation - - (2,473) (2,473)
BREFE Net book amount = = 1,614 1,614
HZ2018F12831H Year ended 31 December 2018

HFE
YR FE Opening net book amount = = 1,614 1,614
HNE Additions = = 342 342
WERH B AR (H7236) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) 2,685 17,298 - 19,983
B Amortisation = = (497) (497)
HE Disposals = = (26) (26)
ERhEES Currency translation differences = = (16) (16)
HREERE Closing net book amount 2,685 17,298 1,417 21,400
R2018%12A31A At 31 December 2018
A Cost 2,685 17,298 4,271 24,254
Rty Accumulated amortisation - - (2,854) (2,854)
HREERE Net book amount 2,685 17,298 1,417 21,400
BZ2019F12A31H Year ended 31 December 2019
tFEE

HEREFE Opening net book amount
NE Additions
i3] Amortisation
ERREESR Currency translation differences
REFE Closing net book amount
R2019%12A831H At 31 December 2019
(BN Cost
ESe 1 Accumulated amortisation
HREREFE Net book amount
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BILEE(E)
HZE2019F &2018F 12 A31H IEF
€ BT HRITEE I R IIER -

B R (B R
ReELEUNTKESBN2EEA
BESAEEERE °

RETEEREEAE AR  K2ER
15 S IR [ R B T TR HA R0 B B 5t
BRI B AR @ RERAMANGHE
7% o TSN IR € R E Th R Ak
SARBEREEE -EEAEERRE
ERATAIRE165% « WEEAFHEE
K% MR IHIBRE3% © 7201912 A
3B ARRIEEFLEREMREEAE
Radius Displays# (B EBERIEE - Al
= MBARARRERARERRBAY
EEELRE  ERECEEEMMAS
A4 Bl & RER H AR EI(E -

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Amortisation charge was expensed in administrative
expenses during the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018.

Impairment assessments of goodwill

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit
are determined by reference to the value-in-use
calculation.

In assessing the value-in-use calculation, references
were made to the calculations use pre-tax cash
flow projections based on financial plans approved
by management covering a forecast period of 5
years. Cash flows beyond the forecast period are
extrapolated using the estimated long-term growth
rates. The key assumptions applied includes pre-tax
discount rate 16.5%, compound annual growth rate
of revenue 6% and terminal growth rate of 3 %. As
at 31 December 2019, the directors of the Company
consider that there was no impairment of goodwill has
been made as the estimate recoverable amount of
CGUs exceeded their carrying values after considering
the value-in-use calculation for the business value of
Radius Displays and the nature, prospects, financial
condition and business risks.
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10 BRATEIAEZENSREER 10 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
BRATEIAEMGESRENSE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS AND FINANCIAL
BE ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(a) BEAFEIANERENESHEE (a) FVPL

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
FHET TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

RELD At beginning of the year

NE Additions

NEEEE(HE26) Fair value losses (Note 26)

REL At end of the year

EATEIAEBERENEREERMN The FVPL represented two key management life
MREEEBASRE - AEBRREN insurance policies. The Group is the beneficiary
RamA HAREBEABASRENKSE of the insurance policies. The investments in key
BIEE/RATEIABRENS R management life insurance policies were designated as
BE - FVPL at inception.
ETHEETEABAZSRENKEENA Discounted cash flow (“DCF"”) model was applied to
TFERRABRBEeRE(BRESR determine the fair value of the investments in key
EDER - BRReRERAEANE management life insurance policies. The significant
ANBRRLBABIRNT - assumptions and inputs used in the DCF model were as

follows:

M®12A31H
As at 31 December

20194 20184
2019 2018

Mortality adjustment

BhIR X Discount rate 4.04%
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10

(b)

RAFEIANEZRNEREER 10 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
BRATEIAEMGESRENSE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS AND FINANCIAL
EEE) ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)
BAFEIAEMGEERENEREE (b) FVOCI

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
TR TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

RELD At beginning of the year
REMARE WS TEREAFE  Fair value gains/(losses) recognised in
Wz (B#E) other comprehensive income

REL  BHAFRHEIIF LT At end of the year, all non-current
and unlisted

BAFEIIAEMGES WEEE TIER FVOCI represented certain unquoted bond funds.
BESFES - N2019F128318 © ER As at 31 December 2019, both FVPL and FVOCI are
FEIABRERREATFEI AR denominated in HKD. The fair value of FVOCI are
BWEBHABITEE - MAFEIAK approximately the net asset value of the unquoted
e lE s A TEEFREGSFES bond funds.

MWEEFEMRS -

REEBHAAENRAEERR BRK The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
AFEINAERENSREERRAT date is the carrying value of the FVPL and FVOCI.
BEIAEMGEE RGN SREENRE

H o
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11 REFSASINEMIA 11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

R RATE

R AR ABRH

HEmEE SHEE
Financial

assets at Financial

amortised assets at
costs fair value
FHT FHTT
HKD'000 HKD’'000

R2019%12A31H At 31 December 2019
JEUBRZ R HAth U ZIA (T8 Trade and other receivables excluding
EFENRBEMEMTENFHIE)  prepaid taxes and other prepayments

BERFEIABRR FVPL
BRATEIARMERS W FVOCI
XBRHIEE Restricted cash
BeME2EFEY Cash and cash equivalents
R2018%12A31R At 31 December 2018
FEURBR 70 K2 B (b JEUR R IB () Trade and other receivables excluding

EEMAFIEBMEMIEFKIE)  prepaid taxes and other prepayments 777,339 —
BAFEIIABGSE FVPL - 5,943
BAFEIAH MRS WS FVOCI - 7,619
EARITIE R Short-term bank deposits 6,122 =
PR HIER Restricted cash 49,489 _
ReERRESFEY Cash and cash equivalents 379,931 =

1,212,881 13,562
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11

12

RENZITHERMIE(E) 11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

REHERA BOTESA
ARWEE BRRNEHEE
Financial

liabilities

at fair value

Lease Liabilities at through profit
liabilities amortised cost or loss
TAT FAET THT
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

R2019%12A318 At 31 December 2019
fER Borrowings
JE R BR AR B HL At B A 5R0R Trade and other payables
R AR E Contingent consideration
payable
HEAR Lease liabilities
M20185F12A831AH At 31 December 2018
e Borrowings = 269,006 =
A8 B 0 B L At A 3K Trade and other payables - 567,173 -
R ARE Contingent consideration
payable = = 6,611
_ 836,179 6,611
AR EARGRE 12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUITY METHOD

20194 20184
2019 2018
FET FAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

RE ) At beginning of the year

A& Capital injections

A Share of results

[:85) Dividends

BEBMmEEE Currency translation differences
R At end of the year
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12 FERAEZEARNKRE &) 12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)
LWTEAREEMR2019F12A318H Set out below were the associates of the Group as at
BN T] o TE\JE&%%’A ARAEEERE 31 December 2019. The associates as listed below
EE - B BRI AETERS were held directly by the Group, their countries
Ho 2 o of incorporation are also their principal places of
business.
ML, g/
BEZB B B 8 A L B R FERERLH XBUE
Date of Place of business/ Percentage
incorporation/ country of of ownership
Name of entity establishment incorporation interest Nature of business
REKAREBERAF 2006F4A29H e 2019:30% FERELPIN
(IRRAARES]) (2018: 30%) EEEE
Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising 29 April 2006 the PRC Development and
Company Limited operations of out-of-home
("Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising”) advertising media
EREREEEEARLNA 2012%6H20H e 2019:40% FEREZPIN
(TRAETER]) (2018: 40%) EEHRE
Guangxi Top Source Media 20 June 2012 the PRC Development and
Company Limited operations of out-of-home
("Guangxi Top Source”) advertising media
RIS G EHEAR AN 2013F9A29H H 2019:49% RBERELPNH
(MRS e ) (2018:49%) EERE
Shenzhen Airport Asiaray Media 29 September 2013 the PRC Development and
Company Limited operations of out-of home
("Shenzhen Airport Asiaray”) advertising media
HEEREEERAF 201858 H22H e 2019:40% FERELPIN
(IHE8HE]) (2018: 40%) EEEE
Zhuhai Yueya Media Company Limited 22 August 2018 the PRC Development and
("Zhuhai Yueya") operations of out-of-home

advertising media

% 55 B %—f@ AIRAREENER /:n\f’lf%y These associates are strategic partners of the Group,

£ - R T BRI T %ﬁg)f' providing access to new customers and markets in

GHke - different cities in PRC.

BENREHEARIELTAR  WIE All of the associates are unlisted companies and there

?%E‘WTE DRl U N NG| are no market values available for the associates. There

E’]*E SEAIARBERENAE - 8 are no significant contingent liabilities and capital

BENRBREERBNEANKEE commitments relating to the Group's interests in the

EspNIE IS associates and there are no significant restrictions on
the transfer of assets or earnings from the associates to
the Group.

PR ERRNR N EE AR RRE The English names of the above associates represented

BERNMPXEEREK the best efforts by management of the Company in
translating their Chinese names.

RRAREERR RIS RN In the opinion of the directors of the Company,

SEMEBEKX - Shenzhen Airport Asiaray is material to the Group.
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12

(a)

EREREARNRE (&) 12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)
FEYI S A AN IEERBE (a) Summarised financial information for Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray:
2019 20184
2019 2018
THERT FHET
HKD’'000 HKD’000
ERBEE Non-current assets 38,504
mENEE Current assets
—ReRBREFEY — Cash and cash equivalents 28,905
—HM s EE — Other current assets 98,840
127,745
mENEE Current liabilities (78,705)
FEE Net assets 87,544
REESHFEE Group's share of net assets 49%
ARAAEEEGFEE Net assets attributable to the Group
before adjustments 42,897
E Other adjustments (13,666)
PR N B AT Interests in the associate 29,231
Wz Revenue (632,973)
ITE R E Depreciation and amortisation 1,771
F 2 WA Interest income (1,688)
N IRAINE Profit before tax (36,379)
Fris i Income tax expense 8,753
FEFE Profit for the year (27,626)
Hiphr & e Other comprehensive income -
e BEE Total comprehensive income (27,626)
REEDG - Group's share of:
—FEFE — Profit for the year 13,537
—H iR e e — Other comprehensive income —
—H AR — Other adjustments (842)

—kRE WS HEEE

DM EE R

—EABERA

— BRI FEARBE N RI G
(Ktetb)

Total comprehensive income

Reconciliation of share of profits

— Material associate

- Aggregate of individually immaterial
associates (Note b)

12,695

12,695

(233)

12,462
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12 ERAESEARNREE)

(a) RIS HAENTBERBE :

HE2019F % 2018F 12 A31H IFF
& H AR 2 e BRI 5 T
4 BORYI FEE AR 2w ([ FE A
i - H55% M e RIS AR
BEEE)N RS HIE -

(b) MERFERBELT :
B EXPTRBEBE RR 2RI - AR
BN MEETEANEERRES
e - HERERENR -

12 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

(a) Summarised financial information for Shenzhen
Airport Asiaray:
Other adjustments mainly represented elimination of
upstream transaction between RINFELHE TR A A
(Shenzhen Airport Asiaray and Shenzhen Yashi Metro
Company Limited*), whose 55% equity interest was
directly held by Shenzhen Airport Asiaray for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

(b) Individually immaterial associates:
In addition to the interests in associates disclosed
above, the Group also has interests in individually
immaterial associates that are accounted for using the
equity method.

20194 20184
2019 2018

TERT TET
HKD'000 HKD’000

AEEDEEBIFFEXR
BERRFEEREAE

AEED G -

A
m

Et

FEANE/(ER)
HAib#R & ek

AW (B8 B
R2019F K 2018F12831H » HRAR
EEEMEBEEBEENERKIRS

kEAIRRNES - SUEREEKAE
EREARBRNEEREED RO ET -
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Aggregate carrying amount of net assets
of individually immaterial associates
shared by the Group

Aggregate amounts of the Group's
share of:
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

The carrying amount of the investment in Fujian
Zhaoxiang Advertising and Guangxi Top Source was
reduced to nil as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 as
the Group's share of losses had exceeded its interest in
Fujian Zhaoxiang Advertising and Guangxi Top Source.

*  For identification purpose only
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13 SUBSIDIARIES
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at
31 December 2019.

13 KWEBAR
T3 AR2019412A31B 2 X B E
NGO

AL/ L
REEERRY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and

TERBANERN

Principal activities and

BRTRE/
g

Particulars of issued
share capital/

§47
ERIGEN
BEMRLLA%)

Proportion of

ordinary shares

directly held

AREEAN
BEMRLA%)

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by

FER
RHEEN
EERLLA)
Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling

Company Name kind of legal entity place of operation registered capital by parent (%)  the Group (%) interests (%)
ARAERER:
Directly held by the Company:
RESERERERAR SRRAEE EREANY  REAR AERAES 50,0007 100% - -
Asiaray Media Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability company Investment holding, BVI HKD50,000
ARTRERE
Indirectly held by the Company:
Asiaray Metro Media Limited B BREAAR PINRERERS B 157 - 100% =
Hong Kong, QOut-of-home advertising media HKD1
limited liability company services, Hong Kong
B RERRERAT B BRALAR FINRERERS B4 2,500,000%T - 100% -
Asiaray Advertising Media Limited Hong Kong, QOut-of-home advertising HKD2,500,000
limited liability company media services, Hong Kong
Asiaray Outdoor Media Limited &% BREALE FOHESERRE &5 10,000% = 100% =
Hong Kong, QOut-of-home advertising media HKD10,000
limited liability company services, Hong Kong
Asiaray Megamedia Limited &5 EREALE Fet BECIR 10,0008 7 = 100% .
Ry B3
Hong Kong, Design, consultancy, construction HKD10,000
limited liability company and maintenance services,
Hong Kong
Genesis Printing and Production Limited ~ &7 * BREFAR BE AE TEA 10,0007 - 100% -
SR B
Hong Kong, Advertising, production, HKD10,000
limited liability company installation and dismantling
services, Hong Kong
Rt#ESARATY B8 AREMAR PARERRRY % 10,0007 - 100% -
Asiaray Advertising Limited" Hong Kong, QOut-of-home advertising media HKD10,000
limited liability company services, Hong Kong
FEE(T) © PR 20204 1 A 13 H 2% & Asiaray Bus Note (1): Changed the company name as Asiaray Bus Media Limited

Media Limited ° on 13 January 2020.
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A EREEBRAR

13 KEBARE)

Company Name

BERMERSAROT

Hong Kong Asiaray Advertising Limited

T AREARAR
Asiaray Media Limited

Tt ERARAT

Asiaray Screen Alliance Limited

Radius Displays International Limited

Radius Displays Limited

LRt EREARAT
([ LERtA))

Shanghai Asiaray Advertising Company
Limited ("Shanghai Asiaray")

EERRREERARAT
Shanghai Meidisi Advertising
Media Company Limited

W AREARAT
Zhejiang Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

REARSERAR
Shenzhen Yatie Advertising
Company Limited

2019 F1R

A/ R
RirERERY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity

&% ARRELT
Hong Kong,
limited liability company

&4 BREAAR
Hong Kong,
limited liability company

BE BREEAR
Hong Kong,
limited liability company

&% ARRELT

Hong Kong,
limited liability company

&% ARRELT

Hong Kong,
limited liability company

hE BRALAT

the PRC,
limited liability company

hE ARAEAT
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE - EREAAA
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE - EREAAA
the PRC,
limited liability company
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

TERHAERLY

Principal activities and
place of operation

REER 2%
Investment holding, Hong Kong

POVEEHERT &%
QOut-of-home advertising media
services, Hong Kong

PHRERRRE &%
QOut-of-home advertising media
services, Hong Kong

REEEHE REARREERR
Fit - TRRERRE B
Provision of advertising selections,
signage and street furniture

design engineering and
consulting service, Hong Kong

RUREEE  RERRREERS
Fit - IERERERE &4
Provision of advertising selections,
signage and street fumiture

design engineering and
consulting service, Hong Kong

POVRERERE -

QOut-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

POVRERERE - P
QOut-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

PINEEREMRY  HE
Out-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

PHRE&ERS 28
Out-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

BRfIRE/
R

Particulars of issued

share capital/

registered capital

99007
HKD9,900

1087
HKD10

10,0007
HKD10,000

10,1007

HKD10,100

10,0007 7

HKD10,000

AE$99,839,136

RMB99,839,136

A&%2,365,530
RMB2,365,530

AJR5,000,000
RMB5,000,000

AR¥1,000,000
RMB1,000,000

AT
EEREN
%E&tb%(%)

Proportion of
ordinary shares
directly held
by parent (%)

AREREN
%E&tb%(%)

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by

the Group (%)

100%

100%

100%

51%

51%

100%

100%

100%

100%

FER
RERAN
%Eﬂﬁtb%(%)
Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests (%)

49%

49%
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13 KEBARE)

Company Name

LERtEREERERAT
([LEREER])

Shanghai Asiaray Advertising
Media Company Limited

("Shanghai Advertising Media")

BNt AREARAT
Guangzhou Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

EHERREESERERAT

([EaERRELE])

Yunnan Airport Asiaray Information

Media Company Limited
("Yunnan Airport Asiaray")

RIELRREERART
Shenzhen Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

SRR EREARAT
Hainan Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

R EERAR

Shenzhen Yashi Metro Company Limited

Bt R EEARAT
Sichuan Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

IR AR EARAT
Beijing Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

EZREREERAT
Xi'an Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

EERLAREERAR
Qingdao Asiaray Advertising
Company Limited

AL/ R
RirERERY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity

hE - ARAEAT

the PRC,
limited liability company

hE - EREAAA
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE BREEAR

the PRC,
limited liability company

hE BREEAT
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE - AREMAA
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE - EREAAA
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE BREEAR
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE - AREMAA
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE - EREAAA
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE - BREEAR
the PRC,
limited liability company

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

TERBAERLY

Principal activities and
place of operation

PONREHERE - B

QOut-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

PARERRRS 8
QOut-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

FRRERERY =8

QOut-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

PHREEERS &
Out-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

PARERBRE 8
QOut-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

PAREERRS 6
QOut-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

PHREGERS &
Out-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

PARERBRE - 8
QOut-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

PAREERRS 6
QOut-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

PHREGERS &
Out-of-home advertising media
services, the PRC

BRfIR%/
R

Particulars of issued

share capital/

registered capital

AE#%40,000,000

RMB40,000,000

A&%1,030,000
RMB1,030,000

A&#50,000,000

RMB50,000,000

ARRH1,000,000
RMB1,000,000

AE%2,000,000
RMB2,000,000

AB%1,000,000
RMB1,000,000

AR¥1,200,000
RMB1,200,000

AE%10,500,000
RMB10,500,000

AB&%1,000,000
RMB1,000,000

A&#%10,000,000
RMB10,000,000

AT
EEREN
%E&tb%(%)

Proportion of
ordinary shares
directly held
by parent (%)

AREREN
%Eﬂﬁtb%(%)

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by

the Group (%)

100%

100%

51%

100%

100%

2%

100%

100%

100%

100%

FER
RERAN
%Eﬂﬂt%(%)
Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests (%)

49%

28%
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A EREEBRAR

13 KEBARE)

Company Name

THERERERARLT
([TazERktE])

Henan Airport Asiaray Media Company
Limited ("Henan Airport Asiaray")

LRt AREERARAT
Shanghai Asiaray Media
Communication Company Limited

MIEREEEERAT
Shenzhen Baimoshi Advertising
Company Limited

BRI EERARAT
(5]

Wuxi Asiaray Metro Media Company
Limited ("Wuxi Asiaray")

FRRAREERARAT
Bejjing Yatie Media
Communication Company Limited

ERURBHAREERAR
(585K )

Qingdao Chengtou Asiaray
Advertising Company Limited
("Qingdao Chengtou")

eIt RAEEERAR
Beijing Chuangshibowei
Advertising Company Limited

REAREERARAT

Tianjin Yatie Media
Communication Company Limited

2019 F1R

A/ R
RirERERY

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity

hE ARAEAT

the PRC,
limited liability company

hE - EREAAA
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE - EREAAA
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE ARAEAT

the PRC,
limited liability company

hE - EREAAA
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE BREEAR

the PRC,
limited liability company

hE - BREEAR
the PRC,
limited liability company

hE BRALAT

the PRC,
limited liability company
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AT
EEREN
%E&tb%(%)

BRfIRE/

TERHAERLY R

Proportion of
ordinary shares
directly held

Particulars of issued

Principal activities and share capital/

place of operation registered capital by parent (%)
PINESHEERS  +E AR5,000,000 =
QOut-of-home advertising media RMB5,000,000

services, the PRC
BANESEERS +E AR1,000,000 -
QOut-of-home advertising media RMB1,000,000

services, the PRC
BERE - 28 ARH1,000,000 =
Advertising services, the PRC RMB1,000,000
PINREREMRT  HE ARE3,600,000 =
QOut-of-home advertising media RMB3,600,000

services, the PRC
PINESHEERS +E AR1,000,000 =
QOut-of-home advertising media RMB1,000,000

services, the PRC
PHREEERS 28 ABRH#14,424,000 =
QOut-of-home advertising media RMB14,424,400

services, the PRC
BERE - 28 AR5,000,000 =
Advertising services, the PRC RMB5,000,000
PINESHEERS  RE AR10,000,000 -
QOut-of-home advertising media RMB10,000,000

services, the PRC

AREREN
%E&tb%(%)

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by

the Group (%)

51%

100%

100%

100%

100%

69%

100%

60%

FER
RERAN
%Eﬂﬁtb%(%)
Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests (%)

49%

31%

40%
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13 KEBARE)

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

VNG F2R
AL/ 3 BRfIR%/ EREAN  AREEAN RERAN
Rit#RERE TERBAERLY aftaass  EERUAC)  EBRUEA%)  BERLH(%)
Proportion of
Proportion of  Proportion of ordinary shares
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued  ordinary shares ordinary shares held by
establishment and Principal activities and share capital/  directly held held by  non-controlling
Company Name kind of legal entity place of operation registered capital by parent (%)  the Group (%) interests (%)
HIRAREARAT hE ARAEAT PONREHERE - P ARH10,000,000 - 100% -
Zhejiang Yatie Advertising the PRC, QOut-of-home advertising media RMB10,000,000
Company Limited limited liability company services, the PRC
HIRRURREERAA HE BRELAT RERH HE ARH5,000,000 - 100% -
Shenzhen Skynet Creative the PRC, Advertising services, the PRC RMB5,000,000
Media Advertising Company Limited limited liability company
ERt#REERARAA hE - EREAAA PARERBRE 8 AR 8,000,000 - 40% 40%
Zhuhai Asiaray Newspaper Media the PRC, QOut-of-home advertising media RMBS8,000,000
Company Limited limited liability company services, the PRC
SRR SR ARAT hE ARAEAF REMRE - HHE AE$1,000000 - 100% -
Zhuhai Yachuangdi Design the PRC, Advertising services, the PRC RMB1,000,000
Company Limited limited liability company
BT EERAA HE BRELAR FONRERERS AE#20,000,000 - 51% 49%
Wenzhou Railway Media the PRC, QOut-of-home advertising media RMB20,000,000
Company Limited limited liability company services, the PRC
Asiaray Connect Singapore Pte Ltd. s POBSHRRS  HIR 10087 IR 7T - 100% -
Singapore QOut-of-home advertising media SGD100

services, Singapore

EXREOMBARLEERRE
W EEXEWIHARREEERT
e X 2 EBEMmRK o

The English names of the above subsidiaries located in
the PRC referred to above represents the best efforts

by management of the Company in translating their
Chinese names, as they do not have official English

names.
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13

B BB X B (4%)
PrBEK B ARIGMAS B - AEERH
JB R R A H) R SRR L ) R AT O B
Reas L Bl —2

HANA P B RRIMEI2FAWE - AR
BIE R R EIERE - WEER
R B RSB ZEE B ANKRD - AR
RRAREERNEB RN REEET
H AR RS B Ko A AR IR A £ 2R Bt &1 %
BEEROMAERALTNERER - AR
RESFRA/EA BN ZBET 8 &6 A
B o

R 2019 F 12 A 31 B B FE £ A% # &5
130,936,000 7L (20184 : 97,333,000
V8 T ) B P I i 2 S A A 0 JE P AR A
AR - 2019912 A31H K IEIER
& 4t 15,708,000 7% 7T (2018 4F : K &
9,313,000/8 7T ) B2 A 5 22 785 7 (- 4 B0 3
TR EZE AR c R2019F12A31HK
JEFE A% B 41 21,307,00058 7T (20184F -
8,152,000/ 0) A R HE EEEIER
BRAFIRI IR = AR -

HRASEARIES Ll = EE R
BREERR  BRFERCE/LE
Bz B ARAR -

AEBHEMIFRENB QR IFERE
SHAEEITEE -

E-DNEE

R20194F KX 2018F 128318 » FEF
AEFRENRERESEEDARRE
HIER TR 3D Bl 5272,142,00078 7T &
312,394,000/8 7 * WAX & HINEE
HSIERRFTIRBR o 3% 5 & M HNE & B XA
PR 35 38 IE B AN T A5 B 2 '
HPE - FERNEI1EERR -
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

All subsidiaries are included in the consolidation. The
proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiaries held
by the Group does not differ from the proportion of
equity interests held.

As disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company has set up a Share Award
Scheme Trust for the administration and holding the
Company'’s shares acquired for Share Award Scheme.
As the Company has the power to govern the relevant
activities of the Share Award Scheme Trust and can
derive benefits from the contribution of the eligible
persons who award the shares under the Share Award
Scheme, the directors of the Company consider it is
appropriate to consolidate the Share Award Scheme
Trust.

The non-controlling interest of HKD130,936,000
as at 31 December 2019 (2018: HKD97,333,000)
was relating to the non-controlling interest in
Yunnan Airport Asiaray. The non-controlling
deficit of HKD15,708,000 as at 31 December 2019
(2018: credit HKD9,313,000) was relating to the
non-controlling interest in Henan Airport Asiaray.
The non-controlling deficit of HKD21,307,000 as at
31 December 2019 (2018: HKD8,152,000) was relating
to the non-controlling interest in Tianjin Yatie Media
Communication Company Limited.

As the Group had the power to control the financial
and operating policies of the above three entities, they
had been accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group.

The non-controlling interests of the Group’s other
non-wholly owned subsidiaries are not material to the
Group.

Significant restrictions

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term bank
deposits of HKD272,142,000 and HKD312,394,000
were held in Mainland China as at 31 December
2019 and 2018, respectively, and are subject to local
exchange control regulations. These local exchange
control regulations provide for restrictions on
exporting capital from the country, other than through
normal dividends. See Note 3.1 credit risk for the
detail.
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13 HEBLARE)

AEEAFEREDNNERANASE

BE

a8
(a) ZAZEBHRMEMAYIFENBE

(i) EBERERHSE

RBEEFE

FRBEE
BE

FRBEEFE
EEFE

AEBDIEFEE
AEBERIGFEE

(i) HEWBRBE

YA
BR P15 35 A FI
PSR X

FERE
Hib4R & B 1R

REWFEBE

BE#E e R I R A
fRERESAARR

HANE e Fadinliids)

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
with material non-controlling interests

(a) Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
Asiaray:
(i) Summarised balance sheet

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
20194

20184
2019 2018
THxT T
HKD’000 HKD’000

Current
Assets
Liabilities

365,918
(222,097)

Net current assets 143,821

Non-current
Assets
Liabilities

Net non-current assets
Net assets

Group's share of net assets
Net assets attributable to the Group

(ii) Summarised statement of comprehensive
income

BZE12A31MHILEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FHEx TFET
HKD’000 HKD’'000

Revenue
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income
allocated to non-controlling
interest

Dividend payable to non-controlling
interest
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13 KEBARE)

ERERFERBEZNNBLRNMK

ERBE(E)

(a) ZEAZEBIHMLHANIFEENBE

(iii) RERERBE

e /R E

EBREH

LERBHNREORHE),MA

R
RERPNRSRAFE

BEESHNRSIRLFE

ReRkBREEEY
(BD) /BB

FONNRE RBEEED

BekReEEYN
[ EE

FRNRERREEEY
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EETBHRENEESRE

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries

with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(4) (a) Summarised financial information of Yunnan Airport
Asiaray: (Continued)

(iii) Summarised statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating
activities

Cash (used in)/generated from
operations

Income tax paid

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from
operating activities

Net cash inflow from investing
activities

Net cash outflow from financing
activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash
and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of the year
Exchange losses on
cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December
20184

2018
TAT
HKD’000

209,326
(15,114)

143,026
45,352

(7,048)
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13 HWEARE) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
EEEAFEREZNHE QNI Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBEE) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(b) JAREZEBEAER G EERIEE (b) Summarised financial information of Henan Airport

Asiaray:
(i) EEAGERME (i) Summarised balance sheet

(ii)

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20195 20184

2019 2018
FET TET
HKD’'000 HKD’000

Current
BE Assets 128,548
afE Liabilities (171,561)
RBEEFE Net current liabilities
ERE Non-current
BE Assets
afE Liabilities
I RBAETEHE Net non-current liabilities
(BE) EBEERE Net (liabilities)/assets
REBRREE (ii) Summarised statement of comprehensive

income

HBZE12A31MHLLEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FExT FET
HKD’000 HKD’000

WA Revenue 191,925

BRETISBLAT(E1E) &8 (Loss)/profit before income tax

EFER,/ (FAX) Income tax credit/(expense)

FE(FE) 5R (Loss)/profit for the year

Hip#sr e B8 Other comprehensive loss

SE(ER) hEsE Total comprehensive (loss)/income

B# D4 IFEREREN Total comprehensive (loss)/income
e (BB haREsE allocated to non-controlling

interest
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13 KEBARE)

ERERFERBEZNNBLRNMK

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries

ERBEE) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)
(b) RGBS EERIBEE - (88) (b) Summarised financial information of Henan Airport

(iii) RERERBE

e /R E
BEAFE
EBREH

LERHNREORH),RA

HER

RERPNBRSRAFR

EETBHRENEESRE

RERRETEEY

(HD), /1&g FeE
FONNRE RBEEED

R MRSFEMOELER

FRNRERBEEEY

RAAEREEERAE

2019 F1R

182

Asiaray: (Continued)

(iii) Summarised statement of cash flow

Cash flows from operating
activities

Cash (used in)/generated from
operations

Interest paid

Income tax paid

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from
operating activities

Net cash inflow from investing
activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Exchange losses on cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
20184

2018
TAT
HKD’000
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13 KEBARE)

(c)

BERERFERESZNNBLRNUME

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Summarised financial information for subsidiaries

ERBEE) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)
KEFE B EFIRBR A AR 5B (c) Summarised financial information of Tianjin Yatie
#E - Media Communication Company Limited:

(i) EBEERERHE (i) Summarised balance sheet

(ii)

RBAEEFRE

FERE

BE

afE

FRBEE EEFE
BEFRE

REBBRRHME

YA
BRFT1S BRI 1R
PriEHE%

FREER
AN e

SREERAR

[RE: Bax-F ey oty
mABRAR

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20194

20184
2018
TAT
HKD’000

2019
FET
HKD’'000

Current
Assets
Liabilities

Net current liabilities

Non-current
Assets
Liabilities

Net non-current (liabilities)/assets
Net liabilities

(ii) Summarised statement of comprehensive
income

HZE12A31MHLLEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FHExT FET
HKD’000 HKD’000

Revenue 41,822

Loss before income tax
Income tax credit

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Total comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss allocated
to non-controlling interest
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13 HIBAT(E) 13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BEEEAFERERS M E QT 0TS Summarised financial information for subsidiaries
ERBEE) with material non-controlling interests (Continued)
(c) KEHEEZEFEEBRAGINHGEER (c)  Summarised financial information of Tianjin Yatie
E (&) Media Communication Company Limited: (Continued)
(iii) BERERBE (iii) Summarised statement of cash flow

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
TR TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

EETHRENRERE Cash flows from operating
activities
BENIRET/A Cid) Cash inflow/(outflow) from

operations

EEEHEEESRA (L) Net cash inflow/(outflow) from

HER operating activities
BEEBOIRESRA L)  Net cash inflow/(outflow) from
HER investing activities
BERBNRSRAERE Net cash inflow from financing
activities

BHERRESZEWEM (R4 ) Net increase/(decrease) in cash
R and cash equivalents
FYNBRE LR EEY Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year
Re KBS EEYAIEREIE Exchange losses on cash and

cash equivalents

FRNESRBRSEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year
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14 EEFRSH 14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX
BB REERBENDOTAT The analysis of deferred income tax assets and

liabilities is as follows:

M12831H

As at 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
TR TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

FEIEFSIHREE Deferred income tax assets:

— R1218 A miukE — to be recovered within 12 months

— R121E A& Uk [E - to be recovered after 12 months

RLEFTEFREE Deferred income tax liabilities:

— R1I2ARAEE — to be settled within 12 months

EEFIERB MR EEOT ¢ The net movement on the deferred income tax account

is as follows:

BZ12A31HLFE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FET T
HKD’'000 HKD’'000

F1) Beginning of the year

BBERANBE BN REER Change in accounting policy relating to
F16FSETHRE S the adoption of HKFRS16 (Note 2.2)
(Btet2.2)

REYFHERR Restated opening balance of the year

st AR (M7128) Credited to profit or loss (Note 28)

(ARt A= MEGERE), (Charged)/credited directly to other
BHEREMES Rah MR comprehensive income

Y BE T8 A F) Acquisition of subsidiaries

ERBREEE Currency translation differences

FIR End of the year
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14 EEFIER (&) 14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
RIEFTSFRAEE : Deferred income tax assets:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20195 20184

2019 2018
FET TAET
HKD’000 HKD’000

UTZERLEEETREE

The balance comprises temporary

R &S ek - differences attributable to:
HIaEE Tax losses
TERER Accruals
FE W BRI B B Provision for impairment of receivables
ER T[S R RH Discounting effect of loans to
AR E an associate
FIAEREOH QT EE Fair value change on financial assets
through profit or loss
rEEE Depreciation allowance
EERIAEERE Total deferred tax assets
BRI S 1R B SH IR T Set-off of deferred tax liabilities
BMIEAE pursuant to set-off provisions
EEFRIEE EFE Net deferred tax assets

BAEEEEEERLT 2019 £k 186



SO FEERERMEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 EEFIER (&)
BELEFEHREERBBENES (KT
ER MR A E L) T ¢

ELEFEREE

14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
Movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
without taking into consideration the offsetting of
balances within the same tax jurisdiction is as follows:

Deferred income tax assets:

BRATEGIA
ERT RtifFAUEN

EYFHE
RERRE

BE019512A31 AL FE

Year ended 31 December 2019

Tax
losses
BT

HKD'000

Accruals

BT

HKD'000

Provision for
impairment of
receivables
T

HKD'000

—RKELR
HETREE

Discounting
effect of
loans to

an associate
T
HKD'000

ATEES

Fair value

change on

financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income

BT

HKD'000

Depreciation
allowance
T

HKD'000

REA] At beginning of the year
EBRABENHREENZI6H  Change in accounting policy relating to the

SiIRREK22) adoption of HKFRS16 (Note 22)
R2019%1 A 1REE5 Restated at 1 January 2019
REEPA/ (1K) Credited/(charged) to profit or loss
REfEGA RETHR Charged to other comprehensive income
EHAEES Currency translation differences
RER Atend of the year
BZ2018512A31ALEE Year ended 31 December 2018
REY At beginning of the year 40,726 40,053 5,040 669 89 10 86,587
REERETA/ (1) Credited/(charged) to profit or loss 4819 6,846 1914 (252 - 435 13,762
AR R Credited to other comprehensive income - - - - 104 - 104
EHREES Currency translation differences (1,805) (1,909) (296) (22) - - (4,032)
WER Atend of the year 43,740 44990 6,658 395 193 445 96,421
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14 EEFIER (&) 14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
ELEFEHRAE Deferred income tax liabilities:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
FET TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

UT&EEGEETEEEN

The balance comprises temporary

ek differences attributable to:
e Depreciation allowance
BREEKEHOAFEERE Fair value gains through business
combinations
KREME N FER = Fair value gains on investment properties
EERIB 8 E4RE Total deferred tax liabilities
RIRIE 35 AR B 4R SR AT Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant to
BMIEAE set-off provisions
BT IR B EF58 Net deferred tax liabilities

EBAH REME

REER DY ERE DY ERE

Fair value Fair value

gains through gains on

Depreciation business investment
allowance  combination properties Total
BT TR BT BT
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

BZ2019512A31HLEE Year ended 31 December 2019

REL] At beginning of the year
REZF(GTA) /1B (Credited)/charged to profit or loss
WEEME AR Currency translation differences
RER At end of the year

HZ2018F12831BLLEE Year ended 31 December 2018

RER At beginning of the year 31 = 2,011 2,042
RBEP MR Charged to profit or loss 1,349 - 192 1,541
WEEHB AR (Fi536) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) = 2,854 = 2,854
EEREES Currency translation differences = = (99) (99)
NG At end of the year 1,380 2,854 2,104 6,338
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14 EEFIER (&)

R2019F X 2018%F 128318 » Z&EH
30 4 55 Bl B AT 45 6 DA B 30 R 2R E RR A
I A #9143,970,0005% 7T 257,976,000
BLIBHEEBEEBRRELEHIEEE

14

33,233,000/8 7T} 11,722,000/ 7T °

REERELEFSHEEN R AEEE M

BHEAT :

14 LA &

P E2FAE
R2E3IFAER
RIZAFAER
RAESFEAER
S5FNERIREmTE

Expire within 1 year

Expire in 1 to 2 years
Expire in 2 to 3 years
Expire in 3 to 4 years
Expire in 4 to 5 years

Over 5 years and not subject to expiration

R20194F K% 2018F12A31H » KEE
7 Bl 2t 3 4 5t AT AR DA 0 AR R B AR A
W A 95,200,000 7T X 4,023,000/ 7T
B R e = EEREERIEEE
1,300,00075 7T %2.1,006,000/& 7T °

R2019F12 A31H - ANEE hFEHE
NEIMIRE 2 7F)222,262,00078 75 (2018
F 1 192,965,000/ 7T ) (7 AR BE T B35
HNE A S 2 R AR - B ARVEHIE
ETEA ERE - At - BHZEAT
BHTEWNEARREBIERBREZR -
MERERELTINE S BRI -
ZEBAMRIRERITSETFTENP
BUSR SN S 2 SRR A E] o

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of HKD33,233,000 and HKD11,722,000 in
respect of tax losses amounting to HKD 143,970,000
and HKD57,976,000 that can be carried forward
against future taxable profit as at 31 December 2019
and 2018, respectively.

The expiry date of the tax losses for which deferred
income tax assets were not recognised is as follows:

®12H31H

As at 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FET FHTT
HKD’000 HKD’'000
18,448 1,268
14,863 5,690
10,468 7,875
66 10,468
67,654 69
32,471 32,606
143,970 57,976

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of HKD 1,300,000 and HKD1,006,000 in respect
of other deductible temporary differences amounting
to HKD5,200,000 and HKD4,023,000 that can be
carried forward against future taxable profit as at 31
December 2019 and 2018, respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the retained earnings
of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries not yet remitted
to the holding companies incorporated outside
PRC, for which no deferred tax liability had been
provided, were approximately HKD222,262,000 (2018:
HKD192,965,000). Such earnings are expected to
be retained by the PRC subsidiaries for reinvestment
purposes and would not be remitted to their
holding companies incorporated outside PRC in the
foreseeable future based on management'’s estimation
of overseas funding requirements.
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15 BRI H AR WRR

RBEE

U BRK

B+ R SR E 7 A (b)
FEURBRTR - R

H fth & YR I (<)

B Bt UK IR E B ()
HAtb FEURIA - 3R

& YR8,

BNHE
H At 8 FRIA()

FREBEE
HoAth FEUCGR IR R IR £ ()

mEt
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15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current assets

Trade receivables

Less: loss allowance of trade
receivables (b)

Trade receivables, net

Other receivables (c)
Less: loss allowance of other
receivables (c)

Other receivables, net
Interest receivables

Prepaid taxes
Other prepayments (d)

Non-current assets
Other receivables and deposits (c)

Total

R12A31H

As at 31 December
20194

2018%F
2019 2018
FET FHET

HKD’'000 HKD'000

522,054

(28,615)

271,720

(4,818)

840,865

856,691
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15 EBWRARRHEMERREE)
(a) AKEBEIERTEPEEEEY - 2%
S E BT BURFRED AT

15
(a)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group has no specified credit terms for its
customers. Ageing analysis of the trade receivables by
invoice date is as follows:

R12A31H

As at 31 December
20194

20184
2019 2018
FET FHET
HKD’000 HKD'000

=%6{EA Up to 6 months 397,028
6EAZE1218A 6 months to 12 months 69,027
15 22F 1 year to 2 years 22,716
2FE3F 2 years to 3 years 16,321
3FELAE Over 3 years 16,962

(b) FEWIRRERBRE
AEERBEEMBRELEREINRE
AT EEMEREER - KtmARK
RREAZHEHREEEHE - AEETT
BERFTEERXZHTNEEER A
REREMBAN  BELRLEME
EREEREEERR -

R E R - BB B EE M
7,970,000 7T = 36,585,000/ 7T ° B
BZEEBBRENTE R AT BN
£3.1(b) °

RUWRFOR BB IR AR HiRE KaER
AN EREERERBRFHE -

(b)

Loss allowance of trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which use a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
The Group also continuously monitors the credit
risks by assessing the credit quality of respective
counterparties, taking into account its financial
position, past experience and other factors.

The loss allowance increased by HKD7,970,000 during
the current reporting period to HKD36,585,000. Note
3.1(b) provides for details about the calculation of
these loss allowance.

The impairment loss on trade receivables is included

in ‘net impairment losses on financial assets’ in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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15
(c)

(d)

FEWEEF R EnERFRIE (&) 15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
H At e UL TR IE = B 45 ) 1 [ 5 88 B Rk (c) Other receivables mainly represent guaranteed
BEALZHHERRESREWE TH deposits paid to various media resources owners and
TR > R20194F K 2018512 A 31 amounts due from certain related parties. The carrying
H - HMEWKIENREESEL QA FE amounts of other receivables approximate their fair
HE - value as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.
BINRERREERRBREDEEE Other receivables and deposits are measured as
o B EWGRIR MR & ER 1218 A either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
?E%W*EEET%Y%H&%EHHFEE?E & expected credit loss, depending on whether there has
o fii B WX R FEW BN EE A been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
Mzgﬁ%i*j]l] iz > EATEER = B A 85t recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of
ERE - EtEWHRIBERESERER a receivable has occurred since initial recognition,
4,467,0005 7T (20184 : 4,818,000/ impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
JT) ° losses. The allowance on impairment loss of other
receivables amounts to HKD4,467,000 (2018:
HKD4,818,000).
7R £ B 15 78 L th i Uk 3R I8 R (B B 4 Y (d) Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of
AT : other receivables are as follows:

R12A31H

As at 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
FET TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

BEERFTEEED Prepayments for concession fee for
TE\H/TAIE\ advertising spaces

Eit Others
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15 BWRARRHEAEWKERIEE) 15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(e) AEEEUWERNHEMEWRERRR (e) The carrying amount of the Group's trade and

SRATIIEHHE - other receivables are denominated in the following
currencies:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
FET TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

640,800
BT HKD 163,468
16 ER4BENAESRBEESZEY 16 RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS

MW12H318
As at 31 December
20195 20184
2019 2018
FET T
HKD’000 HKD’000

RTEZEFHERS Cash at bank and on hand 429,420
B R HIIR 2 (b) Less: restricted cash (b) (49,489)
He kIREeFEY(a) Cash and cash equivalents (a)

(@) FHERESERESEEWUATIEEET (@) Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the
& : following currencies:

MW12H31H
As at 31 December
20195 20184
2019 2018
FET TET
HKD’000 HKD’'000

RMB 306,481
BT HKD 68,555
Hb Others 4,895
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16

(b)

17

TRHERERAERACEEY 16 RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND CASH
(#) EQUIVALENTS (Continued)
43,592,000/ ST A B TTEF B © R (b) Restricted cash was denominated in RMB except
HIHESUARKHE - ZRHREHHD for HKD3,592,000 which was dominated in HKD. An
i N analysis of restricted cash is as follows:

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20195 20184

2019 2018
FERT THTT
HKD’000 HKD’000

AT RITETE LR BV HER Guaranteed deposits for letter of
RES guarantee issued by certain banks
EERETROIFENZS Deposits held by the Trust for

treasury shares

A RSB B 45 65 5 1 A INE 17 The conversion of RMB denominated balances into

B oK BEFE i SN EHE R IR IT A 54 foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign

RIS - BEsrd B oK RE K FE AN currencies denominated bank balances and cash out of

FE 38 Bl J2 K3 o the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.

AN 17 SHARE CAPITAL

EBERYE R
Number

of ordinary Share

shares Capital

(F1) TET

(thousand) HKD'000

BRIRMR : Issued and fully paid:

R2018F1 1B K& At 1 January 2018 and
2018 12H31A K 31 December 2018 and
20191 H1H 1 January 2019
TR (B EE) Issue of share (Note)
20194 12A31R At 31 December 2019
MieE : BE2019F12A31BILEFE - A5EERE Note: During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group issued
f% 4.1 7 7T 1A Antfin (Hong Kong) Holding 35,675,676 ordinary shares to Antfin (Hong Kong) Limited at
Limited (FZ A AU & B FE AL R A AT 45 HKD4.1 per share, a company incorporated in Hong Kong and
BV RRBEEROERQF([HES an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 47T % /)\5 < &l AR 75 &
R MEZEZEHE AR )E#1735,675,676 E %A ER 2 A (Ant Small and Micro Financial Services Group
f&E @A o Co., Ltd.*) (“Ant Financial”).

*  For identification purpose only
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18 f#fE 18 RESERVES

Perpetual
subordinated

Share-based convertible  Currency

Share Fvoc Treasury compensation Warrant ~ securities ~ translation Other  Retained

premium reserve stocks reserve reserve  (Note 19) reserve reserves  eamings Total
THE AL TER Tan TAT  TER TAT  TER TAn AR

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000

201851818 At 1 January 2018 346,613 (712) - 26,209 3,075 30,000 (10,110) (23327) 118,259 490,007
Galha Comprehensive income
EEFE Profit for the year = = = = = = = - 62993 62953
Rt AER Other comprehensive loss = (695) = - - = (20,407) = - 0
SAUGAE Total comprehensive income = (695) = = = = (20,407) - 62953 41,851
BRIELK Share option lapsed = = = 4.981) = = = = 4,981 =
KORTRRZEAE  Distibutions to PSCS - - - . . . - R T R
AR %EEEE Purchase of shares for Share Award

RiaAEs2) Scheme (Note 32) = - (17,336) - - = = = - (17,33)
ERKS Dividend paid (94,160) - - - - - - - - (94,160)

EERERBIEREA Total transactions with owners,
e recognised directly in equity (94,160) - (17,336) (4.981) - - - - 3238 (113,239)

R2018512A31A 4R Balance at 31 December 2018 252453 (1,407) (17,336) 21,228 3,075 30,000 (30,517) (23327) 184,450 418,619
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18 fREE#E) 18 RESERVES (Continued)

Perpetual

subordinated
Share-based convertible Currency
Share Fvocl Treasury compensation Warrant ~ securities ~ translation Other  (accumulated
premium reserve stocks reserve reserve (Note 19) reserve reserves losses)
T BT Thr i P87 T AL TEL L
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000  HKD'000  HKD'000

H2018512531B 44 Balance at 31 December 2018
(WR%A25) as originally presented
SR 28(MH22)  Changein accounting policies (Note 2.2)

H2019F1A1REEFIARS Restated total equity at

1 January 2019
GREE Comprehensive loss
FEER Loss for the year

R4 (5R),/ it Other comprehensive (loss)/income

Geki/ (Bg)aE Total comprehensive income/(loss)

EREXK Share option lapsed
KARRTARESHE  Distributions to PSCS
EGEiU) Issue of new shares
RAAFREAZ#RE  Dividend paid to owners of the Company
AREZER Expiration of warrants
BOKARBTERES Issue of PSCS (Note 19)

(H219)

ESNERBIEEEAN  Total transactions with owners,
RAEE recognised directly in equity

H2019512B31 B &S Balance at 31 December 2019
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18

(&)
RREE RS
R2016F 10108 © A2 A #Great
World HK Media Pte. Ltd. ( [ Great
World HK ) ETSZ SR EE 1E A 1E % » #2804
RFARAFEL Catterton Management
Limited ( B8 LVMH Moét Hennessy
Louis Vuitton S.A., Catterton
Holdings, L.L.CXGroupe Arnault SAS
R ERERERNR)MEBS
{E - B H » &ANAFEGreat World HKET
MRBEE(BBEER20165F10813H
E’Jﬁﬁzﬁ%* BIIRfER)  RBBBAXR
AN AIPAEEIT{E & #£3,000,000% 7T - 5k
B 1p R #EE0.3/8 7% 1710,000,000
MARRKEE - AREIE TRE TN
RITEESRBIEZERD4.10E TR
B 5% 10,000,000 R IE B S &
RABE S BEATERRER - BITRKR
T 38 B P15 SRIEF FE I 4) /540,700,000
/;PSE °

REEEEN2016F12 A29H %K » &N
ARBEELE MBI AEMTEET
BEERARGF LARREE 2 AF
(ERC mﬂﬂg RN AT R = XA
BT REBITHEH  RAWEZFEZAFE
/#3,075,000/8 7T + REIZE 2016128
BMNMAEFEZEZANR - HERF
Iﬂmtﬂu%HXﬁEL 03075/%7E B/\uu
IR B E T A F RO ERE AR
BIEESNHRRERZLI0BT - K
2 38.0567% - A% B UKz %K 4.7483% »

FEEFFHIF 0 RFEERR R X

1.3713% > 2019412 HA31H - meX
%:ﬁ‘aiuﬁﬁ&f' BRERETE - £IIRN
RREEREERANSEEREZRAE

?E o

18 RESERVES (Continued)

Warrant reserve

On 10 October 2016, the Company entered into a
strategic alliance agreement with Great World HK
Media Pte. Ltd. (“Great World HK"”) to enhance the
business collaboration between the Company and
L Catterton Management Limited, a private equity
firm formed by LVMH Moét Hennessy Louis Vuitton
S.A., Catterton Holdings, L.L.C and Groupe Arnault
SAS. On the same day, the Company and Great
World HK entered into a subscription agreement
(as amended and supplemented by a supplemental
agreement dated 13 October 2016) in relation to issue
10,000,000 warrants of the Company at issue price
of HKD3,000,000 in total, or HKDO.3 per warrant.
The Company entitled the subscriber to subscribe
for up to 10,000,000 warrant shares at the exercise
price of HKD4.10 per warrant share. Assuming the
warrants are exercised in full by the subscriber, the net
proceeds of the warrant issue will be approximately
HKD40,700,000.

The subscription was completed on 29 December
2016. The directors of the Company appointed an
independent valuer, Greater China Appraisal Limited,
to estimate the fair value of the above warrants. The
fair values of the warrants were determined using the
Binomial method. As at date of issue, the fair value of
the warrants was HKD3,075,000, which was charged
to profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2016, representing HKDO0.3075 per warrant granted.
The significant inputs used in the warrants valuation
method were exercise price of HKD4.10 per warrant,
volatility of 38.0567%, dividend yield of 4.7483%, an
expected life of 3 years, and an annual risk-free interest
rate of 1.3713%. As at 31 December 2019, the warrants
expired and the subscription rights had not been
exercised, the amount previously recognised on the
warrant reserve is transferred to accumulated losses.
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19

KRR TR IR 25

R2017F9R78 » AR 7 HSpace
Management Limited ([ R 1) (R A
AR 2 — )T L RE R - Bt - &
REIBBRMERERITMREBAS BKMGEE
EREAR2%58/550,000,0007 T Z KA
IRB AT IRE S - AR BRI E TR
AR A 7 3.548 J0 5 R L8 A AN A A
BRI (BRG]  mEDRA
30,000,000 7T &.20,000,000/& 7T ° 1B
BRERS - BTASTIGMEERS
AEE : (1)VEBMRIERITASHE
#£50,000,00078 7T 2 5K A X &% 7] #2 BE 75
5 RQARRRBLBRERBRRERE
BAERERZ - RERERRERTR
FA - ARABRAEESGRE DR
FIEITEE BN E KRBT RE AR
#£20,000,000/8 TR 5 —#HE7E 5 o

R2017F11 108 » A AR ERERH
R BEAMET ERRE T RES
THOK AR R ATIARR B S —F - Bt
RIBE ZHOK AR B R FEHFBEAR
NEVES B R ER T AT o

R2017F12 A 15 B 817 2 BRERF IR
SR - B —H#LZA$ % A30,000,000
I Z K AR R TR R B A5 B R 2017
F12H28H 1T - R2019F 6 A25H
TZREEIRESHER  E—tAs
%420,000,00078 7T 2 7K AR 4% A] #2 %
FEEDR2019F6 A28H T - AN A
BEMERESRENK  BEAS KT
B AR EWIEED -
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19

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES

On 7 September 2017, the Company entered into a
Subscription Agreement with the Space Management
Limited (the “Subscriber”), one of the shareholders of
the Company, pursuant to which, the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue, and the Subscriber has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the Perpetual
Subordinated Convertible Securities (the “PSCS")
in the principal amount of HKD50,000,000 that is
convertible into the ordinary shares of the Company
(“Conversion Shares”) at the initial Conversion Price
of HKD3.54 per Conversion Share in two tranches at
the face value of HKD30,000,000 and HKD20,000,000
respectively. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement,
the issuance is conditional on the fulfilment of the
following conditions: (1) approval of the issue of the
PSCS (with principal amount of HKD50,000,000) by
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange; and (2) approval
of the Subscription Agreement by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the general meeting.
Within 5 years from the completion of the first tranche
subscription, the Company shall have the right, at
its sole discretion and through its board of directors
meetings, to call for the Subscriber to subscribe for
the second tranche of the Securities in the principal
amount of HKD20,000,000.

On 10 November 2017, the Company and the
Subscriber entered into a Supplemental Agreement
to amend the call for the Subscriber to subscribe for
the second tranche of the PSCS, pursuant to which the
subscription of the second tranche of PSCS shall be
subject to independent shareholders’ approval by the
Company.

The first batch of PSCS HKD30,000,000 has been
issued on 28 December 2017 after the approval of the
EGM held on 15 December 2017. The second batch
of PSCS HKD20,000,000 has been issued on 28 June
2019 after approval of EGM held on 25 June 2019. It
is the intention of the Company that all the cash flow
payments, including principal and interests, will be
made at the Company’s discretion.
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20

it Eh
H TA

FERENER D
BEMERITE R
EIRAIRITIE

TENER D Current portion
Bank borrowings, secured
Bank borrowings, unsecured

—BEMIBITER
— EMARIRITER

RITERBER

BRRIBITEARBEFR 2019412 8
318 &9,525,0008 THETWER T
HERE(RENERAEEE)ERIER
(20184F : 10,364,000/7T) °

REEEBHMETFHERMEMT

Non-current portion
Bank borrowings, secured
Bank borrowings, unsecured

Total bank borrowings

20 BORROWINGS

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
FET TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

32,151
159,129

269,006

The borrowings and bank guarantees are secured by
the pledge of certain properties and land use rights
(included in right-of-use-assets) of HKD9,525,000 as at
31 December 2019 (2018: HKD10,364,000).

The weighted average effective interest rates at each
balance sheet date are as follows:

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FHExT T
HKD'000 HKD'000

Non-current borrowings
Current borrowings
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20 fERE) 20 BORROWINGS (Continued)
(@) M2019F 20184128318 @ "&EH (@) At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group's
EEREREAT borrowings are repayable as follows:

M12831H

As at 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
TExT TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

Within 1 year

16 FE2F Between 1 and 2 years
2 E5F Between 2 and 5 years
BNEAE R AT EEAREERS - The fair values of current borrowings approximated
BEIIEMEEINK c EREERNER their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting was
BERAFEAT not significant. The carrying amounts and fair values of

the non-current borrowings are as follows:

R12A31H
As at 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FTHET THET
HKD’'000 HKD’000
REE Carrying amounts
NFE Fair values
AEBNRERRNETZENE LI The Group has complied with those financial and non-
TFEH financial covenants throughout the reporting period.
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20
(a)

21

BR(E) 20 BORROWINGS (Continued)
(&) (@) (Continued)
AEBAEMA BRI R EMENKIERT The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are

BATHERETHE

RN BRI H b B RO

& BR K (a)
FEET RS = MR
REBEH

H At IR

PR AIE
ENFHE kB THEN
H b &1 5K IH

denominated in the following currencies:

M12831H

As at 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FET FH&T

HKD'000 HKD’000

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

R12A31H

As at 31 December
2019%F 20184
2019 2018

FExT FATT
HKD’000 HKD’'000
(&=751)

(Restated)

Trade payables (a)

Accrued concession fee charges for
advertising spaces

Other taxes payables

Interests payables

Salary and staff welfare payables

Other payables
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21 BANERRREMEYRIEE) 21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
N ES 3] JE AT BR R I AL Ath FE S RRIB 4B FE Y The carrying amounts of the Group's total trade
BREERIATEESEHE : and other payable are denominated in the following
currencies:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December

20195 20184
2019 2018

FEx TAT

HKD'000 HKD’000

(@) M2019F KX 2018F12A31H » ER 3 (@) Asat 31 December 2019 and 2018, the ageing analysis
ZENMMEMNERFERROTAOT of the trade payables based on invoice date is as
follows:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
2019%F 20184

2019 2018
TR TAT
HKD’000 HKD’000

&% 6fE A Up to 6 months

6EARZE12{8A 6 months to 12 months
155225 1 year to 2 years
2FE3F 2 years to 3 years
3FMNE Over 3 years

HAEEEEEBERAT 2019 3] 202



SO FEERERMEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22

EHEaE 22 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

EHEE Contract liabilities

AEERRBBMBRELEDFE 155
[BERAaHNS IRAETFANE/MN
BfE - ANEBERASEEEERIR
BTEFRAKRBEFPNER - ANAME
RASEREAOBHORERREA -

L ERMRARERBTNANAE
R

R12A31H

As at 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FET FHTT
HKD’000 HKD’'000

145,051

The Group has recognised liabilities related to
contracts with customers in accordance with HKFRS 15
"Revenue from contracts with customers”. The contract
liabilities represented advance from customers before
Group transfers good or services to customers.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under contract.

The revenue recognised that was included in the
contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the
period:

HZ12A318LLEE

Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
FTExT TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

FhULFER MU A SRR B

Revenue recognised that was included
BREEES in the contract liabilities balance
at the beginning of the period
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23 BMEEIWAX

BAMARA ~ $HE N5 RN &
THRAXMA FiRa RERIER 2T

T

EEERFFEEE

23 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
items included in cost of revenue, selling and

marketing expenses and administrative expenses are

analysed as follows:

Concession fee charges for advertising

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
20194

20184
2019 2018
THxT THEIT
HKD'000 HKD’000

spaces 1,227,615
I8 B &8 RIFEHp AR Project installation and dismantling costs 104,502
TR 18 R fft hn & Tax and surcharges 38,770
BESH Utilities 21,342
EERAMEZ (Hit24) Employee benefit expenses (Note 24) 213,639
EREREBRBRERX Travelling and entertainment expenses 53,087
MAEHSAX Office rental expenses 23,403
EEREN RS Expenses related to short-term lease
payment -
EERKE Professional service fees 12,196
M - BEREZETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 37,562
EREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets =
ZE R & Auditors’ remuneration 5,315
- BEHRTE - Audit services
- FEEARG - Non-audit services
1 {5 P A 6 Amortisation of land use rights 672
mEE#E Amortisation of intangible assets 497
HAh Others 50,534
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24 EEEINHX(BEESHSE)

(a)

BEERNMAX

TE& - e &t
RIRE A — ERB MRS
faA - BN E A

AEBTEMBRARMNESALEMR
F BT B IR PR E B SGR RS
& - ANEBIRB T T IBT R E S E
ELB(NTIEEFESMI3%E21% * &
ELTR)EH A STEELER - A
EENERKRBIRHEES -

ANEBMAEB MK NN B R RH M
BIBSITEMHE Bt AREHESR
BESEBBAREELREEAERK
AS%H R o

Wages, salaries and bonuses
Pension costs - defined contribution plans
Welfare, medical and others

24 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS)
(a) Employee benefit expenses

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
20194

20184
2019 2018
FET FHET
HKD’000 HKD'000

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by the
local municipal governments. The Group contributes
funds which are calculated on fixed percentage ranging
from 13% to 21% of the employees’ salary (subject to a
floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to
each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of
the employees.

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong
contribute to an MPF scheme, under which the Group
and each employee each make monthly contribution
to the scheme at 5% of the qualifying earnings of the
employee.
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24 EEEANFEX(BREEMS) (&) 24 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) HEEZESFMAL (b) Five highest paid individuals
HE2019F12A31MBIEFE - AEH The 5 individuals whose emoluments were the highest
TEBE=FHMATBEMRE (20184 - in the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
—Z)MTEE  FENSEENTE included 2 (2018: 1) executive directors whose
BN D RIRIR - BE2019F12 emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
RA31BIEFE - B =%(20184 : I Note 38. The aggregate amounts of emoluments for
B)ANTHIBN S BREHINET - the remaining 3 (2018: 4) individuals for the year ended

31 December 2019 are set out below:

BZE12A31MHILEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
FHET TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

ITERF® Wages and salaries

TEAL Bonuses

RINEECA — ERRMHGTE Pension costs —
defined contribution plans

B Z 20196 R20185F12A31HILFE The emoluments payable to these individuals for the
EMZEATZNMESER T3 & years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 fell within
: the following bands:

BZE12A3MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December

20194 20184
2019 2018

B < & & Emoluments band

1,000,001 7T% 1,500,000/ 7T  HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000
1,500,001 7T 22,000,000/ 7T  HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
2,000,001 £ &2,500,0005 7t  HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000

REE20194 K2018F 12 A31H IEF During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
BEA - AEEHERERNEERAER no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
SEMALNEMME - (ERINBER directors or the five highest paid individuals as an
EES BB IEE S E BB EE inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
BEmELECD WESREREEAFEN - compensation for loss of office, no directors waived or

have agreed to waive any emoluments.
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25 HtlA 25 OTHER INCOME

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
TR TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

& & A AR A

Advertising consulting service income

BB A (BT 7t (a)) Government subsidy income (Note (a))
& Gl il NG Interest income on loans to an associate
A EWA (H15E33) (Note 33)
RIKITIERGE Compensation from counter parties
for breach of contracts
i b YNE TN WU Reimbursement of installation and
maintenance costs
& R AT AR TS A Advertising design service income
iz B A Dividend income
el A Rental income
Eh Others
(a) BURFREL I 57 BEEUR = & 25F9 (@)  Government subsidy income represented various
EREAKREATHELENEEER tax refunds granted by the relevant government
£ o authorities with no future obligations.
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26 Httizs o B8 26 OTHER GAINS, NET

BZE12A31MHILEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
TExT TAT
HKD’000 HKD'000

10 s VE %

Net exchange losses

REWMERAFERS Fair value gains on investment properties
(K17£8) (Note 8)

BAFEYAEBRER Fair value losses on FVPL (Note 10)
CREEAFEMZI0)

HEWE - BELREM Gains/(losses) on disposal of property,
mvEEN K (EBER) plant and equipment and intangible

assets
Ht Others
27 BMERE FHE 27 FINANCE COSTS, NET

BZ12A31HLFE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FHET T
HKD’'000 HKD’'000

mME WA Finance income

RITFE A B WA Interest income on bank deposits
5= §5%:N Finance costs

RITERFERX Interest expense on bank borrowings
MEBEMBRA Interest expense on lease liabilities
MERK  FH Finance costs, net
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28 FREHAX

AEEEZ=2019F % 2018F12A31H
I FEMAEREI SO T

28

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The income tax expense of the Group for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 is analysed as
follows:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December
20194

20184
2019 2018
FET FHET
HKD’000 HKD'000

BNERFT1SHR Current income tax

— R EER - PRC corporate income tax 19,660 38,040

—BBNEH - Hong Kong profits tax 538 734
20,198 38,774

RIS (M5t 14) Deferred income tax (Note 14) (36,282) (12,221)
(16,084) 26,553

HZ=2019F12A31HILFERIELEFTSHH
¥ 536,282,000/ 7T + & 4,936,000/ 7T
R EE A FEERRAOBRLERIBAEE ©

(a)

(b)

EBFEH

AR AEEHER BHNEEFETME
BB WEREBHSHTIRERE -
AREBDREFHZE20195F K 2018412
A3 B EFESFREFTEREFER
16.5% MR FTHHREME -

HEEEEH
AEEERBRITED - 2ELARE
PIE P B REXRHER S FROME
J&SRTH AR 12 25% B B R 5 12 FT 15 B %
o BROFREMAEEH R AERR

NEBMBAREEE B HEMEHERNTH
EREAKY A #E AR BRI
FEENESHRBEER  W=EF
15%MBEMEBHIE o

The deferred income tax charge amounted to
HKD36,282,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019, of
which HKD4,936,000 was related to write-off of deferred tax
assets recognised in previous year.

(a)

(b)

Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for as there
was business operation that is subject to Hong Kong
profits tax. It had been provided for at the rate of
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits for each of
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

PRC corporate income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in Mainland China has been calculated at
the tax rate of 25% on the estimated assessable profits
for each of the years ended, based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof, unless preferential tax rates were applicable.

Yunnan Airport Asiaray, a subsidiary of the Group,
was established in Yunnan Province, PRC. It was
eligible for preferential tax policies applicable for the
development of western regions in Mainland China,
and was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of
15%.
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28 FEBEAX () 28 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

() HEIFEMB (c) PRC withholding tax
RIBERTEBBER - N BEARER According to the applicable PRC tax regulations,
S EYREIRE2008F 1 A1 B 2 BEERF dividends distributed by a company established in
HRINEIREE D IR E - —RAR Mainland China to a foreign investor with respect to
10% R EFBHAEH o MR F BT profits derived after 1 January 2008 are generally
VRN E BT A B KRR EET subject to a 10% withholding income tax. If a foreign
VHEPEESHRTHRNEERETE investor incorporated in Hong Kong meets the
BRABEMRHEAEH10%FEE5% - conditions and requirements under the double taxation

treaty arrangement entered into between Mainland
China and Hong Kong, the relevant withholding tax
rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
FHET TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

KBTS AT(EE), FHE (Loss)/profit before income tax
B EREREARN DG Less: share of net profit of associates
N /NG| accounted for using the equity
IS method

1225% (20184 : 25%)Fi & Calculated at a taxation rate of 25%
%

G} (2018: 25%)
HMBEKRAT R = Different taxation rates in other countries
HERBEMA Income not subject to tax
ORIEIE3 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
RIEFTEIREERNAERTIIE Tax losses not recognised for deferred
BB income tax assets
BB ERR 5T il B HERIR AT Derecognition of previously recognized
MIBEE deferred tax assets
RERBELEMSHEEDN Temporary differences not recognised
=R M ERE for deferred income tax assets
BABEFEARERNTIA Utilisation of tax losses previously
[gi=! not recognised

AR AR RS R = Utilisation of temporary difference
previously not recognised

s (o), Fx Income tax (credit)/expense
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29
(a)

(b)

BR(BER) BF

== %N

FRERN(ER) BITREARRE
BARME(BR) /R E X ARBRA]
BIRESF DK - RAFAEBETEBR
IEFHEETH -

ZYNSIE 2SNl
(E18) /FE(TET)

B 1 K AR AR AT R RE 75 ) Ik
(F&T)

B 31T H BRI F a8
(FR)

Fh(ER), B (BEEI)

B

BEREERNIBRREBRAQBME
FERHE - PR ARAERE MoK AR AR AT R AR RE
SHELNMAECEHEEBRR(ER
AESREE(BER) BINSE)Y
LATHINE BRONFE T 19 BE A A
i

HE2019F % 2018F 12 A31 8 Ik F
B AEBEBRE(HZEI2) - kKA
IR ARG ES (M E19) KRR EE
(MsE18) B e g ¥E T IR E A (B
B)/8F BHREFRAEERES
WpE - MERTEEREE(EE) BT
RN RETEAEA ©

29
(a)

(b)

LOSS/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basics

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company
less the distribution of PSCS by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

BZE12A31MHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
20184

20194
2019 2018

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners
of the Company (HKD'000)
Less: Distribution to PSCS (HKD'000)

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue (thousand shares)

(Loss)/earnings per share
(HK cents per share)

(126,411) 62,953
(2,300) (1,725)
(128,711) 61,228
433,521 438,403
(29.69) 13.97
Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding by the assumption of the conversion of
all potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from share
options granted by the Company, warrants and PSCS
(forming the denominator for computing diluted (loss)/
earnings per share).

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
Group'’s share options (Note 32), PSCS (Note 19), and
warrants (Note 18) could potentially dilute basic (loss)/
earnings per share in the future, but were not included
in the calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share
because they are anti-dilutive for the year.
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30 RE 30 DIVIDENDS

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
FHET TET
HKD’000 HKD’000

2019F EHMR B, 20184 Proposed dividend for 2019/final dividend

REARE B (BI5E(a)) for 2018 (Note (a)) 11,000
201847 HR 8 Interim dividend for 2018 of
FH%0.0143 7T HKDO0.014 per share 6,160
2018 FRIAE Special dividend for 2018 of
F20.10/87T HKDO0.10 per share 44,000
(a) R2020F3 A27H BT 8% L EF T (a) At the meeting held on 27 March 2020, the Board did not
TREBRNEZE2019F12A31B IEFER recommend the payment of a final dividend for the ended 31
HARR B (20184F : FRR0.0258 7T * %A December 2019 (2018: HKDO0.025 per share amounting to a
11,000,0007F) * total of HKD 11,000,000).
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31 REREER
(a) EERSBRE

BRATS AT (B51R),/FIE

FHE

JRE LS AR % e L MR 5RR
BB

RITEFA B R (MaE27)

RITERHBIA(H5227)

BT R E QAR
FBWA (K15225)
MERBHEMAX
BAFHEI AR AR A T
BB YA (K1aE25)
e (Hats)
EREEENE
- M A B 5
B BERE (M)

HEME - HERRER
\mREEMNRZE (BE)
1B (F15£26)

RATFEYAEREOAFE
BB (M i26)

B TEEMSARENEE

BAFES ABERA
REME R FERE(HE8)

i AR A ARRR DA B &
NEWFEFE(KaE12)

LEESRH(MBAGKRE
HEBREZENTE)

-7
— FERBE 3 A M SR
— AR R A A SR
- ERHRS

2EMBSRE

31 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Cash generated from operations

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Adjustments for:

Loss allowance for trade and
other receivables

Interest expenses on bank borrowings
(Note 27)

Interest income on bank deposits
(Note 27)

Interest income on loans to an associate
(Note 25)

Interest expense on lease liabilities

Dividend income on FVOCI (Note 25)

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment (Note 6)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of land use rights
Amortisation of intangible assets
(Note 9)
Gains/(losses) on disposal of property,

plant and equipment and intangible assets

(Note 26)
Fair value losses on FVPL (Note 26)

Loss on remeasurement on contingent
consideration payable

Fair value gains on investment properties
at fair value through profit or loss
(Note 8)

Share of net profit of associates accounted

for using the equity method (Note 12)

Changes in working capital (excluding the
effects of currency translation differences

on consolidation):

— Inventories

— Trade and other receivables
- Trade and other payables

— Restricted cash

Cash generated from operations

Asiaray Media Group Limited

BZE12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December
20195

20184
2018
THET
HKD'000

2019
TR
HKD’000

153,268

7,998
7,449
(3,437)

(1,007)

(485)
37,562

672

497

386

336

(680)

(12,462)

190,097

381
(200,250)
150,062
22,279

162,569
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31 REABER(E) 31 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
(a) EEMBRLS(HE) (a) Cash generated from operations (Continued)
EFEHBEERERT  LEWE BE In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds
HENEREEMGSHRERE from disposals of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets comprise:
BE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FERT FAT
HKD'000 HKD'000
BRmEFE(HF6K9) Net book amount (Note 6 and 9)
&l (B18) (HaE26) Gains/(losses) on disposals (Note 26)
HE S 0R Proceeds from disposals
(b) MEEFBHELZEBHIER (b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

REFSE R 8 2 5 AR 51 HF R & BFE

SR D -

R2018F181H
23RS

HenE

SMNERE

AR Y

R2018%12A31R
ZBERE

SHBRED)

R2019F18182
BEG| e

RenE

SNEFEE

WEHEFRLEY

IR R

R2019%12A31R
ZERE

BAEEEEEERLT 2019 £k

activities
This section sets out an analysis of net cash and
the movements in net cash for each of the periods
presented.

Other assets
(BTEX)

Cash/(bank
Overdraft)
TR
HKD'000

REEBRGEE
Liabilities from financing activities
15/
BB BN
Borrowing

164

b A e
Borrowing
due after
1 year
TEL
HKD'000

BEAE

due within
1 year
FRR
HKD'000

Lease
liabilities
TER
HKD'000

Total
T
HKD'000

Net cash as at

1 January 2018 299,188 - (130,204) (14,146) 154,838
Cash flows 95,694 = (31,088) (96,187) (31,581)
Foreign exchange

adjustments (14,951) = 2,163 456 (12,332)
Other non-cash movements - - (32,151) 32,151 =
Net cash as at

31 December 2018 379,931 = (191,280) (77,726) 110,925

Change in
accounting policy

Restated balance at
1 January 2019

Cash flows

Foreign exchange
adjustments

Acquisition of leases
non-cash movement

Other non-cash movements

Net cash as at
31 December 2019
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32
(a)

DR AERNARK

BT 2

AR E KBRS TR IR 2014412
RH6BBBHAZRREM(ZETE]) -
FTEEMAREGERALTHAEEFE
B AT BE 1 A B B R 1 S HR (i 42 B =k
EE

R2015F5821H - EFS#EREZ
EHEIRH11,534,875 M BB E T HE
BRBALNBEFRERENTE NE
B(IMREEDAINNEE([RERE
BAEBARERE ) RBEZAER D
4,400,00017 B IR #E T MR £ ([FTERA
BEERETE]) - WH2015F6F10H
BT RS A S BB LR EIOE R
W o

FiliERENGBERERSEETHR
0.6F&AI{TFE30% MBI T HiE1.65F
%A1TE70% ° AR ARR2016%F1 18
F2020F6 A9H (RIEEBHEMA ) BB A
TELEABREERENE30% : &R
AR2017F1 B1HE2020%F6 A9H (&
FEEMB) BB TED BT B R E
K EFR70% °

AEEY FEARKIETRS - UREE
G E I E -

32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(a)

Share Option Plan

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 6 December 2014
(the "Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group.

On 21 May 2015, the Board approved to grant
11,534,875 share options under the Scheme to its
employees and directors that excluding Lam Tak
Hing, Vincent (“Mr. Lam”) the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company (“Employee and
Contributor Share Option Plan”) and 4,400,000 share
options under the Scheme to Mr. Lam (“Executive
Share Option Plan”) that was approved and confirmed
by the independent shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 10 June 2015.

The vesting schedule of above share options is 30%
after 0.6 years from the grant date and 70% after 1.6
years from the grant date. The first 30% of the above
share options granted shall be exercisable by the
grantees during the period from 1 January 2016 to 9
June 2020 (both days inclusive); and the remaining 70%
of the share options granted shall be exercisable by the
grantees during the period from 1 January 2017 to 9
June 2020 (both days inclusive).

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.
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32 URGAEBNSRE) 32 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)
(a) BREFEE) (a) Share Option Plan (Continued)
() FERENEE) (i) Movements in share options

fel AR 7T {65 B s S 2 BB Ko L AR hn e
BVITEERESERAT

R2019%1818 At 1 January 2019

EERERMERRETH
Employee and Contributor
Share Option Plan
PHTHEE
(BHBRE

DY Yy

Average
exercise price
(HKD per
share option)

Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices
were as follows:

TRABBREE
Executive
Share Option Plan
FHTEE
BREHE (BHBRE BREHE ABREHE
(F4) M TTE) (F4) (F4)
Average
exercise price Total
Number of (HKD per Number of number
options share options of options
(thousands) option)  (thousands) (thousands)

P Lapsed

R2019512831R At 31 December 2019

120181 A1H At 1 January 2018 6.95 8,337 6.95 4,400 12,737

e Lapsed 6.95 (153) = = (153)

P2018412 4318 At 31 December 2018 6.95 8,184 6.95 4,400 12,584
(i) EIARTTIEEBBAHE (i) Outstanding share options

RELRRRITERRENZIRHE RITE
BT :

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have
the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

BHERE BRENE
BT THEE (F12)

Exercise price
in HKD per
share option

ZIH A — 202056 A9H
BERERERITHAR
BT 2l

Expiry date - 9 June 2020
Employee and Contributor and
Executive Share Option Plans
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32
(a)
(iii)

(b)

DR AEBRNTRE)
BRESTE(E)

FBRRIENFE
NABESEZE— BB L GEMTESE
EARARG MBEBRERSELB
HMW A FEETH - BRENATE
TMER_XEEET - EERERER
REHEET S E A AR E AR E KRG AR
BRLEMITHEE - KB30.493% - KA
E1.0726% - FEEEREFHSAFER
@\ 8 5 F = 1.2258% 1T A B BB
HEETEIEERERFEANENE AR
BALEMITEE - KIE31.29%  BRE
*&1.0726% - TEERRE IR REF HASF R &
& B2 55 A1 2K 1.3088% ° BT &t & KL IE T5
LZEAE L RARN T AFIRAR
B st - W2015F5 A21HIBEBEE R
EREERETERENBREATEAE
5 %919,402,0005% 7T - M AR B 1T A
EREREFIRENBEREAFTELY
7,453,000 7T ©

REZE2019F 2018512 318 IEF
ERERERFASE -

% 10 SE B 5+ 2l

AAFR20184F5 B 17 BRI 5 128
FEI(MRR M EEETE ) - EEBMAR
ERBEHASEERENESSHAENE
HEERATHAEEEBH TR K E
TEER o IR0 BT 2 R R 40 % 10 42 B
FrEE HREI0OF AR RER - A
HEFEEHEBRATAEREAL -
RABBKRMY—IBEF WREEXFTA
ERNEEARNZEFEIBANRKRS
(TR 1D SR EhETElfE5E)) - BB EARIKM
HEESET -

NELZE2019F % 2018412 A31H 1L
B ANREWERER D EZE ST
EAIG o

32
(a)
(iii)

(b)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continued)

Share Option Plan (Continued)

Fair values of share options

The directors of the Company appointed an
independent valuer, Greater China Appraisal Limited,
to estimate the fair value of the above share options
as at the respective grant dates. The fair values of the
share options were determined using the Binomial
method. The significant inputs used in the Employee
and Contributor Share Option Plan valuation method
were exercise price shown above, volatility of 30.493%,
dividend yield of 1.0726%, an expected option life
of 5.1 years, and an annual risk-free interest rate of
1.2258%. The significant inputs used in the Executive
Share Option Plan valuation method were exercise
price shown above, volatility of 31.29%, dividend
yield of 1.0726%, an expected share option life of 5
years, and an annual risk-free interest rate of 1.3088%.
The volatility measured is estimated by the average
of 5-year weekly volatility of several comparable
companies. The fair value of share options granted on
21 May 2015 under Employee and Contributor Share
Option Plan was approximately HKD19,402,000 and
the fair value of options granted under Executive Share
Option Plan was approximately HKD7,453,000.

There was no expense recognised for years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

Share Award Scheme

On 17 May 2018, the Company adopted a share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) for the primary
purpose to recognise and reward the contribution of
the Group's employees and other eligible persons as
approved the Board of Directors for their contribution
or potential contribution to the Group's business. The
Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of 10 years commencing from the date of the
adoption of the Share Award Scheme, subject to any
early termination as may be determined appropriate
by the Board of Directors. The Company has set up a
trust and appointed a trustee for the administration
and holding of the Company’s shares acquired
for the Share Award Scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme Trust”). The vesting period and conditions is
determined by the Board of Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,

the Company did not grant any shares under the Share
Award Scheme.
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33

T

EXBERRS

K & [ % Media Cornerstone Limited
(RRBREAXHSEMK) =4 - &
%A A QA KD H) 53.59% ° Space
Management Limited(REBRE XS
AL ) A AR AN HI8.03% © H
R R38.38% M D EREE - EFR
Media Cornerstone Limited %) 5l &%
RAREEER AT o A& B o ALIE
AR5 BRI ©

BN ESCEMM TR EE  AEE R
HEFEHRNE E2019F K% 2018512 A
BMBLEFEETTUTEARS - AR
REERAE  ZEWREIRINIETE
AR A B B R B 5 T i MO R 3K
HETT o
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33

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

The Group is controlled by Media Cornerstone Limited
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, which owns
53.59% of the Company’s shares. Space Management
Limited incorporated in the British Virgin Islands holds
8.03% of the Company’s shares. The other remaining
38.38% of the shares are widely held. The directors
regard Media Cornerstone Limited as the holding
company and ultimate holding company respectively.
The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. Lam.

Same as disclosed in other notes above, the following
significant transactions were carried out between
the Group and its related parties during the year
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the related party
transactions were carried out in the normal course of
business and at terms negotiated between the Group
and the respective related parties.
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33 EXRELIRS (&)

(a) BERXRS
AT 5 S RAE T 1T

BEERTRIREUA

—BEAT

i) =PNCIE B 2l £

EERSFEE R

S

_Hﬁ\.&&/‘\j

N IEPNGIE P e

BN/ ENBERRHERS

MAERSHX
— TOH B R R B SR A i 2R

— MRS AR IR REE A B

— AR

B REATRAH B A R Y
TR S RO B B ST

B N R E R M B A

33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related
parties:

BZE12A31MHILEE
Year ended 31 December
20194

20184
2018
TAT
HKD'000

2019
FERT
HKD'000

Advertising display service incomes:
—Associates
—Non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries

Concession fee charges for advertising
spaces:
—Associates
—Non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries

511,717

Sales commissions paid/payable to an
associate

Office rental expenses:
—Non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries

—A related company controlled by
Mr. Lam

—Ultimate holding party

Utilities cost paid/payable to non-
controlling interests in subsidiaries

Interest income on loans to an associate

Asiaray Media Group Limited
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33 EABEELIRZ (&) 33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) BEARE(E) (a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
FEEBEASHFH Key management compensation
REERBENKENEIEEEASR The compensations paid or payable to key
(BREE HEATEREMEHRT management personnel (including directors, chief
BAB)BEMNT : executive officer and other senior executives) for

employee services are shown below:

HZ12A31BLLEE

Year ended 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
FET THET
HKD’000 HKD’000

TERFS

Wages and salaries

RORET BN Retirement scheme contributions

TE4T Bonuses

4t Total
(b) EEEEFHER (b) Balances with related parties
(i)  EREWE (i) Included in trade receivables:

MA12H31H
As at 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FEx FHIT
HKD’000 HKD'000

/NG Associates
NCIIEUNGIECE S 2 g Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries
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33 ERFEELIRZ(£) 33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) EBBEAMEX(E) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(i) EBREMERE - (i) Included in trade payables:

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
TR TR
HKD’'000 HKD’000

/Nl Associates
AN EPNEIECE R i e Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries

2,762

(iii)  EER A M FEE (iii) Included in other prepayments:

MA12H31H
As at 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FE&xT FHIT
HKD’'000 HKD'000

BN Associates 765

NCIIEPNGIECE S 2 g Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
(iv) ERREGHEEZERIFFAAEE S ¢ (iv) Included in accrued concession fee charges for

advertising spaces:

M®12831H
As at 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FHET T
HKD’'000 HKD’000

/Nl Associate 69,985
NCIEUNGIE B2 g e Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
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33 ERFEELFIRZ(£E) 33 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) EEEEE?ETJ‘E’J ER (&) (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(v) ERAMEKIE : (v) Included in other receivables:

M®12H831H
As at 31 December
20194 20184

2019 2018
FET TAT
HKD’'000 HKD’000

NS Associates
TR A BB FE AR 2 Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries

pul

5,376

(vi) EERAMIE A (vi) Included in other payables

M12H31H
As at 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018
FHExT FET
HKD’000 HKD’000

TR B A By FEE Hﬂgﬁ{l Non-controlling interest in a subsidiaries
PR IE A 12 R RO BB Related companies controlled by Mr. Lam

(vii) HRHEEAE - (vii) Included in lease liabilities:

M12831H
As at 31 December
20194 20184
2019 2018

FERT TATT
HKD’000 HKD’000

Related companies

LRSI NERREERR - BN The above balances with related parties were
AREREBURNAARBEE - unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand and
denominated in RMB.
FXREMETHEESWEEXRNS The English names of certain related parties referred
M HENEZREBEARRBERERT to above represented the best efforts by management
P A T RR R 2R o of the Company in translating their Chinese names, as

they do not have official English names.
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34

35

36

REEE
BREMHBERREMEMATIEESE -
AEBR2019F & 2018F 12 A31 B
BERIREE -

A
R2019F 2018412 A31H © A&EH
A EE AT EE KB A AEIE -

EBE

M2018F8A29R - AEBEKE R A
Asiaray International Holding Limited
RIMEEWE B - AEBEBIRGF
£ ¥ B Radius Displays International
Limited & H Bt /8 2 ] (4278 [Radius )
Z B EBEITIRA51% ° RadiusE 2 FHiE
HESHENTRRRRG; - TEME
B AR - 2018410308 » AKH
B ek L -

RIFWKFERadiusHI B F e - B
BREDARESEHEMERANAIAER
BZE2021F3A31 B IEMEFENRD
BEFHERAENBTE - LARSHA
NEETRERND D LA - RTK
BH] - IARENRFETRBILAEE
MR BRREREERE2EHHEE
16.5%#T 2 EEMBEETE - BIKA
RENAFERERIFIRGE - TR
B PHI TSR ES. 3R

REZE2019F12A31BIEFE - AF
B % §)395,000/8 7L (20184 : #&) B 5t
MNFE WK ©

34

35

36

CONTINGENCIES

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2019 and
2018.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group did not
have any material capital commitments.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 29 August 2018, Asiaray International Holding
Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, has entered into a
sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the
Group conditionally agreed to purchase 51% of the
issued share capital of Radius Displays International
Limited and its subsidiary (together as “Radius”).
Radius is mainly engaged in provision of signage and
urban furniture design engineering and consulting
work. On 30 October 2018, the Group has completed
the above acquisition.

In accordance with the sale and purchase agreement
of the acquisition of Radius, total consideration of
this acquisition was based on the average adjusted
profit after tax for the 4 years ending 31 March 2021
with a formula as prescribed in the sale and purchase
agreement and will be settled in 4 installments by
payment of cash or issuance of consideration share
by the Company. As at the completion date, the fair
values of the contingent consideration is determined
by a professional valuation conducted by an
independent valuer using discounted cash flow method
and with reference to the discount rate of 16.5%. The
fair value of the contingent consideration payable is
considered as a level 3 measurements and disclosed in
Note 3.3 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2019,

HKD395,000 (2018: Nil) of changes in fair value has
been credited to statement of comprehensive income.
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BALANCE SHEET AND EQUITY MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY

37 A RRAEERBRREZEH 37

Mt
Note

®12HA31H
As at 31 December
20194

20184
2018

FBT
HKD'000

2019
FER
HKD'000

BE ASSETS
FRBEE Non-current asset
R—FEMB AR 2 RE Investment in a subsidiary 280,094
AR D BB =T SIS FEAE K Contribution to Share Award
Scheme Trust 21,000
301,094
REEE Current assets
Hh fERIB R TR IR Other receivables and
prepayments 462,578
ReE KB EEY Cash and cash equivalents 8,759
471,337
g E Total assets 772,431
EmREE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
KAREBAELES Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
[N Share capital (a)
1 Reserves (a)
S Total equity 581,185
=R Liabilities
FRBRE Non-current liability
B Borrowings
nESE Current liabilities
AR Other payables
& Borrowings
145,496
wmaE Total liabilities 191,246
HERREE Total equity and liabilities 772,431
ARAEEBERELEEEN20204F The balance sheet of the Company was approved by
3827 BHLATIE IEEMT%%T‘E% the Board of Directors on 27 March 2020 and was
B5E- signed on its behalf.
MhiE eS|
Lam Tak Hing, Vincent Lam Ka Po
FE HITEE
Chairman Executive Director
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BALANCE SHEET AND EQUITY MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

37 A RRAEERBERREZBEH(E) 37

(a) XATEREH (a) Equity movement of the Company
NRGRER KARBT
ROEE NRERE IREIRE BRES EftfeE it ER
Perpetual
Share-based subordinated
Share Share compensation Warrant  convertible Other Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve securities reserves losses Total
BT BT b BT BT AL TR AT
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
#2018%151H At 1 January 2018 44,000 346,613 26,209 3,075 30,000 249,674 (14,090) 685,481
FEBR Loss for the year = = = = = = (8,393) (8,393)
) Dividends - (94,160) - - - - - (94,160)
KARRA R Perpetual subordinated
EHDR convertible securities
distribution - - - - - - (1,743) (1,743)
BRER Share option lapsed = - (4,981) = = = 4,981 =
#2018512A31A At 31 December 2018 252,453 30,000 249,674 (19,245) 581,185
R2019%1R818 At 1 January 2019
FEER Loss for the year
BEIRA Share issued
KARBA RS PSCS
e Dividends
XAREE AR Perpetual subordinated
EHDR convertible securities
distribution
EREZER Expiration of warrants
BERH Share option lapsed
#2019%128318 At 31 December 2019

Asiaray Media Group Limited 2019 Annual Report

225



SO FEERERMEE  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 EEM< 38 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
BNEERBE2019F12A31HIEF The remuneration of each director for the year ended
EHMESHIWT ¢ 31 December 2019 is set out as below:

HESER

AR

AWEAR

EBBEN

BER  EIMEfe HthHed

#e KiERA ENRA FTHNMS SRR
Other

emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect of

director's other

services

in connection

with the

Employer's  management

contribution  of the affairs

toa of the

Allowances retirement  company or

Discretionary  and benefits benefit its subsidiary

Name of directors Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme  undertaking Total
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
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38 EEMe (&) 38 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
BAEFENEE2018F12H31AIEF The remuneration of each director for the year ended
EOMEHEIMT 31 December 2018 is set out as below:

HESER

emoluments

paid or

receivable

in respect of

director’s other

services in

connection

with the

Employer's  management

contribution  of the affairs

Allowances toa of the

and retirement  company or

Discretionary benefits benefit its subsidiary
Name of directors Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme  undertaking Total
TEL TR AT BT TEL TEL TEL
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000

IERUTES Chairman and Executive director
s Mr. Lam - 1,404 - - 18 - 1,422
HITES Executive director
HZE Lam Ka Po - 2,400 160 180 18 - 2,758
FHTES Non-executive director
Eb Wong Chi Kin 252 = = - - - 252
BuuTES Independent

non-executive directors
SR Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung 252 = = - . - 252
H5E Ma Ho Fai 252 = = = - - 252
Egk Mak Ka Ling 252 = - - - - 252
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38
(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

BEEMe(E)

EEMWS
HE2019F12A31HILFE - #BEE
=g AN BUEER BN 15 & DN A SkB
FAAEEREE SR EBRMO/ME &
BEEREREEABNENXRENE
BN S (20184 « &) o

ESERNKEF
BZE2019F12A31HILFE - HEH
ERARRBIREKBARERRREED
EERGIAEBEERARRHENE
NEAEBEEZHEMRE - MARRE
EXNERBAAREERLZNERREN
BARBFTENEFRKERN (201845 ¢
&) -

ESBBEN
BZE2019F12A31HILFE - HEH
AREEERAKIEREMAEE A
EAIH1E (20184 - M%) -

AE=AXNRUESRB2AE

HE2019F12A31HIEFE » AAQA]
WRMEME=Z AN EEREZARE
(20184 : #&)

FRUES EScIEFZERBE
BRASHEAZER  EERRHMX
Z2EH

HZE2019F 128318 I-EE - #EN
ARRESR - B2 ZEHIAE KRR
BERASHAZER EERFHMBK
(20184 : #&) -

EERRS  ZPEISHZERER

MNERFERNEARRE - RATEEH
BN ARNRIDRIVEAEEEEARBZ
BEERS THRAHNPHRELMNERKR
EE o EE R (20184F : ) °
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no
director received any emolument from the Group
as an inducement to join or leave the Group or
compensation for loss of office; no directors and
senior management waived or has agreed to waive any
emoluments (2018: nil).

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no
retirement benefits paid to the directors of the
Company by a defined benefit pension plan operated
by the Group in respect of the director’s services as a
director of the Company and its subsidiaries or other
services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
(2018: nil).

Directors’ termination benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no
payments to the directors of the Company as
compensation for the early termination of the
appointment (2018: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Company did not provide to any third party for making
available director’s services (2018: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no loans,
quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors
of the Company, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors (2018: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year (2018: nil).
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39

#“ER#®REE

2019 %7 & & ik % = & (COVID-19)
(TCOVID-19 ]) 720204 ] 18 3 LA PR
PEEME W HEET — RHTER
MESHR IR - AP BT BRENZ HER & 1S
o RRERENMFBRAKEINR
Bl o B TR RCOVID-19EE - PEA
TEMRBREFEXZR - B E
R E S IR BB T E »

HEAREHH  AEBDEFTGE
COVID-198 AR B BB RN TZER
R EA G AEEMINELLTE -
N EE % )5 B COVID-195&% 15 K 3
R EEHEZEED TG MKEEH
Epi

39 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019
("COVID-19") in early 2020, a series of precautionary
and control measures have been and continued to be
implemented across the China. The PRC government
adopted various strict measures including imposing
restriction on the resumption date of work after the
Chinese New Year Holidays. Due to the suspension
or limited service of transportation services in certain
provinces in the PRC to prevent the spread of the
COVID-19, resulting in a decline in demand of
advertising media within Mainland China.

Up to the date of this report, the Group is still in the
process of assessing the impacts of the COVID-19
on the Group's overall performance and is currently
unable to estimate the quantitative impacts to the
Group. The Group will pay close attention to the
development of the COVID-19 outbreak, continue to
perform assessment of its impact and take relevant
measures.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANGIAL SUMMARY
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ZNGIE ZEPN
(E1#R),/ M3

ARetHE B FE
583 S FIEoP= gl

BEERAE

BEE

BafE

FEE
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RESULTS

BZ12A31HLEE
Year ended 31 December
20194 20184F 20174 2016%F 20154
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

FERT THAT FAT TR THET
HKD’'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
(&g=5)
(Restated)

(Loss)/profit attributable to
owners of the Company 62,953 44,690 16,883 (39,616)

Earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation 196,011 133,474 90,219 24,031

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

MM12A31H

As at 31 December
20195 20184 20174 20164 20154
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

FTET FHTT FHEIT FHAT FHET
HKD’000 HKD’'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
(=)  (FF=5)

(Restated) (Restated)

Total assets 1,599,456 1,307,444 1,136,523 1,264,963
Total liabilities (1,024,279)  (728,266) (548,859) (559,865)
Net assets 575,177 579,178 587,664 705,098
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MIBELSE A
(ERFEFENTE)
MRELLE
(BFEER)

FHITES
BERBEA

Hs et
(B2019F1284H#)
BAHITES
BRELE
BxELEGBS JP
BT
DNEME
MR E
REARR

MiBEEE
EmEL

FHEAR

ERELAE(ER)
BxELEGBS JP
BT

REZE"

MBELE A (EE)
BxEkEGBS P
BT

FMEES

BExEEAGBS P(EFE)
MEEE
ERRELLE
ekt

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lam Ka Po

(Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Kin
Mr. Yang Peng
(w.e.f. 4 December 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Ms. Mak Ka Ling

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Ip Pui Sum
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent
Mr. Ip Pui Sum

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP
Ms. Mak Ka Ling

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent (Chairman)
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Ms. Mak Ka Ling

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP (Chairman)

Mr. Lam Tak Hing, Vincent

Mr. Ma Andrew Chiu Cheung
Ms. Mak Ka Ling
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EEFAGE SRR =TT

ME SR MM AR R E BB

AR

EEHEEME

B

B 1958

R A E241£2403F

FEERRIT

FELBESRITARAT
REIERTT(HFR)BRAR
EITIRTT(BB) AR AT
RERTAERAA]
ERBIFRAEERT

AR EE

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman lIslands

ERTEERMBE
BEEHERR

BB — 55
FaEZ M AKE

161828
EEREBRRLE
BEEPRBEELARAA
BB ET
ERREHE1835
AFne

1718171217165 4/
vk
http://www.asiaray.com
AR

1993
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants and Registered Public Interest
Entity Auditor

LEGAL ADVISER

Mason Ching & Associates
2403, 24/F., World-Wide House
19 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

United Overseas Bank Limited

Far Eastern International Bank

REGISTERED OFFICE

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

16/F.,

Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower
1 Kornhill Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F.

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

WEBSITE
http://www.asiaray.com
STOCK CODE

1993
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